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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE?”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take
no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation
as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of KML Technology
Group Limited (the “Company’) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this annual report
misleading.

This report, in both English and Chinese versions, is available on the
Company’s website at www.kml.com.hk.
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Chairman’s Statement
EEHME

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), it is my pleasure to report the
annual results of the Group for year ended 31 March 2023 (the “Reporting
Period”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s revenue for the Reporting Period decreased by approximately
HK$9.2 million, or approximately 5.7% from approximately HK$162.6
million for the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$153.4
million for the Reporting Period. The Group recorded a gross profit of
approximately HK$9.9 million for the Reporting Period, representing
a decrease of approximately 77.8% as compared with approximately
HK$44.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2022. The Group recorded
a net loss of approximately HK$32.2 million for the Reporting Period
whereas a net profit of approximately HK$7.9 million for year ended 31
March 2022.

It was a difficult year as the fifth wave of coronavirus disease 2019
(“COVID-19") has been significantly impacted the operation of the
business, especially in terms of operational efficiencies and project delivery
progress. The Group has encountered numerous adverse factors such as
supply chain disruption, sharp rise in material and staff cost, which in turn,
jeopardising the return of our projects. The outbreak has had a drastic
effect on the whole construction industry.

On 8 January 2023, mainland China has reopened the border with
Hong Kong for the first time in three years and the Hong Kong economy
has improved visibly in the fourth quarter, led by the strong recovery of
inbound tourism and domestic demand. The resumption of trade also
leads our projects on hand resuming back to their normal operation.
However, this has presented to us another challenge of catching up the
progress of all the delayed projects. To adapt the rapid changes during
the year, the Group has changed its operation strategy by streamlining its
internal resources and focusing on clearing its outstanding contracts on
hand. As at 31 March 2023, the Group had outstanding contracts in hand
value at approximately HK$438.3 million (2022: approximately HK$549.8
million). In other to increase the efficiency of project execution, the Group
has also been looking into the application of artificial intelligence (“Al”) and
other new technological equipment.

Although time is of the essence in terms of project execution, the Group
stands firm in retaining its quality of work. During the Reporting Period,
the Group has been granted a statement of compliance under the ISO/
IEC 90003:2018, implying our dedication to software quality in Information
Technology ("IT") and engineering system solutions. The Group has also
been awarded the ISO 45001:2018 Occupational Health and Safety
Management Systems Certificates. We deeply believed that employees
are our most valuable asset and we are dedicated to providing a safe and
healthy working environment at all times.
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Chairman’s Statement
TREHRE

FORWARD

Looking ahead, inbound tourism and domestic demand will remain the
major drivers of economic growth in the coming year. Visitor arrivals
should recover further as transportation and handling capacity continue to
catch up. Therefore there remains a great demand for project implications
and solutions in the public transportation sector. The Group will continue
to target participation in the upcoming Hong Kong'’s railway network
extension projects, including the Tung Chung line extension; the Tuen
Mun South extension; the Northern Link and the construction of Hung
Shui Kiu station. All these projects are expected to commence between
2023 to 2025 and complete by 2029 to 2034.

For projects regarding electric vehicle (“EV”) charging under Home
Subsidy Scheme (‘EHSS”), the Group has been involved in both provision
of consultation services and installation works. During the Reporting
Period, the Group has successfully completed the Tai O Medium EV
Charging Station Installation Project which offered the Tai O residents
and visitors a brand-new, design flexible and socially inclusive medium
EV charging station. It is expected that more EHSS project tenders will
be released in the coming year and the Group will pursue more on these
projects.

During the Reporting Period, the Group continues allocating resources
in developing the application of robotic technology regarding the
transportation of coins and banknote vault. The project is now at its
testing phase and the robot has been running around in several stations.
The Group also kicked off the research of another robotic technology
related to testing of the automatic fare collection (“AFC”) system and
believed successful of which will greatly increase the Group’s competitive
edge in the sector. With the development of all these robotic technologies,
the repetitiveness and tedious human interfacing tests which were usually
very manpower consuming will be greatly reduced.

A NOTE OF APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | wish to take this opportunity to express my
appreciation to shareholders of our Company (the “Shareholder(s)”),
investors, business partners, suppliers and customers for their continuous
support and trust to the Group. | wish to take this opportunity to express
our sincere thanks to the management and staff for their commitment and
contribution throughout the year.

Our business has been able to adapt and recover from the challenges
posed by the COVID-19 pandemic. By staying focused on providing value
to our customers and community, | am confident that our business can
grasp future opportunities upon economic recovery, expanding its scope
and diversifying its existing business.

KML Technology Group Limited
Luk Kam Ming
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 19 June 2023
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Revenue of the Group for the Reporting Period amounted to approximately
Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) 153.4 million (2022: approximately HK$162.6
million).

Gross profit of the Group for the Reporting Period amounted to
approximately HK$9.9 million (2022: approximately HK$44.5 million).

The net loss of the Group for the Reporting Period amounted to
approximately HK$32.2 million (2022: net profit of approximately HK$7.9
million).

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Reporting Period (2022: HK2.0 cents).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN R D

BUSINESS REVIEW

Overview

The Group has been providing mechanical and electrical (“M&E”)
engineering solutions and services in Hong Kong for over 45 years.
We are diversifying our businesses and redefining our businesses in
five major segments comprise mainly the provision of (i) transportation
mission critical system solutions; (i) mobile ticketing and digital payment
solutions and services; (iii) digital fabrication and maintenance services;
(iv) M&E technology solutions and engineering services; and (v) sales of
products, parts and components. Depending on our customers’ needs
and requirements, we provide a full spectrum of solutions and services
covering design, equipment assembly, supply, installation, fabrication,
testing, and commissioning and 7 x 24 maintenance support.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had outstanding contracts in hand
value at approximately HK$438.3 million (2022: approximately HK$549.8
million).

Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions

The Group possesses technologies and know-how in the Hong Kong
Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions market and have strong
system integration capabilities. Our comprehensive offerings enable us to
provide our customers with a complete and convenient one-stop solution,
which reduces their operations and management costs and mitigates
the incompatibility risks of different transportation systems. The Group
has extensive experience to the works in relation to the railway signalling,
communication and control system and platform screen door (PSD)
system.

During the Reporting Period, revenue generated from this segment
amounted to approximately HK$24.5 million (2022: approximately
HK$34.0 million). The decrease of approximately 27.9% is mainly due to
the completion of several large projects in 2022. The amount of projects
released for tendering has decreased substantially since the outbreak of
COVID-19. Following the reopening of the border between Hong Kong
and mainland China, and the upcoming recovery of Hong Kong economy,
the status is expected to improve in the coming year.

Mobile Ticketing and Digital Payment Solutions and Services

This segment offers mobile ticketing and digital payment solutions and
services to different sectors in Hong Kong and overseas. The Group’s
capabilities in payment solution adoption of quick response code (“QR
Code”), credit cards, octopus, multiple ePayment including QR Code
and account-based ticketing and fare collection system enabled by credit
cards or Mobile Apps conforming to the EMV specifications have provided
us with increasing numbers of business opportunities as digital payment
and mobile ticketing have been penetrating to our everyday activities.

During the Reporting Period, revenue generated from this segment
amounted to approximately HK$19.8 million (2022: approximately
HK$26.3 million). The decrease of approximately 24.7% was mainly due
to the major projects in hand at the Current Year are at their early stage
that revenue recognised is not substantial and the fifth wave of COVID-19
disrupting the supply chain logistic of materials, resulting a delayed in
execution of several projects, especially those related to installation of
AFCs.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2022/23
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN Wk

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Digital Fabrication and Maintenance Services

This segment mainly offers computerised and advanced maintenance
support services for various systems, terminals and equipment,
including the replacement of parts/components, equipment upgrading
or improvement modification, provision of upgrade and/or replacement
services for both hardware and/or software, testing, and provision of
routine preventive, corrective and workshop maintenance services.

During the Reporting Period, the Group continued providing maintenance
services of trackside signalling equipment and AFC equipment for
customers in the railway line sector. Revenue generated from this segment
amounted to approximately HK$23.3 million (2022: approximately
HK$32.2 million). The decrease of approximately 27.6% is in line with
decrease in revenue in other sectors mentioned above.

M&E Technology Solutions and Engineering Services

M&E Technology Solutions and Engineering Services continued to be
the largest business segment of the Group in the Reporting Period in
terms of revenue. Its capabilities encompass design, installation, testing
and commissioning and maintenance of miscellaneous M&E engineering
systems such as railway station M&E engineering services and
architectural works, train-borne systems provisions, trackside and depot
M&E works and different kinds of renovation works.

During the Reporting Period, revenue generated from this segment
amounted to approximately HK$80.3 million (2022: approximately
HK$67.8 million). The increase of approximately 18.4% mainly due to kick
off of installation phases for several major projects such as replacement of
smoke curtains, replacement of station lighting with light-emitting diode
(LED) technology, refurbishment and replacement of air handling units
(AHU) at various railway lines. In coming years, in order to catchup the
project progress delayed by COVID-19, the Group is looking at various
methodologies (including the use of Al) and the investment in advance
equipment that can substantially improve the operation efficiency.

Sales of Products, Parts and Components

The Group sources certain parts and components and sometime
customises certain products to our customers according to their
requirements. We primarily supply railway signalling and AFC related
products, parts and components.

During the Reporting Period, revenue generated from this segment
amounted to approximately HK$5.5 million (2022: approximately HK$2.3
million), representing an increment of approximately 139.1%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN R D

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

The economic recovery from coronavirus disease

Since the onset of COVID-19, numerous anti-pandemic measures
had been implemented, leading to adverse effect on our operational
efficiencies, supply chain, supply of workforce, impacting heavily on
the Group’s work progress as well as the cash flows from operation.
Moreover, the tendering opportunities have been significantly decreased.

However, all these adverse impacts had been released progressively
following the reopening of Hong Kong and mainland China border on 8
January 2023. For the first time in three years, the economy of Hong Kong
starts to pick up in the fourth quarter. According to the Government’s
quarterly review, Hong Kong’s real GDP resumed year-on-year growth
of 2.7%, having contracted by 4.1% in the preceding quarter. It also
forecasted that inbound tourism and domestic demand will be the major
driver of economic recovery. As majority of the Group’s customers
are locally based, the Group will expect opening up to more business
opportunities in the coming year. Throughout the past few years, the
Group has been putting a lot of effort to concise its internal resources
and to improve its governance so that it will be ready to grasp all these
opportunities upon economic recovery.

Environmental, Social and Governance

The Group remains steadfast in our commitment to environmental, social
and governance (“ESG”) principles, which are integral to our long-term
growth and success. During the Reporting Period, we achieved several
notable milestones, including (i) the Company and two of its subsidiaries,
KML Engineering Limited (“KML Engineering”) and KML Technology
Limited (“KML Technology”), have been simultaneously awarded the
ISO 45001:2018 Occupational Health and Safety Management Systems
certificates, demonstrating our efforts and achievements in effectively
managing occupational safety and health risks and providing our
employees with a safe and healthy working environment; and (i) KML
Engineering has granted a statement of compliance under the ISO/IEC
90003:2018, which concretely implied our dedication to software quality
in IT and engineering system solutions as well as our commitment to
meeting the needs of our customers.

In addition to the milestones achieved, the Group also exercised ongoing
efforts to enhance our ability to operate responsibly and sustainably by (i)
establishing a group-wise Anti-corruption and Integrity Management Policy
and imposing it on its external providers through contractual means; (i)
encouraging the members of the Board and senior management attended
anti-corruption and sustainability-related training; (iii) replacing a fuel-
consuming vehicle with an EV; and (iv) safeguarding our staff members’
health and safety and exercising care initiatives in the difficult times. For
more details, please refer to our ESG report published on the Group’s
website (www.kml.com.hk).
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OUTLOOK

Looking forward, it is expected that talent shortage, and sharp rise in
material and staff cost in Hong Kong will remain the biggest challenges
to the Group’s business. These adverse factors, if persist, will be
jeopardising the return of our projects. The Group will closely monitor the
situation and will take appropriate actions to tackle the challenges in order
to turnaround the Group’s financial performance. The Group will target
to participate in the upcoming Hong Kong'’s railway network extension
projects, including the Tung Chung line extension; the Tuen Mun South
extension; the Northern Link (includes the construction of Kwu Tung
station between Lok Ma Chau and Sheung Shui stations on the East Rail
Line); and the construction of Hung Shui Kiu station. All these projects
expected to commence between 2023 to 2025 and complete by 2029 to
2034.

Recently, the Group also won a tender in relation to the design and
deployment of ferry fare collection system for a local customer who
operates licensed outlying islands ferry services in Hong Kong. Other than
Hong Kong, the Group is also looking forward to expanding its business in
areas such as Taiwan and mainland China.

Since the announcement of the EHSS, the Group has been participating
in the capacity of technical consultant. During the Reporting Period, we
also extend our involvement in the market playing the role of contractor
and have successfully completed the Tai O Medium EV Charging Station
Installation Project, offering a brand-new, design flexible and socially
inclusive medium EV charging station. The Group will pursue more on
similar projects in the future, contributing its social responsibility in the
environmental aspect in Hong Kong.

In terms of ESG development in coming years, our initiatives would
include (i) the enhancement of cost and operational efficiency for works at
height and maintaining the high safety operating standard simultaneously
by purchasing additional equipment outfit, high level work platforms and
lifting devices; (ii) the creation of a brand-new leisure working space for
our staff members through the renovation of a designated office area;
and (jii) the replacement of fuel-consuming vehicle with EV by engaging in
“One-for-One Replacement Scheme”.

In the aspect of technological development, the Group has been making
significant progress in the application of robotic technology. A prototype
robot has been developed to transport coins and banknote vault through
the all-times crowded railway station concourse securely. The project is
now at its testing phase and has been applied in few stations. Another
robot undergoing research mainly to assist the testing of AFCs, which
upon successful development, can perform repetitive and tedious human
interfacing tests which were very manpower consuming. Meanwhile,
the Group also studying the feasibility of applying Al in the area of
programming and project execution which we believe can substantially
enhance our operational efficiency.

Looking ahead, visitors arrivals should recover further as the economy
recovers, the demand for solutions and project execution in the public
transportation remains high. The room for integrating technological
elements within the transportation system structure presents boundless
opportunities for the Group’s development. The Group’s active
cooperation approach towards the upstream and downstream segments
will leave room for further growth anticipation. The Group will continue
to consolidate its established strengths in the industry with the aim to
maintain long-term and steady growth.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Revenue of the Group for the Reporting Period amounted to approximately
HK$153.4 million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$9.2
million as compared with approximately HK$162.6 million for the year
ended 31 March 2022. Such decrease was mainly due to (i) the impact
of COVID-19, especially in terms of operational efficiencies and project
delivery progress; (ii) major work progress of significant projects were
completed during the prior years; and (i) major projects in hand are at
early stage that revenue recognised is not substantial.

Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

The majority of the Group’s cost of sales comprised (i) material and
equipment; (i) direct labour; and (jii) sub-contracting cost. The cost of
sales increased by approximately 21.6% from approximately HK$118.0
million for the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$143.5
million for the Reporting Period. The increase in cost of sales was mainly
due to (i) the impact of COVID-19, resulted in higher project staff costs
and (i) a provision for contract works of approximately HK$16.2 million
was recognised for the contract obligation as at 31 March 2023 due to
the extra costs estimated to be employed resulted from the technical
difficulties identified in certain projects during the Reporting Period and the
adverse impact of the COVID-19. The gross profit of the Group decreased
by approximately 77.8% from approximately HK$44.5 million for the year
ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$9.9 million for the Reporting
Period. The decrease in gross profit was mainly due to (i) the decrease of
revenue; and (i) the increase of cost of sales as discussed above.

Impairment loss on financial assets and contract assets

On 6 March 2023, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group received the
Order and the Judgment made to related to a long outstanding trade
receivables customer to pay, among other things, partial amount of
approximately HK$2.1 million out total amount of approximately HK$4.1
million by instalments. As at the date of this report (i.e. 19 June 2023) (the
“Date of this Report”), the Company had not received any of the above-
mentioned amount from the customer. The Company is hence in the
progress of seeking further legal advice in this regard.

The Group recognised an impairment loss of approximately HK$5.2
million (2022: HK$0.1 million), mainly due to the long outstanding trade
receivable customer of approximately HK$4.1 million as disclosed above
and uncollectible contract assets of approximately HK$1.6 million, netting
of by the reversal of provision of approximately HK$0.5 million.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2022/23
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately 4.3%
from approximately HK$41.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2022
to approximately HK$43.5 million for the Reporting Period. Such increase
was mainly due to an increase of professional and legal fees.

Loss attributable to the owners of the Company

The Group recorded net loss attributable to the owners of the Company
of approximately HK$32.2 million for the Reporting Period (2022: net
profit of approximately HK$7.9 million). The difference was mainly due to
(i) the increase of cost of sales as discussed above; and (i) the increase
on provision of losses recognised on the long outstanding balances trade
receivables for the Reporting Period.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

Historically, the Group has met the liquidity and capital requirements
primarily through operating cash flows and capital contribution from its
Shareholders.

The Group requires cash primarily for working capital needs. As at 31
March 2023, the Group had approximately HK$86.9 million in (i) bank
balances and cash; and (i) time deposits with original maturity over three
months (2022: approximately HK$92.0 million), representing a decrease of
approximately HK$5.1 million as compared to that as at 31 March 2022,

There has been no change on the capital structure of the Group for the
Reporting Period and up to the Date of This Report. The share capital of
the Company only comprises of ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2023, the issued share capital of the Company was
HK$4,049,600 divided into 404,960,000 shares (“Shares”) of HK$0.01
each.

Capital Expenditure

The Group purchased property, plant and equipment amounting to
approximately HK$2.3 million for the Reporting Period which comprised
acquisition of furniture, fixtures and office equipment (2022: approximately
HK$0.9 million).

Final Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Reporting Period (2022: HK2.0 cents).

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 March 2023, the Group employed 190 employees (2022:
200 employees). The Group’s remuneration policies are in line with
the prevailing market practice and are determined on the basis of
performance, qualification and experience of individual employee. On
top of basic salaries, bonus may be paid with reference to the Group’s
performance as well as individual’s performance. Other staff benefits
include provision of retirement benefits, medical and life insurance
benefits. Share options and/or share awards may also be granted to
eligible employees by reference to the Group’s performance as well as the
individual contribution.
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GEARING RATIO

As at 31 March 2023, the gearing ratio (defined as net debt divided by
total share capital plus net debt) of the Group was not applicable. During
the Reporting Period , the Group borrowed and repaid a short-term bank
loan of HK$1.0 million (2022: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

We conducted business with customers, suppliers and subcontractors
located in Hong Kong, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and
overseas. The Group’s exposure to the currency risk mainly arises from
the fluctuation of Renminbi (“RMB”), Euro (‘EUR”) or United States dollars
(“USD”). The Group currently does not have any hedging policy in place
for its foreign currency exposure. The management will consider hedging
significant currency exposure should the need arise.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the Reporting Period. The Group strives to reduce
exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and
evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity
risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure
that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has opened a private bank
account with a well-established bank in the name of KML Capitals Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The Group would invest
surplus funds via this private bank account aiming to earn a better yield
than that generally offered by the commercial banks.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not hold any significant investments in equity interest in any
other companies as at 31 March 2023. Except for those included in the
section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the the Company’s
prospectus dated 29 September 2017 (the “Prospectus”), the Group had
no definite future plans for material investments and capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES OR JOINT VENTURES

There were no other significant investments held, material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the Reporting
Period.

PLEDGES OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2023, the Group pledged certain amount of bank deposits
and investments in life insurance policies to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group. For details, please refer to notes 20 and 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

The Group did not have any capital commitment as at 31 March 2023
(2022: Nil).
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (2022: Nil).

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

For the Reporting Period, the following principal risks of the Group were
identified:

() if the Group fails to effectively implement good project management
which leads to the delays and failure to meet the completion targets,
the penalties and cost escalation may be the consequences.
Belated handover may also be detrimental to its reputation and the
long-term relationship with customers;

(b) if the Group is unable to make correct assessment on the estimated
costs and level of difficulty of required for the work on tender, the
financial viability of the project may be affected;

() the Group relies on few numbers of key customers which may
result in over-reliance on these particular customers. The loss of
one customer or downsizing of these customers could potentially
have a significant impact to the Group’s revenue;

(d)  the Group, like most Hong Kong companies, have been facing
challenges of a brain drain amid a recent wave of emigration. If
the Group is unable to develop, attract and retain employees with
capabilities and commitment needed, achievement of long run
objectives may be jeopardized; and

(e) Cyber security is one of the inherit risks faced by the Group, if the
Group is unable to implement effective measures against data
leakage and cyber-attacks on the systems and networks, this will
result in significant reputational, financial, compliance risks and legal
liabilities.

Our Risk Control Mechanism

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to identify,
assess, mitigate and handle risks. At the first line of defence, operating
units are responsible for identifying and monitoring risks associated with
each business. The management, as the second line of defence, defines
rules and models, provides technical support, develops new systems and
oversees portfolio management. It ensures that risks are within acceptable
range and that the first line of defence is effective. As the final line of
defence, the risk management committee of the Company (the “Risk
Management Committee”), with the professional and independent
advice from the internal audit function ensures the first and second line of
defence are effective through constant inspection and monitoring.

The Group maintains a risk register to keep track of all identified major
risks (including ESG risks) of the Group. The risk register provides the
Board, the Risk Management Committee and management with a profile
of its major risks and records management’s action taken to mitigate the
relevant risks. The risk register will be reviewed and monitored at least
annually. The review process ensures that the Group proactively manages
the risks faced by it.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Luk Kam Ming (FE8E8H) (“Mr. KM Luk”), aged 76, is an Executive
Director and the chairman of the Board. Mr. KM Luk founded the Group
and joined us when he was appointed as a director of KML Engineering
in August 1977. Mr. KM Luk is responsible for overall strategic planning
and development of the Group, and oversees the financial management
and planning of the Group. He is also the chairman of the Nomination
Committee, and a member of the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. KM Luk has more than 50 years of experience in the M&E engineering
industry, with a focus on the development of automatic fare collection
and railway transportation control systems. In August 1977, Mr. KM
Luk founded KML Engineering, the principal subsidiary of the Group
as a contractor for providing services in the fields of electrical power
engineering, signalling and communication engineering, and computer-
based toll collection systems, etc.

Mr. KM Luk was registered as a Registered Professional Engineer (RPE) by
the Engineers Registration Board. He was also registered as a Chartered
Engineer (CEng) by The Institution of Electronic and Radio Engineers,
the United Kingdom, a Chartered Engineer by the Council of Engineering
Institutions, the United Kingdom. He is admitted a member and registered
as a Chartered Electrical Engineer by The Institution of Electrical Engineers
(currently known as the Institution of Engineering and Technology), the
United Kingdom, and a Chartered Engineer by the Council of Engineering
institutions, the United Kingdom. He is also admitted as a member of the
Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, a member of Institution of Railway
Signal Engineers, and a member of Hong Kong Association of Energy
Engineers. He was nominated as the Country Vice President of Institution
of Railway Signal Engineers for Hong Kong, China in March 2011.

Mr. KM Luk is the father of Mr. Luk Kwai Lung (“Mr. KL Luk”) and Mr.
Luk Yin Cheung (“Mr. YC Luk”), both our Executive Directors. Mr. KM
Luk is also the spouse of Ms. Leung Kwok Yee (“Madam Leung”),
our controlling Shareholder, and the father-in-law of Ms. Woo Siu Wai
(“Madam Woo”), the company secretary of the Company (“Company
Secretary”).

Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip (“Mr. CL Chan”), aged 61, is an Executive
Director and our chief executive officer. Mr. CL Chan is responsible
for overseeing the daily operations and overall general management
of the Group. Mr. CL Chan is also a member of the Risk Management
Committee.

Mr. CL Chan has more than 30 years of experience in M&E engineering.
He joined KML Engineering in October 1987. Since then, he has served
the Group in various capacities including engineer, general manager of
advanced products department, the operation director and the managing
director of KML Engineering.

Mr. CL Chan has been a director of KML Engineering since June 1991.
He is a technical director and one of the authorised signatories appointed
by KML Engineering for its qualification as a Registered Minor Works
Contractor for Type A and Type C of Class Il & Il under the Buildings
Ordinance.

Mr. CL Chan obtained a degree of Bachelor of Engineering with first class
honours in mechanical engineering from the Newcastle University (formerly
known as “University of Newcastle upon Tyne”), the United Kingdom
and a degree of Master of Science in Engineering from The University
of Hong Kong, Hong Kong. He was admitted as associate member of
the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, a member of The Institution of
Electrical Engineers (currently known as the Institution of Engineering and
Technology), the United Kingdom and registered as a Chartered Engineer
(CEng) by the Engineering Council (UK). He was elected as a member of
the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, the United Kingdom. He is also a
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Mr. Luk Kwai Lung (B£Z &), aged 46, is an Executive Director. Mr. KL
Luk is responsible for overseeing the business development and marketing
of the Group. Mr. KL Luk has been a director of KML Technology and
KML Engineering since February 2012 and November 2015 respectively.
Mr. KL Luk is one of the authorised signatories appointed by KML
Engineering for its qualification as a Registered Minor Works for Type A of
Class Il & Il under the Buildings Ordinance. Mr. KL Luk is also a member
of the Risk Management Committee.

Mr. KL Luk joined the Group in January 2003 and appointed as deputy
managing director of KML Engineering in December 2015. He developed
comprehensive experiences in process management in various
departments in KML Engineering, and acted as the project manager for
various projects undertaken by the Group in the past years.

Mr. KL Luk obtained a degree of Bachelor of Science in hotel
administration from University of Nevada, Las Vegas, the United States,
a degree of Master of Science in administrative studies from Boston
University, the United States, and a degree of Master of Science in
engineering business management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University, Hong Kong. He is a member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors.

Mr. KL Luk is a son of Mr. KM Luk, the founder of the Group, Executive
Director and chairman of the Board, and the elder brother of Mr. YC
Luk, an Executive Director. Mr. KL Luk is the elder son of Madam Leung,
our controlling Shareholder, and the brother-in-law of Madam Woo, the
Company Secretary.

Mr. Luk Yin Cheung (former name is Luk Tit Cheung) (£ Z#), aged
44, is an Executive Director. Mr. YC Luk is responsible for overseeing
the operation support of the Group, including sourcing and project
administration of the Group. Mr. YC Luk has been a director of KML
Technology and KML Engineering since February 2012 and November
2015 respectively. Mr. YC Luk is also a member of the Risk Management
Committee.

Mr. YC Luk joined the Group in June 2006 and appointed as associate
director and executive director of KML Engineering in December 2015 and
January 2022 respectively. In the past 17 years, Mr. YC Luk has gained
vast experience in providing training on occupation safety, purchasing,
inventory and logistics management in the M&E engineering industry.

Mr. YC Luk graduated with a degree of Bachelor of Business
Administration from The University College of the Cariboo, Canada and
Postgraduate Diploma in Marketing by The University of Hong Kong
School of Professional and Continuing Education in association with
the Chartered Institute of Marketing, Hong Kong. He was elected an
affiliate member of The Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport in
Hong Kong and a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. To
promote the occupational safety of the Group, Mr. YC Luk also awarded
a Diploma in Occupational Health and Safety by the Li Ka Shing Institute
of Professional and Continuing Education, The Open University of Hong
Kong. To enhance the risk oversight of the Group, he also obtained an
Advanced Diploma in Risk and Crisis Management by the Institute of
Crisis and Risk Management and awarded as a Certified Risk Professional
in December 2021.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Mr. YC Luk is a son of Mr. KM Luk, the founder of the Group, Executive
Director and chairman of the Board, and the younger brother of Mr. KL
Luk, an Executive Director. Mr. YC Luk is the younger son of Madam
Leung, our controlling Shareholder, and the spouse of Madam Woo, the
Company Secretary.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lau On Kwok (2|% El), aged 56, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 20 September 2017. Mr. Lau is the chairman
of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the Risk Management
Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Lau has extensive experience in the fields of financial management,
corporate governance and direct investment. He started his career as
accounting professional in an international accountancy firm. Mr. Lau
was an executive director at China Assets Investment Management
Limited and was also the company secretary and a member of investment
committee of China Assets (Holdings) Limited, a company previously listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 170) from April 2004 to December
2010. He was a director of Shandong Lukang Pharmaceutical Company
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600789), from May 2007 to April 2012. From May 2009 to
January 2011, Mr. Lau was an independent non-executive director of
Sheng Yuan Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0851). He was employed by Sheng Yuan Asset Management
Limited from January 2011 to August 2014, where his last position
was executive director. He also assumed the duties of the managing
director of Sheng Yuan Investment Advisors Limited from January 2011
to December 2013. Mr. Lau was the company secretary and financial
controller at Winshine Science Company Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 209), from November 2014 to November
2018. Mr. Lau has been a director of China Assets (Holdings) Limited and
a director of China Assets Investment Management Limited since October
2018.

Mr. Lau obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts in accounting and financial
analysis from the Newcastle University (formerly known as “University of
Newcastle upon Tyne”) and a degree of Master of Science in financial
management from University of London. He also obtained a Diploma on
Practices in Chinese Laws and Regulations affecting Foreign Business
jointly awarded by Southwest University of Political Science and Law and
the Hong Kong Management Association.

Mr. Lau is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified

Public Accountants and a fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, the United Kingdom.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2022/23
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen (#&’k %), aged 53, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 20 September 2017. Mr. Law is
the chairman of the Risk Management Committee, and a member of each
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Law has extensive experience in financial management and
professional accounting. He was the chief financial officer of Diamondlite
Limited, one of the leading jewellery manufacturer in the PRC. Having
started his career as a professional accountant in an international
accountancy firm, Mr. Law has undertaken key financial management
positions in companies engaged in a variety of industries. Mr. Law has
been an executive director and company secretary of Kai Yuan Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1215),
since May 2011 and February 2014 respectively and is also currently their
chief financial officer.

Mr. Law obtained a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Accountancy from the City
University of Hong Kong. He is an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Dr. Tse Chi Kong (# & ), aged 58, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 20 September 2017. Dr. Tse is the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee, a member of each of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee.

From September 1991 to October 2019, Dr. Tse worked as a lecturer,
assistant professor, associate professor, professor and chair professor
in the department of electronic and information engineering (“EIE
Department”) of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Dr. Tse was the
head of EIE Department from August 2005 to December 2012. Since
October 2019, Dr. Tse has been a chair professor in the department
of electrical engineering at City University of Hong Kong (“City U”), and
since February 2021, he has been appointed as Associate Vice-President
(Strategic Research) at CityU. Dr. Tse was a member of the research
projects assessment panel of Innovation and Technology Fund, a fund
administered by the Innovation and Technology Commission of the
Government of Hong Kong, for a term from January 2017 to December
2018. From January 2013 to 2019, he was a member of the Quality
Education Fund Steering Committee, which advises the Hong Kong
Government on the policies and procedures governing the operation
of the Quality Education Fund. From May 2015 to May 2021, he was
a member of the Board of Governors of the Hong Kong Sinfonietta,
one of Hong Kong's flagship orchestras supported by the Hong Kong
Government. Since January 2021, Dr. Tse has been appointed as a
member of the Advisory Committee on Gifted Education, a committee
under the Education Bureau of the Hong Kong Government.

Dr. Tse obtained a degree of Bachelor of Engineering and a degree of
Doctor of Philosophy from The University of Melbourne, Australia. He
has been elected to the grade of fellow of the Institute of Electrical and
Electronic Engineers, Inc., New York. He is a Chartered Professional
Engineer with Engineers Australia and a Fellow of Engineers Australia. He
was the first academic in China to be awarded the Institute of Electrical
and Electronics Engineers (IEEE) Circuits and Systems Society (CASS)
Charles A. Desoer Technical Achievement Award 2022.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Mr. Yu Wing Lok Garry (5RK#%), aged 60, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 November 2022. Mr. Yu is a
member of each of the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management
Committee.

Mr. Yu has numerous years of executive managerial and business
development experience, especially in automotive, insurance and
finance industry. From May 1992 to October 2007, he was the CEO —
managing director of Cosmo Motors Limited which was an auto dealer
group in Canada. From June 2008 to July 2013, he was the director —
head of business development of Haitong International Securities Group
Limited. He was mainly responsible for managing a team of over 140
financial consultants, liaison with major insurance providers, high-net-
worth clients’ portfolio management, asset management and conducting
various business development projects. From August 2013 to July
2015, he was the head of Independent Financial Advisor of Core Pacific-
Yamaichi International (H.K.) Limited which is engaged in provision of
comprehensive financial services in global markets. From August 2015 to
October 2016, he was the chief distribution officer — head of automobile
brokers (China) of Allianz Group. From October 2016 to April 2019, he
was the chief executive officer of Canew Tech (Shenzhen) Co., Limited
which is a high-tech company with research and development, production
and sales of super Nano energy saving aerogel materials and other
new materials. He was responsible for general oversight of all business
activities, management of the day-to-day operations and assuring a
smoothly functioning and efficient organization. He was a chief operating
officer in SDM Education Group and in charge of overall operations of the
Group in different geographical locations from October 2019 to April 2021.
Mr. Yu has been a Director — PE Asset Management of GAW Capital
since June 2019. He is responsible for post-investment management on
portfolios and coordinating and managing projects involving legal, finance,
tax and human resource teams and other stakeholders.

Mr. Yu is a holder of Executive Master of Business Administration (EMBA)
from the University of Hull in United Kingdom and a bachelor’s degree
majoring management and organizational studies from Western University
in Canada.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2022/23
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tung Tsz On (E¥%), aged 53, is the chief engineer of KML
Engineering. Mr. Tung is responsible for research and development,
planning and formulation and supervising the implementation of our
projects with provision of day-to-day technical and expert advice to the
Group. Mr. Tung is one of the authorised signatories of KML Engineering
for its qualification as a Registered Minor Works Contractor for Type A and
Type C of Class Il & lll under the Buildings Ordinance since September
2011.

Mr. Tung joined the Group in February 2003 as a system engineer and
was promoted to the position of chief engineer in April 2010. Mr. Tung
has more than 10 years of experience in design and management of
M&E engineering projects covering a variety of systems such as mobile
payment, automatic control system, car park system, security system
and point of sales system etc. He has expertise in handling maintenance
work for electronic systems, as well as leading the development and
implementation of automatic fare collection systems.

Mr. Tung obtained an Advanced Diploma in network engineering granted
by the Hong Kong Productivity Council in December 2000.

Ms. Law Shuk Ming (Z#8), aged 52, is the chief accountant of KML
Engineering, being responsible for day-to-day accounting and financial
reporting of our Group. Ms. Law joined the Group in May 1995 and was
promoted to chief accountant in November 2017.

Ms. Law obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration from
Capstone University, the United States, and completed the Accounting
Technician Examination by Hong Kong Institute of Accredited Accounting
Technicians.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Woo Siu Wai (#817), aged 43, is the Company Secretary,
responsible for company secretarial matters, human resources and
administrative duties. Madam Woo joined the Group in April 2011 and
was subsequently promoted to administration manager in October 2016.
Madam Woo has been a director of KML Engineering since November
2021.

Madam Woo obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts from the faculty of
social sciences of the University of Victoria, Canada, and a degree of
Master of Science in Professional Accounting and Corporate Governance
from City University of Hong Kong. Madam Woo was admitted as an
associate of the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly
known as the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and an
associate of the Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as the
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators).

Madam Woo is the spouse of Mr. YC Luk, the Executive Director, the
daughter-in-law of Mr. KM Luk, the founder of the Group, Executive
Director and chairman of the Board, the daughter-in-law of Madam
Leung, our controlling Shareholder, and the sister-in-law of Mr. KL Luk,
the Executive Director.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Luk Yin Cheung (B Z#), aged 44, has been appointed as the
compliance officer of the Company. His biography is set out in the
subsection headed “Executive Directors” in this section.
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Report of Directors
EEERE

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of M&E engineering
solutions and services. Analysis of the principal activities of the Group
during the Reporting Period is set out in the note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on page 61 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Reporting Period (2022: HK2.0 cents).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday,
2 August 2023 to Monday, 7 August 2023, both days inclusive, in order
to determine the identity of the Shareholders who are entitled to attend
the annual general meeting (“AGM(s)”), during which period no transfers
of Shares shall be effected. In order to qualify for attending and voting at
the AGM to be held on Monday, 7 August 2023, all transfers of Shares,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates and transfer forms, must
be lodged for registration with Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong no later than 4:30
p.m. on Tuesday, 1 August 2023.
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Report of Directors
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group as at 31 March 2023 and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development are set out in
the paragraphs headed “Business Review” and “Outlook” under the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this Report
respectively. Descriptions of possible risks and uncertainties that the
Group may be facing are provided in paragraphs headed “Principal Risks
and Uncertainties” under the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” of this Report. An analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year using financial key performance indicators is provided in
the Financial Highlights on page 7 of this Report.

In addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance, important relationships with its stakeholders and compliance
with relevant laws and regulations are contained and available in this
Report of Directors. The above discussions constitute part of this Report
of Directors.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises that all employees have the social obligation to
preserve and enhance the quality of the environment. We strive to protect
the environment in the course of our business activities by preventing
pollution, reducing adverse impact on climate change and enhancing
sustainable development. These policies are supported by our employees
and are implemented effectively.

At the same time, the Group recognises the importance of compliance
with regulatory requirements and applicable laws and regulations. During
the Reporting Period, the Group has complied in material respects with
the relevant environmental laws and regulations.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risks of non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations. The major laws and regulations relating to the Group’s
business and operations include the Electricity Ordinance, Security
and Guarding Services Ordinance, Building (Minor Works) Regulation,
Construction Industry Council Ordinance and the Subcontractor
Registration Scheme. During the Reporting Period and up to the Date
of this Report, the Group has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. There was no material breach or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group
during the Reporting Period and up to the Date of this Report. The Group
has complied with all relevant requirements including financial, technical,
management and personal criteria applicable to each respective laws and
regulations.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Employees

As at 31 March 2023, the Group employed 190 employees. We
maintained a good working relationship with our employees and we
did not experience any labour disputes during the Reporting Period.
Recruitment in the M&E engineering service industry is highly competitive,
especially with respect to the recruitment of qualified engineering staff.
We believe we are hiring high-quality employees in the market by offering
competitive wages and benefits and comprehensive training opportunities.
We have facilitated the recruitment through a variety of channels, such
as newspapers, internet websites, recruitment agencies, career talks and
internal referrals. We believe our continuous efforts will help us attract
suitable personnel.

Customers

Our customers mainly comprise transportation companies and other
engineering companies in Hong Kong and Taiwan and also various
departments of the Hong Kong Government. We maintain business
relationship with our largest customer since year 1978. We usually enter
into agreements with our customers on project basis and the majority of
such contracts have term over one year. Most of our project contracts are
fixed price contracts. The lump sum price is usually determined based on
factors including project requirements and estimated cost of materials,
labour and time required for completion of the projects.

Suppliers

The Group sources equipment, parts and components from our suppliers.
The principal materials and equipment used by our M&E engineering
business include steel and copper parts, switchboards, and various
mechanical equipment. Most of these materials and equipment are
sourced from local suppliers or imported mainly from Germany, Taiwan
and the PRC.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the Group’s results, assets and liabilities for the last five

financial years is set out on page 132 of this Report. This summary does
not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Major Customers

For the Reporting Period, the Group’s sales to its five largest customers
accounted for approximately 90.4% (2022: approximately 85.4%) of the
Group’s total revenue and the sales to its largest customer accounted for
approximately 74.6% (2022: approximately 64.1%) of the Group’s total
revenue.

Major Suppliers

For the Reporting Period, purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 39.1% (2022: approximately
29.7%) of the Group’s total purchases and the purchases from the largest
supplier accounted for approximately 10.4% (2022: approximately 7.7 %)
of the Group’s total purchases.

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or any of their close
associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the number of issued Shares of the
Company) had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers and
suppliers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the Reporting Period are set out on pages 131 and 63 of this
Report respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2023, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
to the Shareholders amounted to approximately HK$21.0 million
(2022: approximately HK$23.5 million), comprising an accumulated
loss of approximately HK$0.6 million and share premium amounting to
approximately HK$21.6 million.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The Group did not have any bank loans and other borrowings as at 31
March 2023.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the Date of this
Report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Luk Kam Ming (Chairman)

Mr. Chan Chak Lun, Philip (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Luk Kwai Lung

Mr. Luk Yin Cheung

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lau On Kwok

Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen

Dr. Tse Chi Kong

Mr. Yu Wing Lok Garry

In accordance with article 84(1) of the Articles of Association of the
Company (“Articles of Association”), at each AGM one-third of the
Directors (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an AGM at
least once every three years.

Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the
first general meeting of Members after his appointment and be subject
to re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following AGM of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set out in the
circular to be despatched to the Shareholders.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 16 to 21 of this Report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors and the Company considers such
Directors to be independent during the Reporting Period and remain so as
at the Date of this Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS AND LETTERS OF
APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors has signed a service agreement with
the Company for a term of three years and will continue thereafter until
terminated in accordance with terms of the agreement.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed the letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years, which may be
renewable subject to both parties’ agreement.

None of the Directors has a service agreement/letter of appointment

which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities, except that trustee of the Share Award Scheme, pursuant
to the terms of the rules and trust deed of the Share Award Scheme,
purchased on the Stock Exchange a total of 185,000 Shares at a total
consideration of approximately HK$44,000.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

During the Reporting Period, no contract of significance in respect
of provision of services or otherwise was entered into between the
Company or its subsidiaries and the controlling Shareholders or his/her/its
subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the Reporting Period and up to the Date of this Report.

REMUNERATION POLICY

A remuneration committee was set up for reviewing the Group’s
remuneration policy and structure for all remuneration of the directors and
senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance of the directors and senior management
and comparable market practices.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, and the five highest paid
individuals during the Reporting Period are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group are set out in note
30 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”))
which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), which were recorded in the register required to be
kept pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
(CONTINUED)

ESRIRTRAEBRKSD - ARARORERSNESZR
wE ()

Number
of Shares / Approximate
underlying percentage of
Shares held/ Long/short  shareholding in
Name Capacity/Nature of Interest interested position® the Company (%)®©
e ol
387 RAED AR
"L B RmitE HERGHE HaE KA BHBED (%)@
Mr. KM Luk® Beneficial owner; interest of spouse 157,000,000 L 38.77
R AR S A0 EmAA  iEER
Mr. KL Luk® Interest in controlled corporation 138,000,000 L 34.08
ReZ= B S 0 R AR
Mr. YC Luk®@® Interest in controlled corporation; 138,600,000 L 34.23
interest of spouse
FEER LN R AERER BB
Mr. CL Chan® Beneficial owner 4,000,000 L 0.99
BRI S @ BERBAA
Notes: Hiat -

(1) Mr. KM Luk directly holds 100,000,000 Shares. Since Mr. KM Luk is the spouse of
Madam Leung, Mr. KM Luk is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which
Madam Leung is interested or deemed to be interested under the SFO, which is
57,000,000 Shares.

2) Each of Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk owns one common share in KML Holdings
Limited (“KML Holdings’), representing 50% of the issued share capital of KML
Holdings carrying voting rights. Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk are deemed to be
interested in all Shares in which KML Holdings is interested or deemed to be
interested under the SFO, which is 138,000,000 Shares.

3) Since Mr. YC Luk is the spouse of Madam Woo, Mr. YC Luk is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares in which Madam Woo s interested or deemed to be
interested under the SFO, which is 600,000 Shares.

(4) Mr. CL Chan directly holds 2,000,000 Shares and was interested as a grantee of
options to subscribe for up to 2,000,000 Shares under the Share Option Scheme
(announced on 2 January 2020).

%) The Letter “L” denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares.

(6) As at 31 March 2023, the total number of issued Shares were 404,960,000.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any
interest or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) that was required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
taken under such provisions of the SFO), or required to be recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2023, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company)
had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which
fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of
the SFO:

FERRRAROREBRONERR KR

RZZZ=F=A=+—H REZRM U TATQE
IFEBHARREETHAER) RAR RGN SABER D H
BAREMREGER KB KD 533614 AF B M=t
FrEc sl s iR IR (5 R EAE 150D BEXVEREE2 K 37 SR IE XA
MR R R RATIRENERIOAR

Number of
Shares/ Approximate
underlying percentage of
Shares held/ Long/short  shareholding in
Name Capacity/Nature of Interest interested position® the Company (%)®©
e ol
EEBG, RAED AR
"L B RmitE HERGHE "B KA BB DL (%)©
KML Holdings Beneficial owner 138,000,000 L 34.08
KML Holdings!" EnEAA
Madam Leung® Beneficial owner; interest of spouse 157,000,000 L 38.77
i+ EnEAA BB ER
Ms. Chan Patricia® Interest of spouse 138,000,000 L 34.08
FRIMG L+ iRkt
Madam Woo® Beneficial owner; interest of spouse 138,600,000 L 34.23
[ Eequ il BEREAA  IEER
Notes: Biat -

(1) Each of Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk owns one common share in KML Holdings,
representing 50% of the issued share capital of KML Holdings carrying voting
rights. Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk also own approximately 50% and approximately
50%, respectively, of the issued preferred shares in KML Holdings which do not
carry voting rights but only rights to dividends.

2) Madam Leung is the spouse of Mr. KM Luk. By virtue of the SFO, Madam Leung
is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. KM Luk is interested or
deemed to be interested under the SFO, and vice versa.

3) Ms. Chan Patricia is the spouse of Mr. KL Luk. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Chan
Patricia is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. KL Luk is
interested or deemed to be interested under the SFO.

“4) Madam Woo is the spouse of Mr. YC Luk. By virtue of the SFO, Madam Woo is
deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. YC Luk is interested or
deemed to be interested under the SFO, which is 138,000,000 Shares. Madam
Woo directly holds 300,000 Shares and was interested as a grantee of options to
subscribe for up to 300,000 Shares under the Share Option Scheme (announced
on 2 January 2020).

(%) The Letter “L” denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares.

(6) As at 31 March 2023, the total number of issued Shares were 404,960,000.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the Directors were
not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief executive
of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein.

(1) EEEAREET R EEEKML Holdings—/R EER -
ﬁﬁKML Holdings i1 ##8 Z1# ) 2 #7178 AK60% o FEFE LR
[EEE S T BIHEBKML Holdings B 377 B 5E IR (I HE M1 %78
ZRE(EEG YR E AR 4950% K 4950% °
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this Report, at no time during the
Reporting Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or
children under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for the
equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate or
had exercised any such right.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that the directors
and employees of the Group have made or may make to the Group, the
Company approved and adopted the share option scheme pursuant to
the written resolutions of the Shareholders passed on 20 September 2017
(the “Share Option Scheme”). The principal terms of the Share Option
Scheme are summarised below:

(@) the Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it
may think fit, grant an option to subscribe any director or employee
of the Group, from time to time on the basis of his/her contribution
or potential contribution to the development and growth of the
Group;

(b)  the maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate
exceed 40,000,000 Shares, representing 10% of the total number
of Shares in issue as at the date of adoption and approximately 9.9%
of the total number of Shares in issue as at the Date of this Report;

(c) the total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to any participant (including both exercised
and outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme, in any
12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue. Any further grant of options in excess of such limit
must be separately approved by Shareholders in general meeting
with such grantee and his/her close associates abstaining from
voting;

(d) an option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of
grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof;

(e) an offer for the grant of options must be accepted within three
business days from the date of offer. The amount payable by the
eligible persons of an option to the Company on acceptance of the
offer for the grant of an option is HK$10;

) the subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price solely
determined by the Board and notified to an eligible person and
shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option, which must be a business day;
(i) the average closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (jii) the
nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the option; and
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

(9  the Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10
years commencing on 16 October 2017 (the “Listing Date”)
and shall expire at the close of business on the business day
immediately preceding the 10th anniversary thereof unless
terminated earlier by the Shareholders in a general meeting.

On 2 January 2020, the Company granted 9,800,000 share options
(“Options”) to certain eligible participants (the “Grantee(s)”), subject to
acceptance by the Grantees, to subscribe for Shares with nominal value
of HK$0.01 each of the Company under the Share Option Scheme.
Among the Options granted, 2,000,000 Options were granted to a
Director, 700,000 Options were granted to a director of a subsidiary of
the Company and 300,000 Options were granted to an associate to a
Director.

The estimated fair value of the above 9,800,000 Options granted was
approximately HK$1,057,000, which was calculated by using the binomial
option pricing model based on following inputs. The value of the Options is
subject to certain fundamental limitations, including the subjective nature
of and uncertainty relating to a number of assumptions of the expected
future performance input to the model, and certain inherent limitations of
the model itself. The expected volatility was determined with reference to
the historical daily volatilities of the Share price of the Company. The risk-
free rate was determined with reference to the prevailing rates on debt
securities as reference from Thomson Reuters.

R RS B (D

@ BREFIBENR-_Z—tF+A+TRB(LTAH
HDBFHOFAAR » BIFERRERRNE LERRE
BRI BAREZBRE M T BEFA— @2
F AN ERRARERER -

R-ZZE-ZTF—A-H  ARAREBREFERAET
Aé”f%%ﬁi%(rﬁdﬁ)kj)?*ﬂjg 800,00017 FE A% #E ([ B A%
#])  URBARRARERAEE.OTEITZRG - HHFA
%Mﬂm FAMEE - EEREMEREZHS © 2,000,000
PEEEPRREIR T —ZE E - 700,0000% B LI % T AN & 7 M
BTN —REE 300,000/ B ER T — 25 M
ZA

FH B R HE 9,800,000 B RENGIT RAAEN A
1,057,0007 7T + JHIRR A IR IR A —IE X B EER
HE o BREGHEERMENIZHNETHEEZ  EhaeRi
AEARERBMENZBREMS R TEBEE & TH
AR E - URFTEEXNANERS - BEREILEAR
RIREUNE 2SR REETE - ERBRFERD2Z5HRKE
HATREEES ZBITHREE »

Date of grant 2 January 2020
i AH —EB-EH-H=H
Share price at grant date HK$0.250
R BB R (R B8 0.250% 7T
Exercise price HK$0.259
17E(E 0.2597 7T
Expected volatility 54.96%
TR IR 54.96%
Expected life 5 years from the date of grant
T8 HA<F AR B BHEET HF
Risk-free rate 2.056%
A [ B N 2R 2.056%
Expected dividend yield 0%
TR B 0%
Exercise multiple 2.X
IS o1&

During the Reporting Period, there were no expense, in relation to Options
granted by the Company, recognised by the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Details regarding the number of Options, date of grant, exercise period
and exercise price of the Options granted under the Share Option Scheme

are set out below:

R Rt B (D)

FRRBEBREFERDBREZERERR  RHA
i (TERRITEEZFEHIIDT

Closing price
immediately
Date of Number of Exercise price before date
Name of participants Options granted ~ Options granted Vesting period Exercise period of Options of grant
2Rt SEELAH
SREME RARRERS BREZA 5B s BRECRE HZHmE
HKS per Share HKS per Share
/B B/
Mr. CL Chan 2 January 2020 2,000,000 2 January 2020 1 July 2021 0.259 0.25
(Director and Chief executive officer) 10 30 June 2021 to 1 January 2025
RERLE —Z-%F-F-A ZE-3F-f-AE  -Z--Ftf-RZE
(E=RTHEs) —Z--%~A=1A “Z-8%-A-A
Ms. Wai Hang Ying Helen %¢! 2 January 2020 700,000 2 January 2020 1 July 2021 0.259 0.25
(Former director of KML Engineering) 10 30 June 2021 to 1 January 2025
e i S Z3-TE-fZAE T -Ftf-BE
(RERRIEANTES) —Z--%/~A=1A —Z-R5-A-A
Madam Woo 2 January 2020 300,000 2 January 2020 1 July 2021 0.259 0.25
(Company Secretary) t0 30 June 2021 to 1 January 2025
il “Z-FF-A-A “Z-FE-f-PE  _E--E{f-RE
(BAEHE) —Z--%~A=1A “Z-RE-A-A
Employees 2 January 2020 3,500,000 2 January 2020 1 July 2020 0.259 0.25
t0 30 June 2020 to 1 January 2025
EE —Z-%F-F-A ZE-ZF-f-AE  -Z-ZFtf-RE
ZZ-ZERA=1H “ECRE-A-H
3,300,000 2 January 2020 2 January 2021 0.259 0.25
to 1 January 2021 to 1 January 2025
“Z-%%-f-RE  -B--5-f-RZE
—E_-%¥-A-H ZZR%5-A-A
Total 9,800,000
5t

Note: Ms. Wai Hang Ying Helen resigned as the director of KML Engineering on 29 Kt : #HBELIR -_E-—F+— A -+ ABEZHERIES
November 2021. =
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

During the Reporting Period, no options were granted, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed/forfeited. Details of the movements of Options
granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed/forfeited during the Reporting
Period and the outstanding Options as at 31 March 2023 are as follows:

IR E ()

RBEHR - RERE » 17 « B LR BRKE
PeRE - RIREHIR - BRE - BT - BiEHEsE A%
BRI EREEHUARNR S =F=A=+—HRHX
T2 BEREFIBT -

Number of
Outstanding as at Number of Number of Number of Options lapsed/  Outstanding as at
Name of participants 1 April 2022 Options granted  Options exercised ~ Options cancelled forfeited 31 March 2023
R-B-—& R-B=-=f%
mA—H ERE [=iy:d [5h:3 BAM/BRY =ZA=t-H
SERENS I RATHE BREHE BREHE BREHE BREHE i RATE
Mr. CL Chan 2,000,000 - - - - 2,000,000
(Director and Chief executive officer)
REREE
(ESERITHEH)
Madam Woo 300,000 = = = = 300,000
(Company Secretary)
e,
(REHE)
Employees 3,700,000 - - - - 3,700,000
B8
Total 6,000,000 - - - = 6,000,000
st

As at the Date of this Report, taking into account 28,000,000 share
options had been granted, the maximum number of Shares in respect of
which options may be granted is 12,000,000, representing approximately
3.0% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the Date of this Report.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) on 5 November 2018 (the “Adoption Date”). Subject to any
early termination as may be determined by the Board, the Share Award
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of 15 years commencing on
the Adoption Date. Please refer to the announcement dated 5 November
2018 for details. The principles of Share Award Scheme are summarized
below:

(@) Purpose of the scheme
The purposes and objectives of the Share Award Scheme are (i) to
recognise and reward the contribution of certain eligible persons
for the growth and development of the Group and to provide them
with incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation
and development of the Group; and (i) to attract suitable personnel
for further development of the Group.

HEAREBH @ 5H R EEH28,000,0000% A% 4E - AJ %
HEERENSERME R A12,000,0000% @ EEEARRE
B HIE 1T 42 5493.0% °

% 40 82 B =t &I

ARARRZE-N\F+—ARR(FRMBPD R AR
o i2EhEt ) ([ AR SR Bt &) - Axin 82 81 B 3R A
HEEY  ARMATHF BEFGRERAKL -F
BB BF2HEARA T \F+-ARANRE - &
i SR BIR RS LA T

(@ FEZAH
Bein BRI B M R B RRNEE REREES
ERMATHAREMNERRERAEER - AR
EREHBARERERARENFALERERE
BELD  RRASENE - FEHREBSEE A
7o

EHNMREEARAR « ZR 2/ Z=FFK
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

U]

Eligibility of Participant in the scheme
The eligible person under the Share Award Scheme is:

(i) any employee of the Group;

(ii) any executive director or non-executive director (including
any independent non-executive director) of the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or any invested entity;

(iii) any customer of the Group or any invested entity;

(iv)  any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any invested entity;

(V) any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Group or any invested
entity;

(viy  any shareholder of any member of the Group or any invested
entity or any holder of any securities issued by any member
of the Group or any invested entity;

(vii)  any person or entity which has contributed to the Group or
its business; and

(viii)  any other person selected by the Board at its sole discretion.

Total number of shares available of issue under the scheme
As at the Date of this Report, a maximum number of Shares that
can be issued and allotted are 78,040,000 Shares, being 19.3% of
the total number of Shares in issue as at the date of passing of the
resolution granting the general mandate at 2022 AGM.

Maximum entitlement of each selected participant

The total number of awarded Shares (including granted and non-
vested Shares) granted to a selected participant under the scheme
in any 12-month period shall not in aggregate exceed 1% of the
total number of Shares in issue from time to time.

Vesting period of award shares under the scheme

The awarded Shares to which such selected participant is
entitled under the relevant award shall be vested in such selected
participant as soon as practicable after the vesting date. The award
Shares granted typically shall vest in selected participant within
three years from the date of grant.

Consideration and purchase price

Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, there were granted to the
grantees at nil consideration and were or will be transferred to the
grantees upon vesting at nil consideration.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2022/23
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED)

(9)

(h)

The basis of determining the purchase price of share award
The purchase price for such purchases shall not be higher than the
lower of the following: (i) the closing market price on the date of
such purchase, and (i) the average closing market price for the five
preceding trading days on which the Shares were traded on the
Stock Exchange.

Life of scheme

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the
Board, the Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
term of 15 years commencing on the Adoption Date. As at the Date
of this Report, the remaining life of the Share Award Scheme is
approximately ten years and four months.

On 26 August 2022, 2,460,000 awarded Shares were granted to
employees of KML Engineering. The awarded Shares granted represent
approximately 0.6% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the Date
of this Report. As at 31 March 2023, 2,645,000 awarded Shares were
vested to employee.

Details regarding the date of grant, the vesting period, the closing prices
of Shares, the fair value of awarded Shares, the movements of awarded
Shares granted, vested, forfeited or cancelled during the Reporting Period,
and the number of awarded Shares unvested as at 31 March 2023 are as

I 40 82 B =t 1 (480)

(9 EEROVRBBEENERE
HEBENBEENSSR NTIRES - )HHEEE
HEI U TE - RIRONE MRS AER S
H#FHRTE -

(h)  STEIEER
Befn B2EhET & B IR B HIR AR - BREIR165F
BEZEMRERAKL - RAREEH - Il
BEtERISBBROATFTOEA -

RIB-—FNA-+XA A5ANBEIREREERT
2,460,000% £ZEIAR 17 - B TR REIAR (DG AR S A &
2EHEEITRNH0.6%  HR_TE_=F=A=+—H
2,645,000/ EZEIARR D ESRBRES °

BEREEE  BEH - ROWHE - ZBROIAE -
RmEREDERL - BE - RN IH R RO E B AR
RZEZ=F=ZA=T—HAARGEBEBROEBHIW
™

follows:
Weighted
Closing Price Number of average closing
of the Shares Fair value of Number of Number of Numberof  awarded Shares Number of price of Shares
immediately  awarded Shares  awarded Shares  awarded Shares  awarded Shares Forfeited/  awarded Shares immediately
Category before the date of onthedateof  unvestedasat1  grantedduring vested duringthe  Cancelled during  unvested as at 31 Vesting  before the vesting
of Participants  Date of grant grant grant April 2022 the year year the year March 2023 Period date
i mk- b3 St
BA-H £ ZRzt-8 SEER
BERLAE HRLRHCEE 58 ERERT ERCER BRY/ i #5R REARAH
3u£5H RERH ARBMETE  REWOAE  BRERAHE EERREA RERAHE  CHERAER  CRERGERA 88 METHNGE
Other employees 6 July 2020 022 022 850,000 - 625,000 45,000 180000 2-3years” 0.2
HitER ZECRECARA 25350
Other employees 5 July 2021 0.38 039 2,375,000 - 650,000 515,000 1210000 2-3years® 039
LU ZE--FtREA pEXEa
Other employees 26 August 2022 0.19 020 - 2,460,000 - 100,000 2360000 2-3years® 0.19
HitER ZEZZANAZTAR 25350
Total 3,225,000 2,460,000 1,275,000 660,000 3,760,000
&t
Notes i
(1) 1,750,000 shares was granted on 6 July 2020. For 1,050,000 awarded Shares (1) REF-FFELANART1,750,000RK5 - HERT#

@

3

granted, the relevant vesting period is 2 years as from the date of grant. For
700,000 awarded Shares granted, the relevant vesting period is 3 years as from
the date of grant.

2,375,000 shares was granted on & July 2021. For 1,625,000 awarded Shares
granted, the relevant vesting period is 2 years as from the date of grant. For
850,000 awarded Shares granted, the relevant vesting period is 3 years as from
the date of grant.

2,460,000 shares was granted on 26 August 2022. For 1,410,000 awarded
Shares granted, the relevant vesting period is 2 years as from the date of grant. For
1,000,000 awarded Shares granted, the relevant vesting period is 3 years as from
the date of grant.

1,050,000 SRR 15T = - KIS I8 LTS A1 24 o
SEEEFAI700,0008 R H T - KIS B A
#o -

@) R-F-——F+ AAAKRT2,3750008115 ° 5tERTH
1,625,000 22@R 171 & + 1HBI 55 BRI B 1% HAIREET2F -
BtE R FHI850,000/8 22E1R 17 T &+ 1E/E55 B A A1 1 H B
FF3EF -

3 REZFEZZF/\ A=+ NAIZT2,460,000 %17 - tEIZ T4
1,410,000 22@)R 1711 & + 1HBI 57 /8 B B 1% 1 H BIREGT2F -
BLE R F#71,000,0000R Z2ER 17T 5 + 1655 BRI AR A4
FEFF3F »
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme and Share Award Scheme as set out
in this Report, no equity-linked agreement that would or might result in the
Company issuing Shares, or that requiring the Company to enter into an
agreement that would or might result in the Company issuing Shares, was
entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end of
the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities, except that the trustee of the Share Award Scheme,
pursuant to the terms of the rules and trust deed of the Share Award
Scheme, purchased on the Stock Exchange a total of 185,000 Shares at
a total consideration of approximately HK$44,000.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares on a pro rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Pursuant to the deed of non-competition dated 20 September 2017
(the “Deed of Non-competition”) entered into by the Group and Mr.
KM Luk, Madam Leung, Mr. KL Luk, Mr. YC Luk and KML Holdings
(collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”) and as covenators
(collectively, the “Covenators”), each of the Covenators has irrevocably
and unconditionally undertaken to and covenanted with the Company
(for itself and as trustee for its subsidiaries) that, subject to the exceptions
as described in the Prospectus, during the period that the Deed of Non-
Competition remains effective, he/she/it shall not, and shall procure that
his/her/its associates (other than any members of the Group) will not,
during the term of the Deed of Non-Competition, directly or indirectly,
either for his/her/its own account or in conjunction with or on behalf
of or for any other person, firm or company, whether for profit, reward
or otherwise, (i) carry on, participate in, be interested or engaged in,
or acquire or hold any right or interest (in each case whether as a
shareholder, partner, agent, consultant, employee or otherwise) directly
or indirectly in any business which is or likely to be in competition with
the business currently from time to time engaged by the Group (the
“Restricted Business”) in Hong Kong, Taiwan and any other country or
jurisdiction which any member of the Group provides such services and/
or in which any member of the Group carries on its business currently and
from time to time (the “Territory”); (ii) solicit, interfere with or endeavour to
entice away from any member of the Group any person, firm, company or
organisation who to his/her/its knowledge is now or has been a customer,
supplier, subcontractor or employee of any member of the Group in the
past twelve months before such proposed engagement or employment;
or (iii) without prior written consent of the Company, make use of any
information pertaining to the business, which have or may have come to
his/her/its knowledge in his/her/its capacity as a Controlling Shareholder
and/or Director for any purpose of his/her/its capacity as a Controlling
Shareholder and/or Director for any purpose of his/her/its engaging,
investing or participating in any Restricted Business in the Territory. For
details of the above, please refer to the Prospectus.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2022/23
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING (CONTINUED)

The Company has received confirmations from the Controlling
Shareholders confirming their compliance with the Deed of Non-
competition respectively during the Reporting Period for disclosure in this
Report.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Deed of Non-
competition during the Reporting Period and based on the information and
confirmation provided by or obtained from the Controlling Shareholders
and they were satisfied that the Controlling Shareholders have duly
complied with the Deed of Non-competition during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this Report, during the Reporting Period, none of the
Directors or their respective associates had engaged in or had any interest
in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group entered into certain connected
transactions with the connected person of the Company, namely K M L
Limited.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Tenancy Agreement

KML Engineering, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as tenant
entered into a tenancy agreement on 30 September 2021 (the “Tenancy
Agreement”) with K M L Limited as landlord in respect of Workshop
12 on G/F of Block B, Workshop 5 on 1/F with Flat Roof of Block B,
Workshops 7, 9, 10 and 11 on 1/F of Block B, Workshop 7 on 3/F with
Flat Roof of Block B and Car Parking Spaces numbered V20, V25, L33,
L37 and L39, Shatin Industrial Centre, Nos. 5-7 Yuen Shun Circuit, Shatin,
New Territories, Hong Kong (the “Premises”) for a term of 18 months
from 1 October 2021 to 31 March 2023 (both days inclusive).

K M L Limited is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and owned as
to 78.2% by Golden Sail International Limited (“Golden Sail”), which is
wholly-owned by a trustee for a family trust where the beneficiaries include
Mr. KM Luk and Madam Leung. Therefore, K M L Limited is an associate
of each of Mr. KM Luk and Madam Leung, and hence is a connected
person of the Company.

The Group has been leasing the Premises from K M L Limited as its head
office and workshops in Hong Kong for more than 20 years. The Company
considers that it would be beneficial to lease the Premises as it will enable
the Group to secure its stable operation at the Premises without incurring
additional costs and expenses in identifying, renovating and relocating
to alternative premises and ensure that there will be no disruption to the
operations, business and growth of the Group. The Directors believe that
the entering of this Tenancy Agreement is necessary for the continuous use
of the premises by KML Engineering and the growth and operations of the
Group.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION (CONTINUED)

Tenancy Agreement (continued)

On 31 March 2023, KML Engineering has renewed the tenancy agreement
for another 18 months from 1 April 2023 to 30 September 2024 (both
days inclusive) (the “New Tenancy Agreement”). The principal terms of
the New Tenancy Agreement are set out below:

(@) The term of the New Tenancy Agreement is for a fixed term
commencing on 1 April 2023 and expiring on 30 September 2024
unless terminated earlier upon certain events of default as provided
in the New Tenancy Agreement; and

(o) the monthly rent of HK$477,920 per calendar month payable by
KML Engineering (exclusive of management fees, government rates
and rent and outgoings).

As the applicable percentage ratios in respect the New Tenancy
Agreement exceed 5% but are less than 25% and the value of the right-
of-use of the Premises is less than HK$10,000,000, the transaction
contemplated under the New Tenancy Agreement constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company and is subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules
but exempt from the circular (including independent financial advice) and
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in this Report, during the Reporting Period, the
Company had no connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions which fell to be disclosed in accordance with the provisions
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules in relation to the disclosure of
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions.

The related party transactions as disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements constituted as connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules
and in compliance with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

LITIGATIONS

As at the Date of this Report, neither the Company nor any other
member of the Group was engaged in any litigation or claims of material
importance known to the Directors to be pending or threatened against
any member of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Directors and senior officers of
the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation
thereto, and no Director or officer shall be liable for any loss, damages or
misfortune which may happen to or be incurred by the Company in the
execution of the duties of his office or in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged appropriate Directors and officers liability insurance coverage
for the Directors and officers of the Company for the Reporting Period.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 18 April 2023, the Company granted 9,000,000 Options to certain
Grantees, subject to acceptance by the Grantees, to subscribe for Shares
with nominal value of HK$0.01 each of the Company under the Share
Option Scheme. Among the Options granted, 1,000,000 Options were
granted to a Director, and 400,000 Options were granted to a director of
a subsidiary of the Company, who is also an associate to a Director and
Company Secretary. The remaining 7,600,000 Options were granted to
employees of the Group. Please refer to the announcement dated 18 April
2023 for details.

Save as disclosed above, up to the Date of this Report, there were no
other subsequent events after the Reporting Period.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) had,
together with the management, reviewed the accounting principles and
policies adopted by the Group and the consolidated financial statements
for the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 40 to 55 of this Report.

The compliance officer of the Company is Mr. YC Luk, whose biographical
details are set out on page 17. The company secretary is Madam Woo
who satisfies the qualification requirement under Rules 5.14 and 11.07
of the GEM Listing Rules as the Company Secretary. Madam Woo’s
biographical details are set out on page 21 of this Report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float as at the Date of this Report as required under the
GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young were appointed as the Auditors for the Reporting Period.
The accompanying financial statements prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards have been audited by Ernst &
Young.

On behalf of the Board

KML Technology Group Limited
Luk Kam Ming

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 19 June 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 15
to the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance. During
the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with all applicable code
provisions in Part 2 of the CG Code.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, oversees
the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business and performance.
The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-
day management and operation of the Group. To oversee particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established four Board
committees including the Audit Committee, the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the Risk Management Committee
(together, the “Board Committees”). The Board has delegated to the
Board Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference.

All Directors had carried out duties in good faith and in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance in respect of
legal action against the Directors. The insurance coverage will be reviewed
on an annual basis.

Board Composition
The Board comprises four executive Directors and four independent non-
executive Directors as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. LUK Kam Ming

Mr. CHAN Chak Lun Philip
Mr. LUK Kwai Lung

Mr. LUK Yin Cheung

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. LAU On Kwok

Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen

Dr. TSE Chi Kong

Mr. YU Wing Lok Garry

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” of this Report.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

During the Reporting Period, the Board has met at all times the
requirements under Rules 5.05(1) and 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 5.05A of the GEM Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board.

The Company believes that the diversity of Board members will be
immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s performance.
Therefore, the Company has adopted a Board diversity policy to ensure
that the Company will, when determining the composition of the Board,
consider Board diversity in terms of, among other things, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge.
All Board appointments will be based on merits, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity of the Board.

The Company has received the confirmation from each of the independent
non-executive Directors about his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company considers all of them to be
independent.

Save as disclosed in the Directors’ biographies set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this Report, none of the
Directors have any personal relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material or relevant relationship) with any other Directors
and the chief executive of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Risk Management Committee.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring directors to disclose the
number and nature of offices held in public companies or organisations
and other significant commitments as well as the identity of the public
companies or organisations and the time involved to the Company, the
Directors have agreed to disclose their commitments and any subsequent
change to the Company in a timely manner.
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INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction and
information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the
Group’s operations and businesses as well as his/her responsibilities
under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also
provides regular updates on latest development and changes in the GEM
Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from
time to time. The Directors are also provided with regular updates on the
Group’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a
whole and each Director to discharge his duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The company secretary of the Company has from time to time updated
and provided the Directors with written training materials relating to the
roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed issuer on GEM of the
Stock Exchange.

The professional trainings of the Directors during the Reporting Period are
as follows:

ABRGEEERR

PR ENERERHEVENABIEIRER - LA
R AR BN EE MR AR REER &0 - R
AIRRBITHEEHEEE T - ADRITNVERREHEGEM £
MRAREMERERIEEREZ TRENERIED
MEHER - ESNERRREFEAEERR - MRk
RIZMRMER  NEESS2RBLREEFRITREMNE

=
5 e°

ARRASMEFLRSETLDRTNG - LR REH
BEHMBRIE - ARAOANREREAEFEHR
ROUEBBZAGEM LT RTAEEAE - B RBEN
BESIEHR -

ESNREPR2ENEEEINT

Directors Type of trainings
S IR
Executive Directors BITES

Mr. LUK Kam Ming REERR o A B
Mr. CHAN Chak Lun Philip = A B
Mr. LUK Kwai Lung REZFREE A B
Mr. LUK Yin Cheung BEET %L A B
Independent Non-Executive Directors BAKHITES

Mr. LAU On Kwok BB E A B
Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen BoxELE A B
Dr. TSE Chi Kong S W 1+ A B
Mr. YU Wing Lok Garry AL A B
Notes: BT

A: Attending seminars and/or meetings andy/or forums and/or briefings A HEHHER HEHER KBRS AR

B: Reading materials relevant to corporate governance, director’s duties and B: HEPXER EFBEREME - _FTHELREMIEEEAIL

responsibilities, listing rules and other relevant ordinances
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and performed by different
individuals.

The chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company
are currently two separate positions held by Mr. KM Luk and Mr. CL
Chan, respectively, with clear distinction in responsibilities. Mr. KM Luk
is responsible for devising strategies for the continuous development of
the Group, overseeing the Group’s business operations and financial
performance, as well as leading the Board in performing its functions while
Mr. CL Chan is responsible for managing the overall business operations
and executing business strategies of the Group.
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TERMS OF APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has signed a service agreement with
the Company for a term of three years and will continue thereafter until
terminated in accordance with terms of the agreement.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed the letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years, which may be
renewable subject to both parties’ agreement.

None of the Directors has a service agreement / letter of appointment
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition and
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-election
of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIRED STANDARD OF
DEALINGS IN SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions in the securities of the
Company.

The Company has made specific enquiries to all Directors about their
compliance with the required standard of dealings for the year ended 31
March 2023, without noticing any violation of the required standard.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of the Company,
including approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, risk management and internal control systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. Directors are provided with sufficient
resources to seek independent professional advice in performing their
duties at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and to
consult with the Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be
obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into
by the management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the collective
responsibility of the Directors which includes:

(a) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

(c) to develop, review and monitor the codes of conduct and
compliance manuals applicable to employees and the Directors;

(d)  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board
on such matters;

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report; and

[} to review and monitor the Company’s compliance with the
Company’s whistleblowing policy.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly, at
least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of
not less than 14 days are given for all regular Board meetings to provide
all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in the
agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice
is generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
despatched to the Directors or Board Committees members at least three
days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the papers and are adequately prepared for the meetings. When Directors
or Board Committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will be
advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to make
their views known to the chairman of the Board or the relevant Board
Committees prior to the meeting. Minutes of the meetings are kept by the
company secretary with copies circulated to all Directors to the relevant
Board Committees members for information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committees meetings are
recorded in sufficient details about the matters considered by the Board
and the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors or the Board Committees members.
Draft minutes of each Board meeting and Board Committee meeting are
sent to the Directors or the Board Committees members for comments
within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held.
Minutes of the Board meetings and the Board Committees are open for
inspection by Directors.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2022/23

fh\% E/nﬁgﬁ‘\g
EEERA  CEELRBESNRARE 85

@ I RERARREETEEREERTETHNK

RRER

) RITREREFLRSREEENFIRSGETER
=3

© HIE - REREFREARNEEREFNERTER
BRFM

@ FIERBHARBRNCEERRERER  THE
MEERESSROES

e BIARAREBTEEEARTINERREEE AR
EWEEER &

WA RERARABRETHERRIEENIER -

EZEEE

AATRMERRTEETE SR Z2ED  SEELBTH
REFH RNBFERT R - 2RESHMEEHES
E§§§E§é%¥¥%*ﬂ<d PIAREBR  SREFHREHFEEE
EREREHRIEARATHER -

FEMEFERERZEGEAME  —REVHAER
MHEA - eRERRENERe XM ES R A ED
“RFRTEEREZLZEHENE  IRREREERER
M= AT RED Eﬁﬁ%é% HWEEHEEZRE
GRERELFEEE  ARESEESTHRNEETRR
Emmﬁmﬁ%AﬁA§$Aim%é$*éngﬁ@
WENER - FRACHEARANERT - IABR2RE
EREREFZE X EMEN  AHSBREH -

B N EET R RS aN NN RNRES
BEREEZEEMEENZTERMERNRE - BFEF
AEEZEENERENENHE - SEEZESHRNRE
ERECERNERCHERERERBTRHRNAE
HEANTEESEFHEFTZEENE  MHESREE
R-BEFghEFREINERCHRAHRESSER -



Corporate Governance Report
EEERRE

BOARD MEETINGS (CONTINUED)

During the Reporting Period, seven board meetings and one general
meeting were held and the attendance of each Director at these meetings is
set out in the table below:

g {6 )
REREHE HBETEREFEEE R ABRRRE - &
EFRUEERNHREBERER TR -

Board meeting(s) General meeting(s)

Directors Attended/Held Attended/Held
BHiE TE8IT ek BT
BE EXEER BRERXE
Executive Directors: HITES:
Mr. LUK Kam Ming RS AR o 777 1/1
Mr. CHAN Chak Lun Philip BRI B S & 7/7 1/1
Mr. LUK Kwai Lung BEEELLE 77 11
Mr. LUK Yin Cheung EEELE 7/7 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors: BYFPITES :
Mr. LAU On Kwok BB E 77 11
Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen EoKESRE 7/7 1/1
Dr. TSE Chi Kong HERIEL 7/7 1/1
Mr. YU Wing Lok Garry (note) RoKEESE & (MTaE) 3/3 N/A @A

Note: Mr. Yu Wing Lok Garry was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
on 1 November 2022 and there were three Board Meetings held after his
appointment. He was appointed after the AGM of the Company held on 5 August
2022,

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. LAU On
Kwok (chairman), Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen and Dr. TSE Chi Kong, all of
them are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@) to review the relationship with the Auditor by reference to the work
performed by the Auditor, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the Auditor;

(b) to review the financial statements and reports and consider
any significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff
responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or the Auditor before submission to the Board;
and

(c) to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, risk management and internal control
systems and associated procedures, including the adequacy of the
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions, as well as those relating to the Company's ESG
performance and reporting.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee had five meetings and two of the meetings with the
Company’s external auditor during the Reporting Period.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Audit Committee (continued)
During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee discussed and reviewed
on the following matters:

() the audit plan for the Reporting Period;

(b) the final results of the Group for the Reporting Period as well as the
audit report prepared by the Auditor relating to accounting issues
and major findings in course of audit;

() the financial reporting system, compliance procedures, (including
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function), and the re-appointment of the Auditor;

(d)  the quarterly results of the Group for three months ended 30 June
2022;

(e) the interim results of the Group for six months ended 30 September
2022; and

(f) the quarterly results of the Group for nine months ended 31
December 2022.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises four members, namely
Mr. LUK Kam Ming (chairman), Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen, Dr. TSE
Chi Kong and Mr. YU Wing Lok Garry, the majority of the committee is
comprised by independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

(@  to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships;

(c) to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

(d)  to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and the succession planning for Directors,
in particular the chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or incumbent on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time and
effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The recommendations of
the Nomination Committee will then be put to the Board for decision.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Policy on Directors Nomination

The Company has adopted a nomination policy stating the process and
criteria to select and recommend candidates for directorship during
the Reporting Period. In identifying suitable candidate qualified to
become Board members, the Nomination Committee shall consider the
attributes complementary to the Board, business experience and Board
Expertise and skills, availability, motivation, integrity and independence of
candidates.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee had three
meetings to discuss, review and make recommendations to the Board on
the following matters:

() the appointment of a new independent non-executive Director;

(b) the amendments to the terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee;

(c) the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board;

(d) the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and
(e) the re-appointments of the retiring Directors.

Board Diversity Policy
The Board has adopted a board diversity policy, a summary of which is
set out below:

(@) with a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development;

(o) in designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

(c) all Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board;

(d)  selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board;

(e) the Nomination Committee will report annually, in the Corporate
Governance Report, on the Board’s composition under diversified
perspectives, and monitor the implementation of the board diversity
policy; and

(M) the Nomination Committee will review the board diversity policy
annually, to ensure the effectiveness of the board diversity policy.
The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may
be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Board Diversity Policy (continued)

During the Reporting Period, the Board, through the Nomination
Committee, has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
board diversity policy and confirm that the Board has an appropriate mix
of skills and experience to deliver the Company’s strategy.

The Board is comprised of eight male Directors. The Nomination
Committee has formulated a gender diversity plan for the Board,
recommending the appointment of at least one female director in 2024.
The Company will use its best endeavours to ensure the principle of
board and gender diversity is integrated into the recruitment processes
of suitable candidates for the Board and of the Company’s employees to
ensure there shall be a pipeline of potential successors to the Board and
to its workforce while maintaining the existing board and gender diversity.

Of the approximately 190 employees (including senior management) of the
Group as at 31 March 2023, approximately 35 are female. Accordingly,
the Company considers that gender diversity is also achieved in its
workforce generally.

In order to ensure that independent views and input of the Independent
non-Executive Directors are made available to the Board, the Nomination
Committee and the Board are committed to assess the Directors’
independence annually with regards to all relevant factors related to the
Independent non-Executive Directors including the following:

() required character, integrity, expertise, experience and stability to
fuffill their roles;

(b) time commitment and attention to the Company’s affairs;

(c) firm commitment to their independent roles and to the Board;

(d) declaration of conflict of interest in their roles as independent non-
executive Directors;

(e) no involvement in the daily management of the Company nor in any
relationship or circumstances which would affect the exercise of

their independent judgement; and

f) the Chairman meets with the Independent non-executive Directors
regularly without the presence of the Executive Directors.

All Directors are entitled to seek advice the independent professional
advisors at the Company’s expenses.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three members, namely
Dr. TSE Chi Kong (chairman), Mr. LAU On Kwok and Mr. LUK Kam Ming,
the majority of the committee is comprised by independent non-executive
Directors.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the following:

(@  to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s overall
policy and structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(b)  to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the corporate goals and objectives determined by
the Board, and assess performance of executive Directors and the
terms of their service agreements;

(c) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management.
These include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment;

(d)  to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

(e) to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration; and

) to ensure that share options/share awards offered by the Company
or its principal subsidiary (if any) are in accordance with Chapter 23
of the GEM Listing Rules, as applicable.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee had three
meetings to discuss, review and make recommendations to the Board on
the following matters:

() Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Company;

(o) the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors of the
Company;

(c) the appointment and remuneration of the new independent non-
executive Director; and

(d)  the amendments to the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Particulars of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
individuals during the Reporting Period are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements. Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the
CG Code, the remuneration of the members of the senior management
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(including Company Secretary and excluding the Directors) whose B4R RIE 2 B0 Zr S S AT

particulars are contained in the section headed “Directors and Senior

Management” in this Report for the Reporting Period by band is set out

below:

Remuneration band (in HK$) Number of individuals
FENAR B (B T) A
Not exceeding HK$1,000,000 ~iB3B1,000,0007 7T 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001# 721,500,000/ 7T 1
Risk Management Committee EREEEES

The Risk Management Committee comprises six members, namely Mr.
LAW Wing Chi Stephen (chairman), Mr. CHAN Chak Lun Philip, Mr. LAU
On Kwok, Mr. LUK Kwai Lung, Mr. LUK Yin Cheung and Mr. YU Wing Lok

Garry.

The principal duties of the Risk Management Committee include the
following:

(@)

to review the Group’s risk management system, including risk,
capital and liquidity management framework, the Group’s risk
tolerance capability, its risk policies and standards, and relevant
risk limits, including the parameters used and the methodology
adopted, and the processes used for identifying and assessing
risks;

to approve risk policies and standards, referring any new material
policies/standards or material changes to existing policies/
standards/limits to the Board for approval;

to discuss the risk management system with the management
and ensure that the management has performed its duties to
establish an effective system. The contents to be discussed
include the Company’s resources for risk management, adequacy
of qualifications and experiences of the employees, as well as
adequacy of training courses and relevant budgets available to the
employees;

to review material risk exposures of the Group, including market,
credit, insurance, operational, liquidity, and economic and regulatory
capital risks against the Group’s risk measurement methodologies
and management actions to monitor and control such exposures;

to review annually the changes, since the last annual review, in the
nature and extent of significant risks (including ESG risks), and the
Company’s ability to respond to changes in its business and the
external environment; and

to review annually the effectiveness of the Company’s processes
for financial reporting and compliance of the Listing Rules.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Risk Management Committee (continued)
The written terms of reference of the Risk Management Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Risk Management Committee had two meetings during the Reporting
Period to discuss and review the amendments of the terms of reference
of risk management committee, risk management policy, internal control
manual, internal audit plan, internal audit report, risk management and
internal control systems.

ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT VARIOUS BOARD
COMMITTEE MEETINGS
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RERZBEMN S mBERHE N
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B’\#&iﬁﬁfﬁ RRERE S G817
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?FH% WEBE XA &l - REPEZ

EEHIE -
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Number of meetings attended/held

HE/BTEERH
Audit Nomination Remuneration Risk
Committee Committee Committee Management
Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Committee Meeting
= ERZEEER REZEEEE FHEEEeE EREEZESES
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. LUK Kam Ming e BAsE & - 3/3 3/3 =
Mr. GHAN Chak Lun Philip BROZM & - - - 2/2
Mr. LUK Kwai Lung EEEREE = - - 2/2
Mr. LUK Yin Cheung BE¥LE = - - 22
Independent Non-Executive Directors ~ BYFHTEES
Mr. LAU On Kwok BB k& 5/5 = 3/3 2/2
Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen BXERE 5/5 3/3 - 2/2
Dr. TSE Chi Kong HEREL 5/5 3/3 3/3 =
Mr. YU Wing Lok Garry (Note) RAKBESE (W7E) - 11 - 1/1

Note:  Mr. Yu Wing Lok Garry was appointed as a member of each of the Nomination
Committee and the Risk Management Committee on 1 November 2022 and there
were one Nomination Committee meeting and one Risk Management Committee
meeting held after his appointment.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING
IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the Reporting Period which give a true and fair view of the
affairs of the Group and of the Group’s results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the
Board for approval. The Company provides all members of the Board with
monthly updates on Group’s performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concemn.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities on
the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in the
independent auditor’s report on pages 56 to 60 of this Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is its responsibility to ensure that the
Company establishes and maintains sound risk management and internal
control systems within the Group and to review the effectiveness of
the systems. Such systems are designed to manage and mitigate risks
inherent in the Group’s business faced by the Group to an acceptable
level, but not eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable assurance against material misstatement,
loss or fraud.

The Board has entrusted the Risk Management Committee with the
responsibility to oversee the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group on an on-going basis and to review the effectiveness of
the systems annually. The annual review covered all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls.

Under the Company’s risk management and internal control structure,
the management is responsible for the design, implementation and
maintenance of risk management and internal control systems to
ensure, amongst others, (i) appropriate policies and control procedures
have been designed and established to safeguard the Group’s assets
against improper use or disposal; (i) relevant laws, rules and regulations
are adhered to and complied with; and (iii) that reliable financial and
accounting records are maintained in accordance with relevant accounting
standards and regulatory reporting requirements.

No significant control failings or weaknesses were identified during the
Reporting Period.

The main features of risk management an intemal control structure of the
Company is as follows:

() heads of each operation unit or department manage major risks
affecting the Group’s businesses and operations through the
processes of risk identification, risk assessment and implementation
of risk mitigation measures in accordance with the internal
guidelines approved by the Board and the Risk Management
Committee;

(o) the management ensures appropriate actions are taken on major
risks affecting the Group’s businesses and operations; and

() internal auditors provide independent assurance to the Board, the
Risk Management Committee and the management concerning the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems.

During the Reporting Period, major works performed by the management
in relation to risk management and internal control include the following:

(@) reviewed the progress of the implementation of the mitigation plan
for the major risks identified for the year ended 31 March 2022;

(o)  discussed and reviewed the risks at corporate level for Reporting

Period; and incorporated the changes made on them into risk
register for risk assessment;
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (CONTINUED)

(c) conducted an annual review on effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, covering
all material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls; and

(d) reported the results of the risk assessment and internal audit to the
Risk Management Committee and the Board.

Based on the findings of the internal audit and the comments of the Risk
Management Committee, the Board considered that the risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate.

INSIDE INFORMATION DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company has established a policy on the handling and dissemination
of inside information (“Inside Information”). The inside information policy
concerns the handling and the dissemination of the Inside Information as
follows:

(a) subject to the availability of a safe harbor exception, Inside
Information must be disclosed to public as soon as reasonably
practicable;

(o) executive Directors and senior management should identify events
and/or developments which may constitute Inside Information and
report to the Board to consider whether they may constitute Inside
Information requiring disclosure;

(c) until an announcement in relation to the Inside Information is made,
the Company shall ensure the Inside Information is kept strictly
confidential; and

(d) If the Company believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality
cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have been
breached, an announcement shall be made as soon as reasonably
practicable.

Inside Information is announced on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy facilitating the Shareholders
and investors to make informed investment decisions relating to the
Company during the Reporting Period. In considering whether to
propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board
shall consider the following factors before declaring or recommending
dividends:

(@) the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

(o) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

(c) the Group’s working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans;

(d) the Group’s liquidity position;

(e) business conditions and strategies;
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DIVIDEND POLICY (CONTINUED)
(f) future operations and earnings;

(¢)} reasonable return in investment to the Shareholders and investors;
and

(h)  other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

Declaration and payment of dividend by the Company shall also subject to
any restrictions under the Cayman Islands laws, any applicable laws, rules
and regulations, any restrictions that may be imposed by the Group’s
lenders, if any and the Articles of Associations.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by the
Auditor to the Group during the Reporting Period was as follows:

Type of Services

IR B BUK ()
M  RERERAEF

@ BEREREMREFRENSEDR &

h EFETAERRBRAENEGEER-
ARFERRZNRETRFETHEREERE - EHER
ER - RAFRPIERRS - REEEE T AN E
aIBR & () RABERMA -

BB A E A

RREHRE - KB EAEBERENEZFIFERRGH
FHmT

Amount (HK$’000)

RAsER SE(THET)
Audit services EIZRT 1,760
Non-audit services (note) AL R (Wat) 99

Note:  During the Reporting Period, the Group has engaged the Auditor and their affiliate
companies to provide non-audit services which include (i) tax service, (i) agreed-
upon procedure engagements, and (iij) other assurance engagement for retirement
scheme.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Madam Woo, the company secretary of the Company, is responsible for
advising the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring that
the Board policies and procedures, as well as the applicable laws, rules
and regulations are followed.

During the Reporting Period, Madam Woo have undertaken not less than
15 hours of relevant professional training respectively in compliance with
Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and understanding of the
Group’s business, performance and strategies. The Company also
recognises the importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of
information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to make the
informed investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provide opportunity for the
Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors. The chairman of
the Company and the chairmen of the Board Committees will attend the
AGMs to answer Shareholders’ questions. The Auditor will also attend the
AGMs to answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation
and content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor
independence.
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SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT AND INVESTOR RELATIONS
(CONTINUED)

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
Shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a two-
way relationship and communication between the Company and the
Shareholders and maintains a website of the Company at www.kml.com.
hk, where up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations
and developments, financial information, corporate governance practices
and other information are available for public access.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders’ communication
policy. The Company is of the view that the Shareholders’ communication
policy of the Company has facilitated sufficient shareholders’
communication and considered the policy is effective and adequate.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution will
be proposed for each issue at general meetings, including the election of
individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner
after each general meeting.

Convening of extraordinary general meeting and putting forward
proposals

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a general
meeting of the Company according to the Articles of Association. Any
one or more members holding as at date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or company secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting of the Company
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures
are available on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries to the Company
could send it by following means for the attention of the Company
Secretary:

By post: B12, G/F., Shatin Industrial Centre, Siu Lek Yuen Road,
Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong.
By email: iro@kml.com.hk

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Memorandum and Articles of Association
during the Reporting Period.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B RS

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY::

To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of KML Technology
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 61 to 131, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2B ERE

To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Key audit matter

Contract revenue from and contract costs of Transportation
Mission Critical System Solutions, Mobile Ticketing and Digital
Payment Solutions and Services and Mechanical and Electrical
("M&E") Technology Solutions and Engineering Services

For the year ended 31 March 2023, aggregate amounts of the Group’s
revenue and costs recognised in (i) Transportation Mission Critical System
Solutions, (i) Mobile Ticketing and Digital Payment Solutions and Services
and (i) M&E Technology Solutions and Engineering Services contracts
were HK$124,646,000 and HK$125,264,000, respectively.

Revenue from these services is recognised over time and the input
method is adopted to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of
services. The input method recognises revenue based on the proportion
of the actual costs incurred relative to the budget contract costs for
satisfaction of these services.

The budget contract costs are prepared based on management’s
estimates, such as estimation of direct labour costs to be incurred and
quotations provided by the major contractors, suppliers or vendors
involved.

Significant estimation is involved and uncertainty exists in determining the
budget contract costs recognised for contract works.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3, 4 and 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
QOur procedures included:

. Obtaining from management an understanding of the budget
contract costs and how the budget contract costs were evaluated;

o Obtaining the breakdown of budget contract costs and, on a
sample basis, evaluating management’s estimation of the budget
contract costs;

. Recalculating the revenue recognised with reference to the contract
costs incurred for the work performed to date relative to the total
budget contract costs; and

. Checking the contract costs incurred to the amounts of costs
recorded in the direct labour costs, subcontractor payment
certificates and supplier invoices, on a sample basis.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B RS

To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZH RS

To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B RS

To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is CHIU, Caroline Su Yuen.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

19 June 2023
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For the yearended 31 March 2023 BZE-Z_=F=A=+—HILFE

REVENUE
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Other gains and losses, net

Impairment losses on financial assets and
contract assets, net of reversal

Administrative expenses

Finance costs

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Income tax credit/(expense)

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AND TOTAL
COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME FOR THE
YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

Basic

Diluted

Yoz
SHERA

EM
HABYA
HAtWeas K B 1R

ERMEERANEERERR

N EE
AR

RERMA

BB (B18), R
FifgBES,/ (B3)

£ (RF18), HFIA RARF)

HAANEEFAZE
(B8, Mz

ARAREBES A ARG
R (B1R),BF

E-N

idated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-F

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
F=E FHET FHT
5 153,409 162,559
(143,523) (118,040

9,886 44,519

6 7,326 6,526
6 (733) 701
33 (5,221) (109)
(43,479) (41,748)
7 (178) (236)
9 (32,399) 9,653
10 177 (1,768)
(32,222) 7,885

12

HK(8.03) cents
(8.03)&L

HK1.97 cents
1.977811

HK(8.03) cents
(8.03)7&1lL

HK1.96 cents
1.9674(1l

EHEREEEBRAT e — B/ "=FFK
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e BB ER

At31 March 2023 HR=-T—_=F#=A=+—H

2023 2022
—EBC-=H —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B s FHT FHT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EMBEE
Property, plant and equipment L EN Y S 13 4,868 4,705
Right-of-use assets EREEE 14(a) 9,154 6,224
Deposits b 17 948 1,011
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BEARBEFABENEREE 15 6,214 5,913
Total non-current assets ERBNVEELLTR 21,184 17,853
CURRENT ASSETS mENEE
Inventories FE 236 237
Trade receivables H 5 e RIE 16 29,000 50,974
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HMEWRRIE Rk
FETFRIE 17 7,749 6,225
Contract assets BHEE 18 43,952 47,930
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BARBERABENESREE 15 1,588 1,323
Tax recoverable Al e B E 1,998 2,841
Pledged bank deposits BEMIBITFRK 20 14,004 13,837
Time deposits with original maturity over REFHBBE=MAN
three months TEHFR 20 12,925 16,629
Bank balances and cash RITHEHBRIA S 20 74,021 75,397
Total current assets REVEEEEE 185,473 215,393
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEEE
Trade and retention payables B RNFIBREMNMRES 21 10,115 8,643
Other payables and accruals HAb e RE R IERT B A 22 13,863 11,536
Lease liabilities HEamE 14(b) 5,837 6,190
Contract liabilities aHaE 19 7,612 17,053
Provision for contract works EHTIREE 23 16,169 =
Tax payable FERBITE - 246
Total current liabilities mEN B EEE 53,596 43,668
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEBEEFE 131,877 171,725
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES WEERREEE 153,061 189,578
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 14(p) 3,322 130
Deferred tax liabilities REFIEAE 24 95 21
Total non-current liabilities EmEBERE 3,417 151
Net assets BEFE 149,644 189,427
EQUITY e
Share capital % 26 4,050 4,025
Reserves G 145,594 185,402
Total equity e 149,644 189,427
Mr. Luk Kam Ming Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip
PESERR SR BRZB L
Director Director
EE EZE

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2022/23
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MERRBER

For the yearended 31 March 2023 HE—Z-_=F=A=t+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FARER AR
Shares held
under the Share-based
Share Share share award payment Other Accumulated Total
capital premium scheme reserve reserves profits equity

BROED  URGA
SHEET HBAR
B REE HENRG W HRE Fahadl arEs
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThL TATL Th TATL TAL Fhr TAT
(note 38)  (notes 37, 38) (note 27)
(Witae) (fizzar-38)  (HtEen)

At 1 April 2021 “E--%#NA-H 4,025 40,507 (825) 920 14,791 132,393 191,811
Profit for the year and total comprehensive  FREFRFAZ ANEEE

income for the year - - - - - 7,885 7,885
Equity-settled share option amangements BB BIRIEZ B (1i237)

(hote 37) - - - 57 - - 57
Purchases of shares for the share award BERN ZEEHEPORN

scheme (note 39) (Hii236) - - 9 - - = 9
Equity-settled share award arrangements A& RAEEZH

(ot 36) (H3138) - - - 592 - = 592
Forfeiture of share options (ofe 37) R RE 757) - - - (143) = 143 =
Forfeiture of share awards (note 38) YR 128 (Wi 3s) S = = 96) = 96 =
Vesting of shares under share award R RBEESRRG (Hi238)

scheme (hote 38 - - 125 (125) - - -
Dividend paid BRRE - (10,909) - - - = (10,909)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R-B-—#=fA=1+-BR

“E--4MA-H 4,025 29,598* (709)* 1,205* 14,791* 140,517* 189,427

Loss for the year and total comprenensive ~ EREBRENZAERES

oss for the year - - - - - (32,222) (32,222)
Issuance of new shares for BITRRID SRR Bl MO RRRR D

share award scheme (10te 26) (Wit26) 25 - (25) - - - -
Purchases of shares for the share award BRI BB B AR

scheme (ot 36) (H7#238) - - (44) S = = (44)
Equity-settled share award arrangements A ER B BB H

(ot 36) (H3138) - - - 494 - - 494
Forfeiture of share awards (note 38) SRURR 1D 1RE) (H258) - - - (1) - 4 -
Viesting of shares under share award i BN BB BRI (Hr238)

scheme (note 36) - - 391 (391) - - -
Dividend paid BERRE - (8,011) - - - - 8,011)
At 31 March 2023 RZZ-=#=A=t-H 4,050 21,587* (387)* 1,267* 14,791* 108,336* 149,644

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$145,594,000 * HE R E BIESRER AR MRS (#1145,594,0007%8
(2022: HK$185,402,000 ) in the consolidated statement of financial position. TL(ZZT =4 : 185,402,00047T) ©
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HERERER

Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 BE-—T—_=F=A=+—HILFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax
Adjustments for:

KETBFMEENHASRE

BELAT (B518) 5T

FTYIERE

Bank interest income RITFEWA

Dividends received from listed investments B L miRE IR E

Interest income from financial assets at fair value BARBERrABENSREE
through profit or loss SRR ON

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment &Y% - BE MEE R

Gain on termination of a lease contract wiE—AEE R

Written off of trade payables WEHE SN RIA

Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets at fair value X AR ETABENSREEN
through profit or loss NAE ), EE

Covid-19-related rent concessions from a lessor RE—% AR Covid-19

HARLER
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W - BB REEITE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE

REm i E R BER X
TEREE RO BB
ERMEERANEERERRE -

Equity-settled share option expenses
Equity-settled share award expenses
Impairment losses on financial assets and contract

assets, net of reversal HBREE
Finance costs BERAR
Decrease in inventories FERD

Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables B I RMERIER D, (5N

Increase in other receivables, HMEWGRIE - ke RFERFIA
deposits and prepayments 5

Decrease in contract assets BHEERD

Increase in trade and retention payables B S ENRIBREMNRE M

Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals ~ E I FRIE K B+

@,/ (Rd)

Decrease in contract liabilities AHEBERD

Increase in provision for contract works BHTRERELM

Cash generated from operations LIEBEMEERES

Interest paid for lease payments BERHAERFFIE

Income tax refunded/(paid) BiR,/ (B F5H

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities e ESREE (FTR)®
RemeFeE

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2022/23

2023 2022

—E-=F —EC-CF

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt FExT FHT
(32,399) 9,653
6 (1,843) (267)
6 (63) -
6 (337) (329)
6 - (155)
6 7) -
6 = (5,002)
9 (31) 180
14(p) (67) (11)
9 2,118 2,037
9 6,177 6,049
37 - 57
38 494 592
33 5,221 109
7 178 236
(20,559) 13,149

1 42

18,363 (10,520)

(1,455) (1,409)

2,368 16,116

1,472 946

2,567 (1,045)

(9,441) (15,264)

16,169 =

9,485 2,015

(167) (236)

917 (4,867)

10,235 (3,088)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
mEREeRER (E)

For the yearended 31 March 2023 HE—Z-_=F=A=t+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EBC=F —T-_F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 FEx FHEL
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES BERMEENRESRE
Interest received BUFRLE 1,913 382
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWXE - BEREE (2,281) (931)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and LEWE - BERZEHFTERIE
equipment - 234
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through BERAABEFABRNECHEE
profit or loss (9,689) (19,893)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HEE Vﬂﬁﬁ]\?ﬁéﬁ’\]ﬁ%ﬂﬁ@
at fair value through profit or loss TSR 9,169 18,393
Withdrawal of time deposits with original maturity REUREIE EI BB =8 A KT
over three months T% 60,329 40,140
Placement of time deposits with original maturity GFAREIHBBAE=MANTH
over three months TR (56,625) (51,679)
Increase in pledged bank deposits BB RITF G M (167) (1)
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities REEHMEL,/ (FTA) &
ReneFE 2,649 (13,365)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEFSMEENRESRE
New bank loan HIRTTER 1,000 -
Repayment of bank loan ERIBITER (1,000) =
Purchases of shares for share award scheme ﬁ%“éjﬂx@”ﬁ@?zﬂ‘? )E5) 38 (44) )
Principal portion of lease payments HENRHESH 35(b) (6,194) (6,033)
Dividends paid BRE (8,011) (10,909)
Interest paid BRFE (11) -
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEFHMANASREFE (14,260) (16,951)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 34 R4 Z /YR FE (1,376) (33,404)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FUR e RREEEY 75,397 108,801
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR, FAXRIR&REELZEY -
represented by bank balances and cash RIBITEBR IR ST 74,021 75,397
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R

Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 BE-—T—_=F=A=+—HILFE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. 2ARREEER
KML Technology Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability SHEEEEEERAF((RATF]) A—HRFSE
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The registered office SEMEZHBR AR o ARA R A MR R
address of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box ik ACricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681,
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands ° 2"
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is located at B12, AIRBEBNEELEEMUI AT BT ALY B/ NERRE
G/F, Shatin Industrial Centre, Siu Lek Yuen Road, Shatin, New DHIEP O TBI2E o
Territories, Hong Kong.
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and its RARMEBEBAREERERENB AR (HHEA
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally [REE]) TZRFRMUME (BB TEFEAFTR
engaged in the provision of mechanical and electrical (“M&E”) KPR o
engineering solutions and services.
Information about subsidiaries EEMBARNER
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023 are ARRRZE_=ZF=A=+—HZWBLRFE
as follows: Ul
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration registered  attributable to the Company
and business share capital KARELERE AL
Name AWK/ BER BRTLER/ Direct Indirect Principal activities
£ BRE R E# 5F TEEH
Directly held:
EERE
KML Group (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% = Investment holding
(“BVI")/Hong Kong
KML Group (BVI) Limited EBRAHE ((ARE e 100% - REEK
aBBl) /BE
KML eCommerce (BVI) Limited BVI US$1 100% = Investment holding
KML eCommerce (BVI) Limited RERTHS E 100% - RBER
Indirectly held:
BiERE -
KML Engineering Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 - 100% Provision of professional M&E
(‘KML Engineering’) system engineering services
for railway and road transport
infrastructure projects and sales of
parts and components
ERRRIERERAA BE 10,000,000% ¢ - 100% REBRRAERBARER
([BHNEIR)) RUZERIZRTIRRER
HETH R
KML Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$3,020,000 = 100% Provision of professional M&E
system engineering services
for railway and road transport
infrastructure projects
BHNEERAR BB 3,020,000/ 7 - 100% RERRARTBERER
RUZERIZRTIRRS
KML Capitals Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100% Investment on financial assets
BHREBRAR B 10,000/87C - 100% SRHTARE
€2B Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100% Dormant
2B Limited BA 10,000 7T - 100% ET)

KMLTechnology Group Limited

Annual Report 2022/23



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2023 BE—T_=4F=A=+—HILFE

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss which
have been measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended
31 March 2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has, directly or indirectly,
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
() the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

2.1

AR

AU BRERDBEEEGFNAS ((FBEEHA
B RO F B BREER ([ FEBMBRELER])
(BREMBETAUBHREER - BEEHEMN(ER
SRR KRR BELARSHREEERA
GO ERERE - RERARBEFABENEE
BECEAABEFEIN  AMBHRIRIBELK
FEGIRE - RUMBHERDIUELT((EBR]) 28
BEEEAN  ESEONEEREANTT

RERE
REVBBRREEARARENBLARAHRE T
TZF=A=t+-HALFEZRBRE - WBAR
REARFERRFEZFHNER (RIEERER) -
AEERSEREHEGMANKERESTER
o BREBHREHRTERNFEDR BIARE
EERBERMNERBAIULARELRAEBER)
B - R A G -

R—RIERN THFES BER BRIV RIEIRE 2 #
E o WARFERXEEREREHREEERA
DUHERIT B8 AEBEFHRTHREYHRER
N §EEMEEREERIBER - 845

@) HEHREMEFEFEANGOREE

b) EbAHNZFEENEN Kk
© AEENREELEERERE -

B A FE A EARE — R E A BORREF —H
SHRNPB®RE - MEBRRNESEBRNEERSG
Tz BRGE AR ITHESRa AREEME
HERIEERBILE

BEakAt2EERNSERED SHENARE
BRRHEAAREERELD  BEESSEOHER
R ERIREEM - BRAKREKEARBERIHH
AERERNEERAE #am WA - FXAKE
DREBRFE NIRRT BSEH -

8

fHEERIERBER Ll =B HI R RN — R Z A
HBREE  ARESEHNIEATEETEGIREY
R o WEAKIEGIRNMNBRREEEREREEHIA
EE e UN
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 BE-—T—_=F=A=+—HILFE

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount
of any non-controlling interest and (jii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained
and (i) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s
share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or accumulated profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group
has directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equjpment:
Proceeds before Intended use
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling a
Contract
Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
HKFRSs 2018-2020 lllustrative Examples accompanying

HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(@) Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to the previous
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”)
issued in June 2018 without significantly changing its
requirements. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an
exception to its recognition principle for an entity to refer to
the Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes an
asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for liabilities
and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of
HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred separately
rather than assumed in a business combination, an entity
applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent
assets do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date.
The Group has applied the amendments prospectively to
business combinations that occurred on or after 1 April
2022. As there were no business combinations during the
year, the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2022/23
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2.2
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2023 BE—T_=4F=A=+—HILFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

()

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds
from selling any such items, and the cost of those items
as determined by HKAS 2 /nventories, in profit or loss. The
Group has applied the amendments retrospectively to items
of property, plant and equipment made available for use
on or after 1 April 2021. Since there was no sale of items
produced prior to the property, plant and equipment being
available for use, the amendments did not have any impact
on the financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the
cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate
directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract
include both the incremental costs of fulfiling that contract
(e.g., direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other
costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property,
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well as
contract management and supervision costs). General and
administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and
are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the
counterparty under the contract. The Group has applied the
amendments prospectively to contracts for which it has not
yet fulfilled all its obligations at 1 April 2022 and no onerous
contracts were identified as at 1 April 2022. Therefore,
the amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendment that is applicable to the Group are as follows:

o HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees
that an entity includes when assessing whether
the terms of a new or modified financial liability are
substantially different from the terms of the original
financial liability. These fees include only those paid
or received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the borrower
or lender on the other’s behalf. The Group has applied
the amendment prospectively from 1 April 2022. As
there was no modification or exchange of the Group’s
financial liabilities during the year, the amendment
did not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

22 EFEERNEBREE (&)

)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

mE BRI

For the yearended 31 March 2023 HE—Z-=F=A=t+—HILFE

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between

and HKAS 28 (2011) an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture®
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'

Amendments to HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’®

Amendment to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17
and HKFRS 9 - Comparative
Information®

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current (the “2020
Amendments”f

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”f

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statements 2

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Definition of Accounting Estimates’
Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2024
& No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
. As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of the

2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024. In addition, as a consequence of the 2020 Amendments
and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the
corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

G As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October
2020, the effective date of HKFRS 17 was deferred to 1 January 2023,
and HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that
permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods
beginning before 1 January 2023

© An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the
classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial
application of HKFRS 17

70 KML Technology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2022/23
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2023 BE—T_=4F=A=+—HILFE

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs (CONTINUED)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below:

(@)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain
or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the
investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January
2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined
after the completion of a broader review of accounting for
associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, in particular
the determination over whether an entity has a right to defer
settlement of the liabilities for at least 12 months after the
reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by
the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement of the liability. The amendments also clarify the
situations that are considered a settlement of a liability. In
2022, the HKICPA issued the 2022 Amendments to further
clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification of
that liability as current or non-current. In addition, the 2022
Amendments require additional disclosures by an entity
that classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements
as non-current when it has a right to defer settlement of
those liabilities that are subject to the entity complying
with future covenants within 12 months after the reporting
period. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. An entity that
applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply
simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments
and whether existing loan agreements may require revision.
Based on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZEZZT=—=
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs (CONTINUED)

(d)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement
2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the
concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.
Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier application is
permitted. Since the guidance provided in the amendments
to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an
effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The
Group is currently revisiting the accounting policy disclosures
to ensure consistency with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. The amendments are effective for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and apply to changes in accounting policies and
changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the
start of that period. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a
deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The amendments are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023 and shall be applied to transactions related
to leases and decommissioning obligations at the beginning
of the earliest comparative period presented, with any
cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or other component of equity
as appropriate at that date. In addition, the amendments
shall be applied prospectively to transactions other than
leases and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2023 BE—T_=4F=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets,
and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.

The Group recognises in relation to its interest in a joint operation:

o its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;

. its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred
jointly;

o its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising

from the joint operation;

o its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the
joint operation; and

o its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred
jointly.

The assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to
the Group’s interest in a joint operation are accounted for in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 BE-—T—_=F=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
contract assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher
of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-
generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of
a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i)
(i
(i

or

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

U

(i)

(i

(iv)

(vi)

(vil)

(viil)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 BE-—T—_=F=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of the lease terms and 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20%

Plant and machinery 20%
Computer equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
Cruiser 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new projects is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Project development expenditure which does not
meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2023 BE—T_=4F=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

@

®)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Office premises 1.5to 3 years
Warehouse 2 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the
lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are separately disclosed in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

BEASTHBEBE ()

HE

AEENAORREFEAOREREESEEH
& - WA RBBREMS TE - BRFRAZEFE
HRAECANERN  AzatEEXesH

o

FEBIEBFHEN
AEEY A E (A R EEEEERER
50 RIS — BB B - AEEERHEERE
MBI - it A it i &
7 -

@ EHREEE
EREEENHEMMKB R (ENEREERH#
oA RY B HR) FERR o (6 AR B A AR A RUE ]
ZMEREMBERBENE  YHESR
BEMENAEELHE - FREEEZ
RABRCHEREVEAESE  ERHLEMNN
BEMARRARBRAR 2 2 BER
FOREWE 2 ERHEERE - FHREEEN
MPREEGHERFHAREERE) R

NEETEMT -
HATYE | 5T
B i

MR EBRSERNESEENHEARERER
SERARRIBEENTTE - FTERE
BEMNMGF A ERENTE -

b) HEEE
HEaEREERMMBBRNERAER 2
HENFHBRERR - HENRBEBEENK
(BFEEE EE N ) B EMEREEER -
HURME — BB R 2 AT EE N R KIE
HRBERSREEERT SN 2EE - B
ENFMEEAEEABREITREEEE
BZITEE - WMAEHRR T REETRR
P RIARAR L E AR - W 3E
BURM R — 8 B b & 7 r] SS9 S0 8%
EEBRNR EHIRR MR AR -

R EEENTRER  AREETES
ZMEAGEETE - AEE RN A SR B
EAHIEEERENEX - RHEKAREK - HE
BESESEN - URBRF SIS
MENKELTR - I - WhRENR B
H2g) HENFEE (WIEBE L BB EHPT
EEZARBENRES) BEREAEEZE
EEFGHEE  BEAENEREERTEN

HE

ﬁ% WEERENRAHBRARAES
2"

EHNMREEARAR « ZR 2/ Z=FFK

77



78

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 BE-—T—_=F=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of containers (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).
It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-
value assets to the containers that are considered to be of
low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for
as finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2023 BE—T_=4F=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are also recognised as other income in profit or loss when
the right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(*ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than
one year past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2023 BE—T_=4F=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and
contract assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain
a significant financing component or when the Group applies
the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at amortised cost, which are recognised initially at fair
value and net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and retention payables,
other payables and lease liabilities.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities at amortised cost are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

EXSBREME (@)

TREERE ()

— R TE ()

BRERA T LT AN E 5 B IR K & KV B E A
Sh - MEERAGENESRAEE - AR RIE
EITRE - YR THIREEADE  SHEREEER
B

F-HER — BV RERAREE R R 8RR
MEERBEAEER 128 AFERIE
EERSEENEMIA

"B — BYISHRAREERREZIENE
WIEERENSREENRLEBER
BARERGFEHENEEBESHE
FEMESRMIA

i

F=RER - RESEMAGEERE(ELIFEER
REERE) BEBEEEIEER
FEAEHEEERSFTENSH

BEB %

Y BEZEARERD X AEECEAATHEE
TETHABREZRERDZENE ZRUGREARE
WAEEMS  AEERAMHECHDETERRER
B8 - BIBZ % ARETEENREERR
H#E  MERNSHE R FENRNERERRE
RERE R -

THas

AL R R T2

RERERR  ©HAEHSBRRBHEKANE
ZeRBE  BAARERNBRERELERSKARIE
E;/A_’EEE/IL\ °

AEENERARBERESRNRARENRES
REAMENRIEREAER -

‘2

RO T HERIR - RBHRAENSRABBHERE
RERMEZERBHRAGTE - RIFRROTE
PR REBR TNRERRAINER - RILFER AR
R BERMNEREERETEENERERANE

2l
e ©

RET BB SR AR 2 B AU BT iR OB B A K A
REBFME O BERARAA - BRMEHIHER
BENDBBERA -

EHNMREEARAR « ZR 2/ Z=FFK

81



82

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 BE-—T—_=F=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired from the market
and held by the Company or the Group (treasury shares) under
the share award scheme of the Company are recognised directly
in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on
the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity
instruments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred to disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, and are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2023 BE—T_=4F=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included as finance costs in
profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the provision of
Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions, Mobile Ticketing
and Digital Payment Solutions and Services, M&E Technology
Solutions and Engineering Services and Sales of Products, Parts
and Components for general repairs of defects occurring during
the warranty period. Provisions for these assurance-type warranties
granted by the Group are recognised based on past experience of
the level of repairs and returns, discounted to their present values as
appropriate.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside
profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable
entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets
on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR Rk

For the yearended 31 March 2023 BE—T_=4F=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group with a significant
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under
the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of
the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a) Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions, Mobile
Ticketing and Digital Payment Solutions and Services and
M&E Technology Solutions and Engineering Services
Revenue from the provision of Transportation Mission Critical
System Solutions, Mobile Ticketing and Digital Payment
Solutions and Services and M&E Technology Solutions and
Engineering Services is generated from the design, supply
and installation of systems and implementation of these
services.

Revenue is recognised over time, using an input method
to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of
the service, because the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset
is created or enhanced. The input method recognises
revenue based on the proportion of the actual costs incurred
relative to the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the
construction services.

EXSBREME (@)

YRR

REEF &AM K
KERPAHNWENE BRI EEBZ =
BEFPHER  HEBRRAEEANARIMZEE
mk RIS B REESHRE -

=
=7

BANNREBETEESE RESEGLER/LE
EREFPEREMAMREMARBEMNKE - AJ&
REREHFRBREFEZIOR - EEHERER
AERENERTREN  REERRANREHE
BB R B O N ARATREE A -

EANESRERDANEFPRIER —FRER
EmRBETRENERNER - KBRS K
RN SRRENE - YEARBEXRUR - F
BERE R AEEREF A2 BYRERSH
Rt - BRHMBERMEXD L MASEERHEL—
FOERMEHERE - RIEESOERNREBHER
REBRFEEZHANEBRFANMNERS - WEP
SRR AR R R R RISE 2 B A —F A
AHEH  XZEEREEBEREERIF165%
ATHRERE  TEREARMERDNTE TR
# o

@ KBEAREGIEATE  RBREREUGL
ARG R RIRE R ERMAEA T RER T
FEARTE
RUBERRSBRATR  RBEBHLEK
5 S A ARR T B B R T6 R BRI AR 77
RTRERR% WK E ZMR&ET  HERR
KEAITRER

HRAEEZBOTRAERBR T EFPE
EERAERURFEENNEE - AUtA
SEBESHERREANE - XRBBAEF
BEXRERANNER - BAXREERE
R ANG TERGR E IR TS P B (AT AR AR B
Lo Pl s o

EHNMREEARAR « ZR 2/ Z=FFK

85



86

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 BE-—T—_=F=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(@)

Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions, Mobile
Ticketing and Digital Payment Solutions and Services

and M&E Technology Solutions and Engineering Services
(continueq)

Claims to customers are amounts that the Group seeks
to collect from the customers as reimbursement of costs
and margins for scope of works not included in the original
construction contract. Claims are accounted for as variable
considerations and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable considerations is subsequently
resolved. The Group uses the expected value method to
estimate the amounts of claims because this method best
predicts the amount of variable consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

Under the terms of contracts, the Group’s performance
creates and/or enhances the assets which the customers
control during the course of work by the Group. Revenue
from the provision of contracting services is therefore
recognised based on the stage of completion of contracts
over time using the input method. The Group normally
receives progress payment from customers on a monthly
basis with reference to the contract terms. The Group
requires certain customers to provide upfront deposits at
rates ranging from 5% to 20% of total contract sum. When
the Group receives a deposit before the project commences,
this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract
until the full amount of deposits is deducted proportionately
from monthly progress payment.

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to the same
contract, is recognised over the period in which these
services are performed and represents the Group’s right
to consideration for the services performed and not billed
because the rights are conditional on the Group’s future
performance accepted by the customers. The contract assets
are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional. The Group typically transfers its contract
assets to trade receivables when progress certificate/invoice
is issued.

Retention receivables, prior to the expiration of the
maintenance period which usually ranges from one to three
years from the date of the practical completion of the project,
are classified as contract assets. The relevant amount of
contract assets is reclassified to trade receivables when
the maintenance period expires, and/or the maintenance/
payment certificate is issued, and/or the final account is
issued.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2023 BE—T_=4F=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(b)  Provision of Digital Fabrication and Maintenance Services
Revenue from the provision of fabrication services is
generated from design and fabrication services for the
fabrication of made-to-order products for the customers.
Revenue is recognised at the point in time when control of
the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery
of the goods to specific locations and customers obtaining
control of the goods.

Revenue from the provision of maintenance services to the
customers’ facilities is recognised over time when services
are rendered during the contract period. The services are
billed based on the services performed.

(c) Sales of Proaducts, Parts and Components
Revenue from the sales of products, parts and components
is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset
is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the
goods to specific locations and customers obtaining control
of the materials.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods
or services transferred to the customer. If the Group performs by
transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer
pays consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional. Contract
assets are subject to impairment assessment, details of which are
included in the accounting policies for impairment of financial assets.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories and
property, plant and equipment, costs incurred to fulfil a contract
with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the following
criteria are met:

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

() The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to profit
or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to
the customer of the goods or services to which the asset relates.
Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 BE-—T—_=F=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payments

Share option scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services in
exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at
the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by
an external valuer using a binomial model, further details of which
are given in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as
at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to
be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2023 BE—T_=4F=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payments (continued)

Share option scheme (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either
the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award
is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Shares held under the share award scheme

Where shares of the Company are gifted or purchased from the
open market for the share award scheme, the fair value at the date
of gifting or consideration paid, including any directly attributable
incremental costs, respectively, is presented as “Shares held under
the share award scheme” and deducted from equity. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Other employee benefits

Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s employer
voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the
employee leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully,
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Exempted
ORSO retirement benefit scheme (the “ORSO Scheme”) for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the ORSO Scheme.
The ORSO Scheme operates in a way similar to the MPF Scheme,
except that when an employee leaves the scheme prior to his/
her interest in the Group’s employer contributions vesting fully, the
ongoing contributions payable by the Group are reduced by the
relevant amount of the employer’s forfeited contributions.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Dividend

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in HK$, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain
or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
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RIS RRMEE
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2023 BE—T_=4F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

The major judgements, estimates and assumptions, that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements and have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are set out below:

Contract revenue from and contract costs of Transportation
Mission Critical System Solutions, Mobile Ticketing and
Digital Payment Solutions and Services and M&E Technology
Solutions and Engineering Services

The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract revenue,
contract costs, variation orders and contract claims prepared for
each contract of Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions,
Mobile Ticketing and Digital Payment Solutions and Services
and M&E Technology Solutions and Engineering Services as
the contract progresses. Budget engineering service costs are
prepared by management on the basis of estimation of direct
labour costs to be incurred and quotations from time to time
provided by the major contractors, suppliers or vendors involved
and the experience of management. In order to keep the budget
accurate and up-to-date, management conducts periodic reviews
of the budgets of contracts by comparing the budgeted amounts
to the actual amounts incurred. Such significant estimate may have
impact on the revenue recognised in each period with adjustments
made on a prospective basis.

Recognised amounts of these services contracts revenue and
related receivables reflect management’s best estimate of each
contract’s outcome and stage of completion, which are determined
on the basis of a number of estimates. This includes the assessment
of the profitability of these ongoing services contracts.

For more complex contracts in particular, costs to complete and
contract profitability are subject to significant estimation uncertainty.
The actual outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue may be
higher or lower than estimated at the end of the reporting period,
which would affect the revenue and profit recognised in future
years as an adjustment to the amounts recorded to date with
adjustments made on a prospective basis.
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ZWE Ros A - RIREEEE R -
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Provision for ECLs on trade receivables and contract assets

For trade receivable and contract asset from a major customer,
the credit quality of a customer has been assessed by reference
to external credit ratings or to historical information about the
counterparty default rates. Other than the trade receivable and
contract asset from the major customer, the Group uses a
provision matrix to calculate ECLs. The provision rates are based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
In addition, trade receivables and contract assets with significant
balances that are credit impaired are assessed for ECLs individually.

The provision for ECLs is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the Group’s trade receivables, contract assets
and ECLs is disclosed in notes 16, 18 and 33 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

ERET B R bt (8)

REZEURERGNEEROBHNEEERR
&
REFEBHRBER KB B EBEPZANEEM
5 EPHMEEERDN2EIIEEETRARERY
FHREOXMEL BRI MG o BRESRUGIAR
RE—LIBERPZANEEIN  AEBEEBEE
BREGEAREEDE BBEXNEREELEE
ER&R - WHEBARKERRN R EREER
REHHAE - RERSAHPSEMTHEETR -
o REEAEREERENE ZBRKFERE
WEERTAHEE BB EEETIME -

FHEERERBRIGIEHNTE - BEASE
EESEKRIE  AHNEERBHEEBRENEN
DRI BER A M MRMTEE16 - MEE18 R
33°

REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION W=k o EHER
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: AEBERRESATOT -
2023 2022
—EB-=H B4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHHKE
Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions RBAREFRARTR 24,528 33,087
Mobile Ticketing and Digital Payment Solutions and MBES KRB MAFR
Services K Ari% 19,782 26,333
M&E Technology Solutions and Engineering Services WERMTRIR T R R T2 AR 80,336 67,754
Digital Fabrication and Maintenance Services B MR B IRTS 23,289 32,213
Sales of Products, Parts and Components HEEM - THRIMH 5,474 2,272
153,409 162,559
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (a) DIFWEEHR
2023 2022
—EB-=H T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
By timing of revenue recognition: B R
Transferred at a point in time A S (B ] Bh S 7% 5,474 2,963
Transferred over time R &R A 147,935 159,596
Total revenue from contracts with customers RERFEHNNKGEEEE 153,409 162,559
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For the yearended 31 March 2023 BZE-Z_=F=A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(b) Performance obligations
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as
at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Wik & 7 BRE K ()

(b) BEHEE

RBEHRRK - SEEFBEHEECRELD

HEDREL) R HERSEMOT

2023 —B-=
Mobile M&E
Transportation Ticketing Technology Digital
Mission and Digital Solutions Fabrication
Critical Payment and and
System Solutions  Engineering  Maintenance
Solutions  and Services Services Services Others
RBEBR BRIl
RERE HBXA®R BRERR BBEER
REBAER HRRRH TREH RER Hit
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TERT TR TRR TER TR
Within one year —&ER 12,836 61,648 171,151 20,544 149
More than one year —E 4,650 81,910 68,092 17,258 21
17,486 143,558 239,243 37,802 170
2022 - F
Mobile M&E
Ticketing Technology Digital
Transportation and Digital Solutions Fabrication
Mission Payment and and
Critical System Solutions Engineering Maintenance
Solutions and Services Services Services Others
RBEBR WE R
TE@E BN RAIER YRR
REBARE LEYLITS TRRER% RERS Hity
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET FET FET FET
Within one year —&FR 35,482 42,588 153,423 17,233 4,416
More than one year —FLE 8,116 111,721 151,622 25,231 -
43,598 154,309 305,045 42,464 4,416
SHNREEERAT « ZE-Z/Z=FFH
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Segment information

The Group’s operating income was derived from the provision of
MG&E engineering solutions and services during both years. For the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment,
the chief operation decision maker (i.e. the executive directors of
the Company) reviews the overall results and financial position of
the Group as a whole. Accordingly, the Group has only one single
operating segment and no separate analysis of this single segment is
presented other than entity-wide disclosure.

Geographical information

The Group’s revenue from external customers based on the place
of operation of customers and non-current assets by jurisdictions
based on the location of the assets are detailed below:

is & 2 BDE K ()

REEFEAR  AEENKEWARERHEET
RERAERRE - RERDERKRBETEME -
TERERARE AIARARNTER) BHALED
BEREGENRBBN - it - AREES—EE—
REDBRGEBBEANNRESN - WESIZE
—DEHEBHWN -

REBERBINDEF (ERTF EEEH) MUk
MiZrAE R (EREEMEME) D MIEREE
EFAT ¢

Revenue Non-current assets
& EREBEE

2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=F —E-— —EB-=F T F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT FET FHT
(note) (note)
(Btat) (Hiat)
Hong Kong &5 147,562 156,401 14,022 10,929
Taiwan =y 4,500 3,641 — =
Others EAftb 1,347 2,517 - —
153,409 162,559 14,022 10,929

Note:  Non-current assets comprise property, plant and equipment and right-of- Biat : FERBEECIEYE  BERREKRETELE -

use assets.

Information about a major customer
Revenue from a customer of the corresponding years contributing
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is as follows:

FR-EXETFNESR
RABEFEAAEEBKEI10% N L2 —REFPK

Customer A BPA

Other than disclosed above, there was no revenue from customers
individually contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group
during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.
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2023 2022
—E=F —E-CF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
105,388 104,252
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For the yearended 31 March 2023 BE—T_=4F=A=+—HILFE

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 6. HttARWEAREEFE
Other income Heibg A
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Bank interest income ERITH BURA 1,843 267
Dividend income f& B U8 A 63 -
Government subsidies (note) BT B (B 57) 4,896 826
Written off of trade payables WIHE SR - 5,002
Interest income from financial assets at fair value ZAREF ABZRENESBEE
through profit or loss HIF B U A 337 329
Sundry income FEIEWA 187 102
7,326 6,526
Note: The government subsidies during the year ended 31 March 2023 Wit BE-F-=F=H=+1—HIFEEITHGIEESE
represented subsidies of HK$4,552,000 (2022: Nil) under the Employment Rt E 51 E|# 84,662,000/ 70 (ZFE=ZZ4F : ) (KX
Support Scheme in Hong Kong which the Group was required to undertake EEERETHOHANTHE - WHEEEFRET1E

not to implement redundancy during the subsidy period and to use the
subsidy to pay wages of the employees and all conditions relating to these
grants have been fulfilled, subsidies of HK$164,000 (2022: HK$431,000)
from the Group's participation in the Youth Employment and Training

B & ZEHBIERAT A IRIF151EERL) - K EHZ
BRI E R G EK B 164,000/8 7T (ZFE=—4 :
431,000;87T) R A i # 8)180,000/8 7T (ZFE =4 :
395,000/%7T) °

Programme, and other subsidies of HK$180,000 (2022: HK$395,000).

Other gains and losses, net

Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Gain on termination of a lease contract

Fair value gains on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Foreign exchange differences, net

FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

Interest on a bank loan (note)
Interest on lease liabilities

Hith s R B85
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FExT FiET
HEME  BEL
6 - 155
BIE— I HAEA P 7 =
BRARBEHABZSNEBMEENAA B
mEMEEATEKTFE 31 —
HNEZREFEE (771) 546
(733) 701
[5=9%:N
RYERKANZ TR ¢
2023 2022
—E-=H —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FiET
RITERZFE W122) 11 =
HEEBZAE 167 236
178 236

Note: A short-term bank loan of HK$1,000,000 was borrowed and repaid during

the year (2022: Nil).

Wiz . FAEEALEEZHRTEF1,000,00087T (= F
——4EE) o

=
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 BE-—T—_=F=A=+—HILFE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 8. EEBREEMN
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERFETHASHMH
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to RIEGEM ET# A - FA R EEHIZE383(1)
the GEM Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of @ (o) OROERAR (FEBEEEFZFER)
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the ROIFE2E - FRNESHUHEBLOT -

Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Retirement  Equity-settled
benefit  share-based

Salariesand  Performance scheme payment

Fees allowances bonus  contributions expenses Total
BIEN REGE

e HeRER FRIA FHEE BRERX i

HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TEnL T ThL T T TiEn

(note)
#2)

Year ended 31 March 2023 BE-Z-=F=B=1-HLFE
Mr. Luk Kam Ming (‘Mr. KM Luk’) ~ FEERSE ([REEBEE]) - 1,068 - - - 1,068
Mr. Luk Kwai Lung BEREE 60 682 - 34 - 776
Mr. Luk Yin Cheung BEYLE 60 666 - 33 - 759
Mr. Chan Chak Lun Phiip RERLE 60 1,332 - 106 - 1,498
Mr. Lau On Kwok YxELE 180 - - - - 180
Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen BAGRE 180 - - - - 180
Dr. Tse Chi Kong HEREL 180 - - - - 180
Mr. Yu Wing Lok Garry RKERE 75 - - - - 75

795 3,748 - 173 - 4,716
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE-Z-FZR=1-ALEE
Mr. KM Luk FEERLE = 1,068 = = = 1,068
Mr. Luk Kwai Lung BERLE 60 662 39 33 = 784
Mr. Luk Yin Cheung BEYiE 60 636 3 32 - 759
Mr. Chan Chak Lun Phiip REBLE 60 1,332 64 107 38 1,601
Mr. Lau On Kwok YzERE 180 - - - - 180
Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen BAGRE 180 - - - - 180
Dr. Tse Chi Kong HEREL 180 - - - S 180

720 3,688 134 172 38 4752
Note:  Performance bonus is determined by reference to the duties and B - FERAREREBNEBEANBERE

responsibilities of the relevant individuals within the Group and the FI R A EF G FIDEET -

Group’s performance.
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For the yearended 31 March 2023 BE—T_=4F=A=+—HILFE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 8. EERESHMGE@
(CONTINUED)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERIEITHASEHH(E
(continued)
The emoluments of executive directors were for their services HITEEHFN IR EEEBARRAFRAEAE
in connection with the management of the affairs of the EHIRBEZRIEMEL -
Company and the Group.
The emoluments of the independent non-executive directors BYERITESHFM IR BESFEREAARE
were for their services as directors of the Company. FRMEZREMEL -
During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no REE-_ =R -_T-__—F=A=1+—
remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors of the BIEFE  AEETERAARRESIHEH
Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group B e AR S| HZEIMAS R INAKE B 52
or as compensation for loss of office. None of the directors RS ERBEREE REBEE-_T_=FR=
of the Company have waived any remuneration during the T _F=ZAZ+—HLFE  BEXART
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. EEWETAEFH -
(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) EEFHEH
The five highest paid individuals included two (2022: two) hEGERHFATEBERBE S _=FK=
directors of the Company whose emoluments are included E-—FZA=+—HIFEEMEFALX
in the disclosures in (a) above for the years ended 31 March QBEBFPHARARTME (ZE__F : WA)
2023 and 2022. The emoluments of the remaining three BEE -RNEBE-_E-_=FEN_FT__F=1
(2022: three) individuals for the years ended 31 March 2023 =t+—BUEFE HH=F2(CZT=-_—F:=
and 2022 were as follows: B NTHEFBAT
2023 2022
—EBC=F B CF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAxT
Salaries and other benefits e MEMmER 2,910 2,737
Performance bonus (note) FIRTELL (B 52) 207 207
Retirement benefit scheme contributions BRIRERFT B 146 137
3,263 3,081
Note:  Performance bonus is determined by reference to the duties and Wiat - KBIAIGDRZEREBAFBENARBERET
responsibilities of the relevant individuals within the Group and the KRR E B KB L ETE -
Group's performance.
Their emoluments were within the following bands: BENFEATERE 2 A -
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE A
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 Z£%1,000,0008 7T 1 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 T E 1,500,000/ 7T 2 1
3 3

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

REEZT-_—FR-_F-_—_F=-A=+—
BILFE AEETERNRERSFALE
B - (EERIIEEMASRIMALEE R
R HEEN S (A BB A -

EHNMREEARAR « ZR 2/ Z=FFK
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10.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2022/23

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting):

Cost of sales
— Transportation Mission Critical System
Solutions, Mobile Ticketing and Digital
Payment Solutions and Services and M&E
Technology Solutions and Engineering
Services
— Others
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Auditor’s remuneration
Directors’ remuneration

Employee benefit expenses (excluding directors’
and chief executive’s remuneration (note 8)):

Salaries and other benefits*
Retirement benefit scheme contributions
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses

Total employee benefit expenses

Lease payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities

Fair value (gains)/losses on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

9. ERBiLA(EIR) R

REBEBRTA (BB, D8 F &M, GEA AT

TETR RN ¢
2023 2022
—EBE-=F —E-F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BsE FHT FiET
SHER AR
—RBRARRRERT R
MBS N U X N ARR
7 R M RRTS B T A R
SRR R LIRS
125,264 97,109
—EAth 18,259 20,931
M - BB REETE 13 2,118 2,037
FREEENE 14 6,177 6,049
% IR 1,760 1,725
EEWE 8 4,716 4,752
EEEIASL(TEREEER
T EBTHA B REHB
(H1:%8))
e REMBR 68,848 69,619
RIREFETEIE R 2,758 2,684
TEREE RN BEBAR
Eol=b3 494 611
EERFIAZ A5 72,100 72,914
YR AHEAGEtEZ
MERH 148 130
BARBEHABSNERMEE
ZRRE W) R (31) 180

* For the year ended 31 March 2023, HK$48,548,000 (2022:
HK$51,393,000) of salaries and other benefits is included in “Cost of sales”
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current — Hong Kong
Charge for the year
Overprovision in prior years

Deferred (note 24)

Total tax (credit)/expense for the year

BE—T-_—F=F=+—HILFE  FEREMBF
48,548,00/8 7T (= F = —14F : 51,393,000/ 7T) it A 475
1B RA M2 E W K P BHERK A

10. FEBIBX

BNE— &
FRAE
BEFEEAE

IRIE (B15324)

AEEHIA(ER) /F e

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-CF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHT

- 1,934

(251) @)

74 (164)

(177) 1,768
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE-Z—_=

10.

11.

== il

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year ended 31 March 2022, except for one subsidiary of the
Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits of this
subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits
are taxed at 16.5%

The Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands and the BVI pursuant to the rules and regulations in those
jurisdictions.

The tax (credit)/charge for both years can be reconciled to the (loss)/
profit before tax as follows:

10.

FrSHiR 3 (40

HRAKRERFALEETBELTMERT R
) - BB EE TS HAE L BHE

HE-Z-—#+-A=+—HILFE FBNE
HERREBEENGHTERBEFIZ16.5%F
REHERE  HASEET —HHBRARAFAM
BRERMEFIENEEREERIN - ZHBRF
2,000,000 7T K FE 3R B i F328.25 % B B R 4
B HRERBRFHEAR165% °

REXASESMEBELFENREMARD - K
SENZE REE R ERAGREFIFAEH o

WA F R BE (%) /5 T 8RR B AT (&
18), e FIERMT

2023 2022
—E=F B F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET Fi#T
(Loss)/profit before tax BELA (B18), &% 5 (32,399) 9,653
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% HOETEFTS R E16.5%tE 2 Fi1B (5,346) 1,593
Income tax at the concessionary rate BEEMEZROEH - (165)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of previous 78 831 HiE RN EAF B R S &
periods (251) @)
Income not subject to tax BRMNT 2 A (1,005) (152)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR A 554 473
Tax losses not recognised RERRIBEE 5,871 21
Tax (credit)/charge for the year at the Group’s EREEERBERAERN
effective tax rate AEERBGUR),FX (177) 1,768

No deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of tax
losses of HK$35,659,000 (2022: HK$126,000) as they have arisen
from subsidiaries with unpredictability of future profit and it is not
considered probable that taxable profits will be available against
which the tax losses can be utilised.

R IE B 1B E £ B R 0% FI S AT T8 8 /0 i B A
B IJH: I 4 5 B 98 &5 18.35,659,00008 7T (- &
— 4 : 126,000/8 ) ERIELEREEE - MER
mmﬂmﬂﬂ EARIEIEE) AT TEESIE -

DIVIDEND 11. RKRE
2023 2022
—E-=F k=S =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FET
Dividend recognised as distribution during FARRAD KRS
the year:
2022 Final dividend of HK2.0 cents (2021: :%::iﬂi%@ﬁﬁ BEEREER
HK2.73 cents) per ordinary share 2.0 (=ZF=—%F : 2738l 8,050 10,988
Less: Dividend for shares held under the B IRIRRR ) BN R B A MR AR B
share award scheme (39) (79)
8,011 10,909

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023.

EESTRBENBE_T-=4#=A=+—81I
FEERAAPRE o

EHNMREEARAR « ZR 2/ Z=FFK
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12.

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculations of the basic (loss)/earnings per share are based
on the loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$32,222,000 (2022: profit of HK$7,885,000), and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue less treasury shares
held under share award scheme during the year of 401,375,000
(2022: 399,428,000).

In respect of the year ended 31 March 2023, no adjustment has
been made to the basic loss per share amount presented in respect
of a dilution as the impact of the awarded shares and share options
outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share
amount presented.

In respect of the year ended 31 March 2022, the calculation of
the diluted earnings per share amount for the year is based on the
profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue less treasury
shares held under share award scheme as used in the basic
earning per share calculation, and the weighted average number
of 2,877,000 ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no
consideration on the deemed exercise of dilutive potential ordinary
shares into ordinary shares and the effect of awarded shares.

(&518) &R
FARAT

(Loss)/earnings

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company, used in the basic
(loss)/earnings per share calculation

(B8 /&7

Shares B

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue less treasury shares held under the share
award scheme during the year used in the
basic (loss)/earnings per share calculation

Effect of dilution — weighted average number of
ordinary shares

Share options R
Share awards A& 17 £E &)
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LRl

fm

(E518), & F - ARETEERER

FAREERERFEARGER (BR),ER

BREXNEER) BAINSEDRERDAEE A
FEIEE RN EI832,222,0008 T (Z 2= — 4 : % 7F
7,885,000 7T) * LA R FRE BITE AR INEFS
ORI IR IR (0 SR ED AT 8135 B M) E 1 AR 19 401,375,000
B (— T — —4F : 399,428,0000%) 51 & -

BE_ZT_=F=ZA=1+—HLFE  BIRRTE
REBOEBERENZEHM27ISRERNBRS
BAAREENE AUt ARSREERI|NERE
AERSEELAR -

ME-T--F=A=+—ALFE SREER
RIS AR R R A ORI R B BT B
BOVE T BOR B SRR BRI BRIBRN
BEH B AREERG - L ERAAITEEERE
BB 25 2 BAE LR B 172,877,000
B AR AT B R SRR 0B A o

2023 2022
—E-=F —EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

KB AR

(32,222) 7,885

Number of shares

ERITEBRINE TR ESRER
(B518) /BRI PR A F AR 1) B2 b=t 2178
THRAENEFRN

e E - L RBIETIOH

REE
2023 2022
—E-=F T F
’000 000
TR T
401,375 399,428
= 1,754
- 1,123
401,375 402,305
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE—T—_=F=A=+—HILFE

13.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost:

Asat 1 Apri 2021
Additions
Disposals

As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022

Additions
Disposals

As at 31 March 2023

Accumulated depreciation:
As at 1 April 2021

Provided during the year
Disposals

As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022

Provided during the year
Disposals

As at 31 March 2023

Net carrying value:
Asat 31 March 2023

As at 31 March 2022

A
R-E_—-FmA-H
e

L

RZTZZF=R=+-BR
:2::¢HH A

RZFZ=F=R=1-A

2EHTE:
RZZ--4MA-A
EREfE

HE

A =)
—E-"ENR-A
EREfE

L&
R-E-=%=f=1-A

REFE:
R-Z-=F=R=1-A

RZZZZ5=RA=1-H

13. % > BERRME
Leasehold Furniture Plant and Computer Motor
improvements  and fixtures machinery equipment vehicles Cruiser Total
BihR
HENFEE BE%E  HERHE ShmE RE MR Eh
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
T THR i Tén Thn Thn Tén
4015 1,033 3,263 8,261 3,959 162 20,693
232 - 74 625 = = 931
- (15) (112) - (379) (108) 614)
4,247 1,018 3,225 8,886 3,580 54 21,010
281 15 206 954 401 424 2,281
- - () - - - ()
4528 1,033 3,430 9,840 3,981 418 23,290
1,762 1,005 2,615 6,973 2429 19 14,803
749 12 308 457 484 27 2,081
- (15) (112) - (379) (29 (635)
2,511 1,002 2811 7430 2,534 17 16,305
662 2 219 619 518 11 2,118
S = () S S = v
3178 1,031 3,089 8,049 3,052 2 18,422
1,355 2 3 1,791 929 450 4,868
1,736 16 44 1,456 1,046 37 4,705
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R

Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 BE-—T—_=F=A=+—HILFE

14. LEASES 14. #HE
The Group has lease contracts as lessees for several properties.
Leases of the properties generally have lease terms between 1 and
3 years.
(a) Right-of-use assets (a)

The carrying amount of the Group’s right-of-use assets and

EREEE

AEBERETHENABARLEEAL -
HEZHEHR —RB1EIF -

UES

AEEEAEEENREERFANZE I

the movements during the year are as follows: IS E
At 1 April 2021 RZE-_—FMA—H
Additions NE
Depreciation charge TEEA
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 KRB - —F=A=+—HEK-_Z-_F/MAF—H
Additions NE
Depreciation charge HEER
Termination of a lease contract HBIEHEEH
At 31 March 2023 RZZE-_=F=ZA=1+—H
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements
during the year are as follows:

ROA—BZEEE
g
FRRER ZEHFE

Carrying amount at 1 April

New leases

Accretion of interest recognised during the year
Covid-19-related rent concessions from a lessor

HAEER
Termination of a lease contract BIE—HHEES K
Payments 3%

Carrying amount at 31 March R=A=+—BZKHE

Analysed into: D
Repayable: 188 -
Within one year —&FR
Over one year Bl —F
Less: non-current portion B IERBNE D
Current portion mENE D

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 33
to the consolidated financial statements.
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Properties
L/E S
HK$'000
FHET

3,440
8,833
(6,049)

6,224
9,311
(6,177)

(204)

9,154

HERBNREERFAZEBNT

kB —% A M Covid-194878

2023 2022
—E-=HF T _F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
6,320 3,531
9,311 8,833
167 236
(67) (11)
(211) =
(6,361) (6,269)
9,159 6,320
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-CF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
5,837 6,190
3,322 130
9,159 6,320
(3,322) (130)
5,837 6,190

FE33IRER ©



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2023 BE—T_=4F=A=+—HILFE

14.

15.

LEASES (CONTINUED) 14. BE @
(¢) The amounts recognised in profit or loss for the reporting () MEEHEHEZEREMREZERZEHE
period in relation to leases are as follows: W
2023 2022
—E=F B F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Interest on lease liabilities HEAREZFE 167 236
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {FREEEZITEER 6,177 6,049
Expense relating to short-term leases B ERE Y
(included in administrative expenses) GrAFTEHAZA) 148 130
Covid-19-related rent concessions froma 2R E —%& B A B Covid-19iERITH & E Rk
lessor (67) (11)
Gain on termination of a lease contract BLIE—HEES LMK (7) =
Total amount recognised in profit or loss ~ AIBHERHBE5E 6,418 6,404

The total cash outflows for leases are disclosed in note 35(c)
to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT 15.
OR LOSS

Listed equity investments, at fair value, included in TR AIEE - st ARBEE

current assets EWEARE)
Unlisted investments, at fair value EEMRE AR ME)
Deposits paid for life insurance products, ASRBERENEZES
included in non-current assets FASERBEE
An equity-linked note, included in current assets ~ AX ZHMAZHE - 5F ARE
BE

The above listed equity investments were classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss as they were held for
trading.

The above unlisted investments at 31 March 2023 were (i) the
deposits paid for life insurance products and (ii) the equity-linked
note issued by financial institutions in Hong Kong. They were
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as
their contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and
interest.

HENBERLAERGAETERRW T
35C)NHE -

BARERABENERMEE

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-F

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
P FERT FExT
1,588 =

(@) 6,214 5,913
(b) - 1,323
7,802 7,236

b ERERAREDERE AR BT ARG ZER
AE  RAAEMIEEE -

MRIZE-=F=RA=+—H " Lk EmRER®
HABSRREMEMNZRSRNBEESREBEITH
BREHOZE - ZFERBEORRRAIABEAR
HZNEBEE  REAARENANRSRELIE
REXNEERHE -

EHNMREEARAR « ZR 2/ Z=FFK
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e TS RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-Z-=F=A=t+—HItFE

15.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

@

©)

The life insurance products were entered by the Group’s subsidiaries
with financial institutions on certain senior management of the Group,
including Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip and Mr. Luk Yin Cheung, directors
of the Company. Under the life insurance policies, the beneficiary and
policy holders are subsidiaries of the Group. The Group's subsidiaries are
required to pay a single premium or annual premium for the policies and
may request a partial surrender or full surrender of the policies at any time
and receive cash back based on the value of the policies at the date of
surrender, which is determined by the account value net of any surrender
charge (the “Cash Values”). The policy premium expense, insurance
charges and surrender charges are recognised in profit or loss. The life
insurance policies have guaranteed value or carry guaranteed interest of
4.25% per annum at first year, and a minimum guaranteed interest of 2.00%
per annum at the second year and onwards.

The Cash Values which are considered a close estimate to the fair values of
the life insurance policies, were HK$6,214,000 as at 31 March 2023 (2022:
HK$5,913,000), determined by reference to the Cash Values as provided
by the insurance companies. The fair value of the Group’s insurance
policies was measured using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 of fair
value hierarchy) as defined in HKFRS 13.

The aggregate carrying amounts of HK$5,758,000 (2022: HK$5,570,000)
as at 31 March 2023 were pledged as security for a banking facility of the
Group.

The entire balance of the life insurance products is denominated in United
States dollars (“USD”).

The unlisted equity-linked note was subject to knock-out and a maximum
tenor of 12 months and was linked to a basket of Hong Kong stocks. The
unlisted equity-linked note carries interest at the rate of 8% per annum and
could only be redeemed by the issuers at the specific observation dates.
The equity-linked note contains terms enabling the issuers either to deliver
the underlying equity securities on maturity if the market prices of the
worst performing underlying security were lower than its respective pre-
determined reference stock prices or cash settlement of the principal and
interest if the market prices of the underlying securities were higher than
their respective pre-determined reference stock prices on each observation
date.

Fair value of unlisted equity-linked note is determined using a valuation
technique that is classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
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RAAEFABENEHEE (B

Wizt -

@

)

FEBMER A EL BB EEE TS REZLE
(BREARAEEGEBALERESZHEL)TTUAFR
BRE - RIFAFRBRRE - FEBHEBR A BZ A
RREFHA o KEBIIE L AFHEZERE—NIEL
1TRIZE X FERE - AR EIE S BRE TR
RERERE AREREEEK T - FHEL IR
fﬂ%ﬁ{“ﬁ?ﬂﬂ?&ﬁ}ﬁﬁ?%ﬁf ((REEE]) - (RER
B RRERRREGRBRB AR - NERBERE
/574*7—77*17% FFIEL.25%518 @ BE=FIE  KERIE
EFFIE2.00%718 ©

HABRBRES T 2 (BERERLS B R AN
B R-FE-=F=H=+—H%6214,000/7T (=%
ZZ4F 1 5,918,00087C) © TIRE R LN AIERAHEE
BIEET - XEBBIRRIREL LA EIRABBHHE
igg/%]sf%ﬁiﬂﬁ:ﬁf AR A B (A EE
RE=A):tE -

RoFE-=Z#F=F=+—H - REHE5,758,000/#%7T
(ZZFE==4F : 5670,000/87) B FFEATE R TH
BRI ©

A SRR E dn 89 B bR A T ([T 1) P18 -

L HRER G ZIEZ R E R R RIR 7312185 K
H— BT BB IRE A o I TIREA R F T
8%t B RANETRIETBE AR BT AMEL] © JRFEH
EFIRAME - R TLARZ AIARGRE S0 17 (B IR H
HEFEETH S ERE - AIZTTA IR
FIIRFEE S (iARIE S ayTR B R E & 5 R BT

HIBERE - BIETA ARG EARE AR AE A S
RFE -

FFLTTIRZR G ZIER 2 A BEFER S BERF R
BE=RA /Efffff/ﬁ)f 2




J [ 1.

H— v ‘“&E\« N | |

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A TS RR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE—T—_=F=A=+—HILFE

16.

TRADE RECEIVABLES 16.

The Group grants credit terms of 30 to 60 days to its customers
from the date of invoices on progress billings of contract and
maintenance works and sales of goods. An ageing analysis of the
trade receivables is presented based on the invoice date at the end
of the reporting period.

Within 30 days 30

31 to 60 days 31£60H

61 to 90 days 61Z290H

Over 90 days #83B90H

Less: Accumulated loss allowance (note 33) W RETEIERHE (BE33)
Total 5T

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and
has a credit control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

5 YR

AEEBANRBETIZEERRABRZAHRHE
EmEmEEFRE0EEC0RMNEED - KlE
HIFARERERZ A28 HRKTIRRE DT ©

2023 2022
—E-=F —EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAxT
11,316 20,195
14,240 14,691
2,715 11,485
4,897 5,160
33,168 51,531
(4,168) (557)
29,000 50,974

FEERERP B S GREBNEER ST
WHEF —RBERNTERIN - FLEFHEHK
EERE - REBETLRE ARFEZ BURFIRME R
REEIRAEEENAFINEEERRRER
K- mRERETHRIBBALR - BHREHEA
a8 e

SHNREEERAT « ZE-Z/Z=FFH
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 BE-—T—_=F=A=+—HILFE

16.

17.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2023, included in the Group’s trade receivable
balances were balances from customers with an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$20,366,000 (2022: HK$23,638,000) which were
past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
HK$4,339,000 (2022: HK$3,046,000) has been past due more
than 90 days and was not considered as in default. The Group
rebutted the presumption of default under the expected credit loss
model for trade receivables past due over 90 days assuming no
significant change in credit quality after having an understanding of
those customers’ background as well as the good payment records
and continuous business relationship with those customers.
Further, such long outstanding balances were primarily due to
overdue payment which was a common practice in Transportation
Mission Critical System Solutions, Mobile Ticketing and Digital
Payment Solutions and Services and M&E Technology Solutions
and Engineering Services. The Group did not hold any collateral
over these balances.

Details of impairment of trade receivables for the year ended 31
March 2023 are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements. The ECLs for trade receivables as at 31 March 2023
and 31 March 2022 were HK$4,168,000 and HK$557,000,
respectively.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, trade receivables were all
denominated in HK$, except for a balance of HK$256,000 as at 31
March 2022 which was denominated in Renminbi (‘RMB”).

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

Non-current: JERNES -
Deposits b

Current: BNAY
Advances to suppliers BT HAERS
Prepayments TEfTFRIA
Interest receivables FEURILE,
Others Efth

Total 1RET

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The
financial assets included in the above balances relate to receivables
for which there was no recent history of default. Their related ECL
considerations are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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17.

B 5 RWER ()

R-ZZB-=%=A=+—08 K&EBEBSEKZ
1B B4R E A 420,366,000 T (T = — 4
23,638,000/ 70) MR E F 7B » % BRIERE A
HE B - ZEEEE ST 0 4,339,000 (= F
— =4 : 3,046,000/ 7T) B i HR B Q0K K R A
REBEY - AEEETHZEEFPNE SN NEZ
EXFHMROINRERSEEFEERE  BREE
BEERWESKEE) @ HEBHIOXNE Z B
HERHEEBEEATHELERR - ki R A
EEAKTEANRBAREZFHRRIR RHHE
TR BT AR R BRTE RGBT AR R T R
RIRRBE RIEH - REEWEREZSEHIT
BEEER ©

BEZZ-_=ZF=ZA=+—HLEFE  BIHEKX
EREZHFBHNGAMEHRENIEIZ - KT
C=EE=A=+—RAR-E-__F=A=1+—HK
B 5 W FIRTEBEEBE D 5 /4,168,000 7T &
557,000/ 7T °

RIE-_=FR-_FT-_—"F=A=+—H BF5FE
WRIE B TTSE - R T = F = A=+—
A © #$:256,0008 TAARKE (AR ] 7IER
§|\ °

Hits W FUR - RERANRE

2023 2022
—E-=F T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHT
948 1,011
5,967 5,324
638 708

320 38

824 165
7,749 6,225
8,697 7,236

P EEMERMTERE - StA LGRS/
BERYMAMEOCE 2 BWRIBER - HEE
HE B RIRE N AR & WIS MR MIEES3 -



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2023 BE—T_=4F=A=+—HILFE

18. CONTRACT ASSETS 18. BHEE
31 March 2023 31 March 2022 1 April 2021
—E-= —T-fF B —F
=A=+—H =—A=+—H mH—H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FAT FET
Transportation Mission Critical System 2 B3 R R 2R
Solutions 11,162 16,762 26,666
Mobile Ticketing and Digital Payment B Z=7E R EIE X (R R R
Solutions and Services R AR 75 5,260 5,602 7,082
M&E Technology Solutions and B AT ERR S R R TR
Engineering Services 27,515 25,547 27,611
Digital Fabrication and Maintenance SIS S AR B IR TS
Services 68 65 2,521
44,005 47,976 63,880
Impairment (note 33) BB (H7233) (53) (46) -
Total FEE 43,952 47,930 63,880

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to the same
contract, is recognised over the period in which the engineering
services are performed, representing the Group’s right to
consideration for the services performed and not billed because the
rights are conditional on the Group’s future performance accepted
by the customers. The contract assets are transferred to trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional. The Group
typically transfers its contract assets to trade receivables when
progress certificate/invoice is issued. The Group generally provides
their customers with maintenance period of one to three years
from the date of the practical completion of the project. Upon the
expiration of the maintenance period, the customers will provide
a maintenance certificate and pay the retentions within the term
specified in the contract. The decrease in contract assets in 2023
and 2022 was mainly due to the transfer of contract assets to trade
receivables during the year.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets as
at 31 March is as follows:

Within one year —FR
After one year —Fi&
EHREERE

Total contract assets

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date to
measure expected credit losses. The provision rates for the
measurement of the expected credit losses for the contract assets
are based on those for the trade receivables as the contract assets
and the trade receivables are from the same customer bases. The
provision rates of contract assets are based on its historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to
the debtors and the economic environment. The Group applies the
simplified approach to provide for the ECLs prescribed by HKFRS 9.
Loss allowance of HK$1,610,000 (2022: reversal of loss allowance
of HK$166,000) was recognised during the year. Details of impairment
of contract assets for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 are
set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

BHEE  HBREARSOBEBNANAE  RE
T RREH SRR KRAEEEERD B
18 4 R BA S A9 AR 75 B (B - R REZ SRR TIEUR
REPEMRNEBRKERE o IR ZRBEGKME
B AaNEEERS %J‘&‘Hﬁl RIA o AEBEBEE
%’“‘ﬁ%’&f;uaa/uﬁzﬁﬁﬁ SHANEEEREE SR
YR - AMEBERERAEEFREMEAE BERTMK
AHEst —E=FnREH - RREYERR - &
}Eﬂﬁﬂ tRIEEFE RN IEENHRARE
& R-B_=ZFR_T__FWNANEERIE
ERNFRNBERNEEBRES S RGUAPTE -

REAZ+—A - AEENESRIKE S EER
T

2023 2022
—E-=F T CF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
8,313 36,795
35,639 11,135
43,952 47,930

NEHRE B BITRESMAEBEEEEE - 5
EANAERHEEBENBERNIENZEES
BB REAGNEERE SERFIEREH
—REEM AHBEMNBBEDNENEESLEE
FEIBASER + A BRAERS A AR S RO 5 B B Mk
HIEL PR - RIEE B RS EAFRNIET
AEERBECAEUREHEEER - FRE

TR BB EE 1,610,000 T (ZE - —F : BRE
EEHE166,00087T) c HE T -_ZFF T -
FoZAZT—ALFEZANEEMNREFBIEIR
IR B IS HRARMIFESS o

EHNMREEARAR « ZR 2/ Z=FFK
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 BE-—T—_=F=A=+—HILFE

19.

20.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 19. EHEME
31 March 2023 31 March 2022 1 April 2021
—EB-=f —ag s —T-—F
=A=+—H == e mA—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FExT
Transportation Mission Critical System @A Z G fiR 7 2
Solutions 1,384 2,143 5,562
Mobile Ticketing and Digital Payment 7B & #0086 2 MRk 2=
Solutions and Services KR 2,018 7,227 13,136
M&E Technology Solutions and B AT ERR T R TR
Engineering Services 3,969 7,481 13,077
Digital Fabrication and Maintenance SIS S AR B IR TS
Services 241 202 542
Total A5t 7,612 17,053 32,317

The Group requires certain customers under engineering service
contracts to provide upfront deposits at rates ranging from 5%
to 20% of the total contract sum. When the Group receives a
deposit before the project commences, this will give rise to contract
liabilities at the start of a contract until the full amount of the deposit
is deducted proportionately from progress payment. The decrease
in contract liabilities in 2023 and 2022 was mainly due to utilisation
of short-term advances received from customers in relation to the
provision of engineering services during the year.

TIME DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY OVER
THREE MONTHS/PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 March 2023, bank balances and cash comprise cash held
by the Group and bank deposits carrying interest at market rates
which ranged from 0.1% to 4.93% per annum (2022: ranged from
0.01% to 2.42% per annum) with original maturity of three months
or less.

As at 31 March 2023, pledged bank deposits represented deposits
pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted by banks to
the Group, carrying fixed interest rates ranging from 0.6% to 3.75%
per annum (2022: ranging from 0.03% to 0.40% per annum).

As at 31 March 2023, time deposits with original maturity over three
months carried fixed interest rates ranging from 3.67% to 3.8% per
annum (2022: ranging from 0.06% to 2.44% per annum).
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BERLEERRFRARRRIEREDAEREP
R HEATRPTEL ©

REMABB=EANEREFR BEARTE
R BRITERRES

RIZE-=F=A=+—08  RILEHELELERE
AEFERFESMEDEHA A=EAK A TR
BN F01%E4.93% (B - —F : NFHE
0.01%Z2.42%) KI5 FFIZEEFTE ©

R-T-=F=ZA=+—0  AEBRITFEIEEL
FFRITUBRITAAREBERHAORITEE EIR
o REEEMENR0.6%EI.75% (- T - —F :
N FHFF0.03%%E0.40%) 518 °
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2023 BE—T_=4F=A=+—HILFE

20.

21.

TIME DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY OVER 20.

THREE MONTHS/PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s time deposits with original maturity over three months,
pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash are
denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ BT

Euro (‘EUR”) Bt ([&t))

RMB AR

UsD =T

Other currencies Hh ek

TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES 21.

The credit period on purchases and subcontracting of contract
work services ranges from 30 to 60 days. The following is an ageing
analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice date at
the end of the reporting period:

Trade payables: B S5 EARE
Within 30 days 308/
31 to 60 days 31&E60H
61 to 90 days 61£90H
91 to 365 days 912365H
Over 365 days HBiA365H
Retention payables ERRE S
Total trade and retention payables B ENREREMNRES
ez
Notes:

(@) As at 31 March 2023, trade payables of HK$6,000 (2022: HK$218,000)
were denominated in RMB. As at 31 March 2022, trade payables
of HK$42,000 and HK$1,000 were denominated in EUR and USD,
respectively.

b) Retention payables to sub-contractors of contract work are interest-free
and payable by the Group after the completion of the maintenance period
of the relevant contracts or in accordance with the terms specified in the
relevant contracts, ranging from 1 to 2 years from the completion dates of
the respective contracts.

REHAEB=AANERER FEARTE

R RITERRES (B

RE MR - REBENA T EEHERNRE B
B=EAEMER - FERMBITERMBITER

MR HIRHEE

As at 31 March

MR=A=+—H
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-CF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
61,376 60,325
305 2,633
38 9,454
32,620 29,705
6,611 3,746
100,950 105,863

EZRNTERENRES

BERDBANIIERBOHEEHN FI0=60R -
AT ARBEMERENEZAHZIINE Z RN

IR DT ¢
2023 2022
—E-=F T CF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B3 FERT FHT
(@)
5,751 3,685
132 210
7 455
459 99
354 782
6,703 5,231
b) 3,412 3,412
10,115 8,643
Htat

@) R-ZFZ=F=H=+—H ' 60008TT(ZF==4 :
218,000 7T) B9 8 B E FHIHANA REEHE « RZ-F
ZZF=F=+—H ' 2 5542,000/T X 1,000/

B ZENT BB T RFETTAHE ©
®) ET5 B HE N TIERE D RS

" B A EE R

BIE A9 1 R 5T 15 SR IR AR I & AT HE VIR SE 1T
E 1A T IR & KI5 HRIRERT I 1 226 ©
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RIS RRMEE

Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 BE-—T—_=F=A=+—HILFE

22. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 22, HMEANRERESER
2023 2022
—EB-=H —Fo—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAExT
Accrued staff costs e B TR A 4,111 4,110
Provision for employee related benefits 1E B HBAR A B 3,412 3,269
Accrued expenses JERTFISE 2,732 3,515
Provision for warranties (note) RIS BRI (57 77) 3,608 642
Total 45 13,863 11,536
Note: MaE -
The movement of provision for warranties during the years are as follows: FRREEBBEHESH T -
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FBT FHT
At beginning of year F¥) 642 390
Additional provision BHINE 3,611 645
Amounts utilised during the year FRBASHE (326) (72)
Reversal of unutilised amounts KBRS EERD (319) (321)
At end of year FXR 3,608 642
The Group provides one-year warranty to its customers for contract services for $%@;7,§§?}Eﬁ%*${%ﬂ§%ﬁ E"‘J/E'\@HW% | Fﬁﬁf'gﬁﬁﬂqﬁjﬁﬂ’]
general repairs of defects occurring during the warranty period. The amount of the ﬁﬂ?ffﬁlt*ﬁﬁ"i%ﬂ% ° L%ff}fﬂiﬁﬁ i%%)’i%ﬁﬁ?}@&%f&ﬂ%@@?%&%
provision for the warranties is estimated based on past experience of the level of BRMEAT o AT EES THER  WEEE B THELER -
repairs. The estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised where
appropriate.
23. PROVISION FOR CONTRACT WORKS 23. AHNIREEE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FExT
At beginning of year F4 - -
Additional provision REIMEHE 16,169 —
At end of year FR 16,169 =
The Group recognises provision for contract works when the BERIRAVOBHNETNRABBIBIEIREAN
costs of meeting the performance obligations under the revenue TEER S ES B4 B G - ANEBERE A TRE
contracts exceed the economic benefits expected to be received. o BESCERBETNEOKRAGEHE - XEEFE
The amount of provision is estimated based on contract costs to BEHMERTER - WEEE BN TELBET -

completion. The estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis
and revised where appropriate.
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24.

25.

DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) during the year are

as follows:

24. EFEFIE

FRIREBIEEE (BE) NESNT

At 1 April 2021 RZZE-—FMA—H
Credit to profit or loss (note 10) st A& (Hat10)
At 31 March 2022 and i e
1 April 2022 =A=t+-AK
“ZE--FMA—H
(Credit)/charge to profit or loss (note 10) (FEA)/40kk BB %= (B3 10)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F
=A=t+—H

JOINT OPERATION

Particulars of the Group’s joint operation are as follows:

Impairment
oftrade  Accelerated tax
receivables and (accounting)
contract assets depreciation Total
S EUFER nEH A
BHEERE CEkiid st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET
82 (267) (185)
18 146 164
100 (121) (21)
(85) 11 (74)
15 (110) (95)
25. SEEL

REEEEEBOFBHIIMT

Form of Place of
business registration Percentage of attributable
Name structure and business interest of the Group Principal activity
£ EBEBER RE % & 2 it B AEEEEEZEEDL FEEKED
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
% %
KML - Huaming Body unincorporate Hong Kong 35 35 Provision of engineering
Joint Venture service
KML - Huaming E YN BE R TR
Joint Venture
Note:  Under the joint venture agreement, the joint operators have contractually MiE - RBFEEELEF A EREEDRRAREGZIEE

agreed the sharing of control over the relevant activities of this body
unincorporate, hence this body unincorporate is jointly controlled by
the Group and the other joint operator. Furthermore, the relevant joint
venture agreement specifies that the Group and another party to the joint
arrangement have rights to the assets and obligations to the liabilities
relating to the joint arrangement, therefore this body unincorporate is
classified as joint operation.

ABIFEIERT B e RIRE - Bt - BZIEEN ERE A5
B RS —EEBEEERFES - I - 1A E DR
AN A EBRE ELHA 5 — A EXHAER
BEZHRF  HIBREFFREES - Bt - ZIHEA
EREIERE SR -

EHNMREEARAR « ZR 2/ Z=FFK
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26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. B
Number
of shares Amount
RAEE kit
‘000 HK$'000
TR THT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FREEOETHEER
Authorised: AT
At 31 March 2023 and 2022 RZE-=4K-Z-—%#=A=+—A 3,800,000 38,000
Issued and fully paid: BEIREHER
At 31 March 2023 R-E-=#=A=1+—H 404,960 4,050
At 31 March 2022 R-ZZB--&=A=1+-H 402,500 4,025
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as AATRRANE R ESHN AT -
follows:
Number of Share
shares in issue capital
ERITRAEA R
‘000 HK$'000
TR THL
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZE-—FRA—H —E-—F=A=+—HEK
—Z-_%mA—H 402,500 4,025
Issue of shares (note) BITRMG (H12) 2,460 25
At 31 March 2023 RZE_=F=A=1+—-H 404,960 4,050
Note:  On 26 August 2022, the Company issued a total of 2,460,000 new shares MiF - REZFZZF/NAZ+/NH » AR AIGtEENFHRZN
pursuant to the general mandate granted by the shareholders of the FE38ATER 17 221 &) E Tﬁﬁﬁygﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ Z2A]
Company for the purpose of awarding shares to employees under the R IR ) — AR IRHE B 7T & 2,460,000 %THR (7
Share Award Scheme as set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements.
Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the Company’s AR BB B A RA R B H () 22 B AT B/ 5F
share award scheme are included in notes 37 and 38 to the B0 RIERERE I 5 R 737 %38 °

consolidated financial statements, respectively.
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27.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

Share-based payment reserve

The Group’s share-based payment reserve comprise (i) the fair
value of share options vested which are yet to be exercised, as
further explained in the accounting policy of share-based payments
in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. The amount
will either be transferred to the share premium account when the
related share options are exercised, or transferred to accumulated
profits should the related share options lapse or be forfeited; and
(i) the amount to be expensed as share-based payment expenses
determined by reference to the fair value of the shares under the
share award scheme granted, taking into account all non-vesting
conditions associated with the grants on grant date. The total
expense is recognised on a straight-line basis over the relevant
vesting periods (or on the grant date if the shares vest immediately),
with a corresponding credit to the share-based payment reserve
under equity. Upon vesting, the related costs of the vested shares
under the share award scheme are credited to shares under the
share award scheme, with a corresponding decrease in the share-
based payment reserve.

Other reserves

The Group’s other reserves mainly represent (i) the difference
between the nominal values of the ordinary shares issued by the
Company and the share capital of subsidiaries acquired through
an exchange of shares pursuant to the reorganisation of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2018 and (i) the deemed capital
contribution from Mr. KM Luk, a controlling shareholder and an
executive director of the Company, in respect of the transfer of
2,000,000 shares to the trust of the share award scheme at nil
consideration, and details of the share award scheme are set out in
note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

27.

1]

FEERFERBEFEZFERAEHESHSER
RARaEBRANZT -

LR HER I RS

O RERNKEFERBOEEBERRTRZ
BREZAAE  E—THBRESMBRRME
3R RERN TS HEANRE - 228
BN ERABREETERERERMEER IR
BB RSSO M B E Rea M+ K (i)
ERBAKRG RERNROB X SBENL2EERY
Bty BB EH IR T I DA E - ST RREH BB
HERPT A FER BRI MEEE - AR IREREL
PAFERE 55 B B (Sl iR 0 SZ BN 57 /B8 B A 9% B 3A) B8
R HEET ABRE T ARG REMRN R E - REF
[E8y - ARRAR () ERE) R B BR AR ) AR RIAC AR ST AR
D EEBETEIAE TR - SARRD RETER SR H AR E
e

Hihf#E
AEEZEMBEBEEEROARABZE_Z—/\F
CAZ+RALFEZEETERRZAESS
BRBEASEBEAIBRRDFTIREN B QR RA
2 EERFERERERRG BEFE 2 EAEE
2,000,000 AT * RIEANRA FAHEARAZ R R BAT
EEEERKLETE  MROBEFEIZFBER
IRE IS IRERMITESS -

EHNMREEARAR « ZR 2/ Z=FFK
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28.

29.

COMMITMENTS 28.

The Group had no material capital commitments as at 31 March
2023 (2022: Nil).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29.

The Group had the following transactions with related parties during
the year ended 31 March 2023:

Purchase of materials from Logistic MR T TEEMARQR
Industrial Supply Company Limited (FEL I FEDE
(“Logistic Industrial”)

Rental payments HNES
K M L Limited BIEARAR

Notes:

(a) Logistic Industrial is a company over which Mr. KM Luk and Ms. Leung

Kwok Yee have significant influence. The purchase prices of goods were
mutually agreed between the parties.

b) K M L Limited is controlled by Mr. KM Luk. Rental payments were on a
mutually-agreed basis.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the
Group had no material transactions and outstanding balances with
related parties during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

Compensation of key management personnel

Key management personnel of the Group are the directors of the
Company. Their remuneration during the years ended 31 March
2023 and 2022 is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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MR-TB-=F=A=+—0 AEFTEEKRER
EECTZF: &) -

BEAR S

BEZ-=—F=-A=+—HIFE AEEEH
B LR TR S

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-F

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000

MisE FHT FHT

(@ 9 8

(0) 5,735 5,646
Wi

(@ BT TREBEES L RZEEL L HHEFEAZE)
HIZNE] o Ban 2 FRIBIEH L5 1A 1E

0)  EEERAFGEEGL Y - SAS BT RE
BEET -

MRz EVBHmREMENEEN  REE-T ==
FRZBE-_FZAZ+—HILEFE - KEEERES
BHIBMEAR G RAEELR -

BEEEASHH
AEBBARBEEAEARNARES - FERHE—
B CENTE - CFE=A=1+—HItFENH
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For the yearended 31 March 2023 BE—T_=4F=A=+—HILFE

30.

31.

32.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution schemes which
are registered under the ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme
established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance in
December 2000. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
Employees who were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to the
establishment of the MPF Scheme were offered a choice of staying
with the ORSO Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas
all new employees joining the Group on or after 1 December 2000
are required to join the MPF Scheme.

For members of the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s voluntary
contributions, the Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to
the MPF Scheme, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000, which matches contribution of the employee.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from both
employees and the Group at rates ranging from 5% to 8% of the
employee’s basic salary, depending on the length of service with
the Group.

The amount recognised in profit or loss of HK$2,931,000 (2022:
HK$2,856,000) during the year ended 31 March 2023 represents
contributions paid and payable to these plans by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the plans.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to owners through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt and equity of the
Group, comprising issued share capital and accumulated profits.

Management of the Group reviews the capital structure regularly
taking into account the cost of capital and the risk associated
with the capital. The Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the issuance of new shares and the raise of borrowings.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of financial assets
and liabilities which are due to be received or settled within one
year approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short-term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amounts at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale.

30.

31.

32.

BARBERGE

REEZEFREHEE - L DHRIBBERINGTE
GOIE BN R B RS (R _FEEF+ A
IRIESRBINEATESIGRHIANIL) MLl - ZEFTEEE
HEFEANEETHAER  BAKEZEES R
B o RBREERF KA BRBERAASINEZ
EEAEEREES ENERIRGTE - HBB2N
BEEEE MR T RF+ A HRZEM
AREEZIEMEERAS BB E -

BMBESHEZKEMS - BASEBFREERIN -
REBBERBESHE AT EXNNESWBIEER -
A A R A LFR30,0008 T AR « 32 EH R
HEE Z HRE -

BRI B RO BI 2 AS R A EE RAEEE
TR BEH5%EC%IET B - RARRHET
AEMOBHERS -

REBE-_Z-_=F=A=+—RHILFE  NEx+
W 22,931,000/ 7T (ZZ =~ — 4 : 2,856,000/ 7T)
EAREBRIFF S RAEENH REN RENZS
TR -

EXREBEE

AEBEREBEAURRAEBAEBEEASE
g2 ARERBLLEBREGERAER ATE
RABH

AEENEAREHARERGE MEDER - B
BEITRARREEN

AEBEREBRFARERAKRARAERGHENAE
% RS EARNRE - AEEMBBEITHRN
REEEE  TEHEBRERLEE-

ERMTANDIAERAARERER

ERECHEHR —FARRREETZEREER
BzARE ARNZETAZHRG/EY - &
S EER/RTFLAZ AR ERAREENSAR

+

Dff MR m o

EREERABNAABNGAZITAABER
ERHERER S CRHZBEHEHEERIN PRI E
LER

EHNMREEARAR « ZR 2/ Z=FFK
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32.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the
fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of deposits and lease
liabilities have been calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. In the opinion of the
directors, since their carrying amounts are not significantly different
from their respective fair values, no disclosure of the fair values of
these financial instruments is made.

Fair value hierarchy
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group’s assets:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 March 2023

BARE \EENSRERE

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

As at 31 March 2022

RARE \EENSREE

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

32. S2RITAMNAAERAAREER(E
I TRAEGRA AR ERNTERRR :
ReRHESEZIRDBI 2 ARECRERR
BERUGR - EERRRFAFHNTANRIT
MEMBARARKR S RETE - FERE - BAA
REAEEESAZARBELEEAEZE - WHER
EzEemMIAEZRARE-
ARERER
TREMAEREE L AR EFEER
BRARENECEE
R-E-_=%=A=+—H
Fair value measurement using
EATHBB AR ETE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
BX BX
WERWSZ ABR@HA TAUHE
BE £t WABE st
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(E-& (BE=®) (B=H)
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER THERT
1,588 - 6,214 7,802
RZTE_—_F=R=+—H
Fair value measurement using
ERATIEE AR EFE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
BX BX
KBRS Z AIEREA THEE
WE L6 BABIE et
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
E—HR (E=H) (B=H)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FET THT AT
- - 7,236 7,236
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32.

33.

== il

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurement
between Level 1 and Level 2 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2022: Nil).

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair
value as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022.

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level
3 of the fair value hierarchy:

32.

TMIANAIAERAAERER @

DREEEK(E)
i?ﬂ CHEENEBMEEMEZE —BRE MR
AREENEER(CT_—F: 8

RZE-_=F=ZA=+—HERZZT=-Z_F=A4
=+—8 AEEBERAREFEZIAERE
f& o

=BAZRAEEHE

HK$'000
FHET
Carrying amount at 1 April 2021 RZE-_—FMA—HZEAE 5,661
Addition b2yl 19,893
Settlements wE (18,393)
Loss from fair value adjustment recognised in RITERRAS AR Z A BAREIEFE
administrative expenses, net (180)
Interest income recognised in other income RE ALK A AR 2 FEWA 214
Exchange realignment P& N B 41
Carrying amount at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZE_—F=A=+—HK
T _FMA-RZEREE 7,236
Additions N 8,233
Settlements wE (8,233)
Transfer to Level 1 as listed equity investment upon IS A E— R ERAIRE
maturity (1,323)
Gain from fair value adjustment recognised in other PITBFES AR A EREREFE
income, net 23
Interest income recognised in other income RE AR A AR 2 FLEWA 267
Exchange realignment b i BT 11
Carrying amount at 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=A=+—AZKEEE 6,214

During the year, except for the transfer of an equity-linked note
from Level 3 to Level 1 upon maturity and converted as a listed
equity investment, there were no other transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no other transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities
(2022: Nil).

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets SWMEE

At amortised cost R

At fair value through profit or loss BRAnEFABR
Financial liabilities 2REE

At amortised cost RSN

33.

FR - BRERENREATHZ=RBR/E—R

TEHB EHRAREN  HeREEREBAE
Fﬁ:. CAREFEEEME -REE —RENE
B MEEME=FNBARBEL (T -4
&) -

TETA

RS HRRSEN T AZREAENT

LRI EER
2023 2022
—E-=F T F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
132,048 158,041
7,802 7,236
26,117 21,612
EHEREEEBRAT e — B/ "=FFK
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33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 33. SWMIAG@
Financial risk management objectives and policies BRRREEEERBR

The Group’s principal financial instruments include trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits, pledged bank
deposits, time deposits with original maturity over three months,
bank balances and cash, trade and retention payables, other
payables and accruals and lease liabilities. Details of the major
financial instruments and the Group’s relevant accounting policies
are disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
directors review and agree policies for managing each of these risks
and they are summarised below.

Currency risk

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, certain bank
balances and cash, time deposits with original maturity over three
months, trade receivables and trade payables of the Group are
denominated in foreign currencies, i.e. USD, RMB, EUR, Australian
Dollar ("AUD"), Pound sterling ("GBP"), Singapore dollars (“SGD”)
and New Taiwan dollars (“NTD”). The carrying amounts of the
Group’s bank balances and cash, time deposits with original
maturity over three months, trade receivables and trade payables
denominated in foreign currencies at the end of each reporting
period are as follows:

Financial assets

AEENTIESRMTABEE S RKRIE - EftE
WREMigE - AHERRTER - RIBA@BB=
BEANESRFR - RITHERRRE - BHENFE
LENRES  BEMENREREABERARES
BfE - TEERTARAEEABEFBENFE
ARG BTSRRI RS ER.

AEEeRMIAEENTIERRAERRER - FIX
Rk - EERREAHEZRER  EFRILRE
ERZERR 2 WK A AR T o

gl

FEFRAABEAABENSBMEE - BTRITHE
#EkEe RIFABE=EANERER BES
FEYTRIA & B 5 FE R FIRIASNE (BT ~ AR -
BT RIT(T&zT)) ~ R ([REE]) - FhngxT
(T#RT ) XA RF A ((HEMW]))FIE - N
BWERRIMNEFIENATEERTEBR LTS - R
HRABB=EANERFR BSRERALE
SENFENEREERT

Financial liabilities

SREE SHEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-= —E-F —E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT FHT FHT
USD =T 38,834 35,618 = 1
RMB AREE 38 9,710 6 218
EUR BT 305 2,633 - 42
AUD SRIT 6 1,530 = =
GBP e 3,318 1,333 — =
SGD s 825 790 = =
NTD etk 47 87 - 4

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the directors of the Company monitor foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Since the exchange rate of HK$ is pegged to USD, the Group does
not expect any significant movements in the USD/HK$ exchange
rates. Thus, there is no sensitivity analysis on USD denominated
financial assets.
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33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the
reporting period to a reasonably possible change of 10% in foreign
currencies, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
profit after tax due to changes in the financial assets and liabilities.

RMB AREE
EUR BT
AUD SRIT
GBP R
SGD EI
NTD etk

Interest rate risk

The Group was exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in bank
balances and cash and pledged bank deposits as at 31 March
2023 and 2022.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group was also exposed to
fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed rate time deposits with
original maturity over three months.

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to mitigate its
exposure associated with interest rate risk. However, management
of the Group monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

In the opinion of management of the Group, the expected change
in interest rate will not have a significant impact on the interest
income or expenses on payments for bank balances and pledged
bank deposits, hence sensitivity analysis is not presented.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to the failure to discharge the
obligations by counterparties arises from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statements of financial position at the end of the reporting period.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, trade receivables, contract
assets, financial assets included in other receivables, deposits and
prepayments, pledged bank deposits, time deposits with original
maturity over three months and bank balances and cash.

33.

- =N )]
BEEAREEREEERBE (&)

Exmbe (&)

TREJINMERR - EFEEMEEBRITTEN
BT AEERBRRENEAEREERBEE
BEINE T BEEE10% R IBE BN BRE DT

2023 2022
—E-=F T F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

3 793

26 216

1 128

277 111

69 66

4 7

FUZE B
RZBZ=FK-_ZT-__F=A=+—0 K£H
AIRTEM KRS R AERRTERARERESRE
F= @b o

RIZE_=FR-_FT-__F=ZA=+—H  £&E
NTEEAEFRETHRIPABB=EANTH
BHRHOARBEFERR -

AN 62 B 3 S 450 P A A) A0 2R b Y DA ORR 4 EL B R M) R 9
B o AT AEBEEREEENEARNNEE
RS Z BEDPE AN X ER -

AEBEEERR  MEEFEHHTSEH S
ARZ M RITHESRRERRRITFROALELSE
T2 AT E25BRED -

EERER BT
AEBERBHNRAEERRRBEARERRZZHTF
FEEMBAEEERMBER - KENHSHHE
KM BARRNKALE B ERTREENRE
B - ARBEEERREZELARAAEFARSR
MEREE  BHEEIE  AMNEE  stAHM
RN FIR - RERENTEZMEE - BEMR
TER - RIS ABB=EANERFRRRITE
BARRE -

EHNMREEARAR « ZR 2/ Z=FFK
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33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for the determination of credit limits
and credit approvals. Before accepting any new customer, the
Group uses an internal credit scoring system to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and define credit limits for customer. The
level of credit granted must not exceed a predetermined level set
by management. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are
reviewed once a year. Other monitoring procedures are in place
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under the
ECL model on trade receivables and contract assets individually. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on trade receivables
and contract assets in terms of geographical location as these
receivables and assets which accounted for 100% (2022: 99.4%)
of the total trade receivables and 98.4% (2022: 96.7%) of the total
contract assets as at 31 March 2023, were mainly in Hong Kong.

The Group has concentration of credit risks on trade receivables
and contract assets with exposure limited to certain customers.
Receivables from the five largest customers amounting to
HK$26,351,000 (2022: HK$43,513,000) comprised approximately
87.2% (2022: 85.4%) of the Group’s trade receivables and 92.4%
(2022: 91.1%) of the Group’s total contract assets as at 31 March
2023. As at 31 March 20283, 67.9% (2022: 73.0%) of the Group’s
trade receivables were due from the Group’s largest customer.

Pledged bank deposits, time deposits with original maturity over
three months and bank balances and cash

The Group has a concentration of credit risk on pledged bank
deposits, time deposits with original maturity over three months
and bank balances deposited with a few major banks. The credit
risk on these balances is limited because the counterparties are
banks with good reputation and with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

Financial assets included in other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Management of the Group regularly reviews and assesses the
credit quality of the counterparties. The Group uses 12-month ECLs
to assess the loss allowance for financial assets included in other
receivables, deposits and prepayments since these receivables are
not past due and there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. Based on internal credit assessment,
the directors of the Company consider that these financials assets
are with low credit risk due to the short-term nature and the
probability of default is negligible. Hence, no loss allowance was
recognised during the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

Other than the concentration risk as disclosed above, the Group
does not have any significant concentration of credit risk.
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33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 33. SWMIAG@
Financial risk management objectives and policies MR EEEERBUR ()
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) =B R R EFS ()
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TR ENRAEBEERRZEELCEARSE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which BRERE - F2ERNEBMER GRIEEMER T EEE
is mainly based on past due information unless other information NHABERANKE INELTER) - KR=A
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging ST —AZFREBRBROE FERIEERTHEE
classification as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross REHBERIREE -
carrying amounts for financial assets and contract assets.
As at 31 March 2023 R-E-_=%=A=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+=f8A
BHEEESR RENEHEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total
F-BE FoBE 123 fE R % st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TET TET TET
Trade receivables B S EMHIR - - - 33,168 33,168
Contract assets BHEE - - - 44,005 44,005
Financial assets included in other FHAH A EURIE -
receivables, deposits and R RENHEZ
prepayments TREE 2,092 - - - 2,092
Pledged bank deposits BIERRITER 14,004 - - - 14,004
Time deposits with original maturity — FREH3 B BB = 1@ A K
over three months EHER 12,925 - - - 12,925
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRE 74,027 - - - 74,027
103,048 - - 77,473 180,221
As at 31 March 2022 R-E-_—F=A=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+=f8A
EHEEER FEREHEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
R ERB E=RB LA ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL FEL FEL FEL
Trade receivables B S MR - - - 51,531 51,531
Contract assets AREE - - - 47,976 47,976
Financial assets included in other FHAH A EURIE -
receivables, deposits and Be kENHEZ
prepayments EREE 1,204 - - = 1,204
Pledged bank deposits BIERRITER 13,837 = = = 13,837
Time deposits with original maturity — FREHI B BB =18 A K
over three months EHER 16,629 - - - 16,629
Bank balances and cash BITHEBRER S 75,397 - - = 75,397
107,067 - - 99,507 206,574
SHENEEEARLAR « ZBEZ/Z=ZFFRH
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33.

F=ZA=t—RLLFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The closing loss allowances for trade receivables, contract assets
and financial assets included in other receivables, deposits and
prepayments as at the end of the reporting period are reconciled to
the opening loss allowances as follows:

33.

SRT A
BEEAREEREEERBE (&)

1= BB R BB 7T ()

RBEMR - EHRUTE - A WEBEERFTAEM
FEWRIR - mE REANRENEREE 2 HARE
EREEMYEBRRE ZHERET

Financial assets
included in other

receivables,
Trade Contract deposits and
receivables assets prepayments Total
A E A REY
RE - Ee
RAENTE
€5 EWRE BHEE HemEE wst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAT FAET FAT
At 1 April 2021 RZZZ—FHA—H 282 212 - 494
Impairment losses/(reversal  JR{ER R,/ CREEEEE)
of impairment losses), net 48 275 (166) - 109
At 31 March 2022 and RZZZ—#=A=+—H
1 April 2022 M=ZE-—FWA—H 46 - 603
Impairment losses, net REEEFE 3,611 1,610 - 5,221
Amount written off as WEEATRE/EE
uncollectible (1,603) - (1,603)
At 31 March 2023 —=%=A=+—H 4,168 53 - 4,221

The estimated loss rates and risk level are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group made
provision of HK$3,611,000 (2022: HK$275,000) and provision of
HK$1,610,000 (2022: reversal of provision HK$166,000) for trade
receivables and contract assets, respectively. During the year
ended 31 March 2023, the increase in provision for impairment
allowance was mainly due to the provision for losses recognised on
a long outstanding balance. During the year ended 31 March 2022,
increase in the provision for impairment allowance was mainly due
to a net increase in the gross carrying amount of trade receivables.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2022/23

EETERERERERIRBEELBRENEE
BANTRRFEHREE  TERBEFTBERAKE
AENAES AR EERHEL R - BIEET R
HEEOE  ARREEEBANBBERRSE
#

BHE_ZT-_=ZFZA=1+—BLFE A5£EHRE
BB REGHEED BIEL ##3,611,000%
TL(ZZT =4 : 275,000/ 7T) M B 1,610,000/
TT(ZEZ—F : #E#{#166,00087T) - HZ=—
T-ZFZA=Z+—HULFE BEBEETZHR
REPREELAHERNERBEENS - BHE_Z
—TZFZAZT—HLFE  REBEREENE
DN E 5 ERGERE A E R FIATE



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2023 BE—T_=4F=A=+—HILFE

33.

34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of unexpected fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group is required
to pay.

R-ZE-=f(=ZfA=+-H
B HENFBREMRES
AR MM FUE KB ER

As at 31 March 2023
Trade and retention payables
Financial liabilities included in other

payables and accruals Hemas
Lease liabilities HEBE
As at 31 March 2022 R-Z-_—_#=ZA=+—H

Trade and retention payables BIRNRERENRES
Financial liabilities included in other AR N RIEREER
payables and accruals HeEmai

Lease liabilities HEBE

PERFORMANCE GUARANTEES

As at 31 March 2023, performance guarantees of approximately
HK$15,842,000 (2022: HK$16,219,000) were given by banks in
favour of the Group’s customer as security for the due performance
and observance of the Group’s obligations under the contracts
entered into between the Group and its customer. If the Group
failed to provide satisfactory performance to its customer to whom
the performance guarantees had been given, such customer may
demand the banks to pay the customer the sum or sum stipulated
in such demand. The Group would become liable to compensate
such banks accordingly. The performance guarantees would be
released upon completion of the contract works. The performance
guarantees were granted under banking facilities.

33.

SR T A ()

BEEAREEREEERBE (&)

REBETmEE

REERDESRRE  AEBESERGIFEERE

BREZENRSMREFEYKF  UBENAEE
BEED MRERSREBREEINPNTE -

TRAMAEEITESBREBENHR T ENEHIE

Mo ZRENEBEERAEFAENNRZFEH
WARITRR e RERE -
On demand
or within 1 year 1to 3 years Total
RERIMER —E=f st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
10,115 - 10,115
2,732 - 2,732
6,188 3,378 9,566
19,035 3,378 22,413
8,643 - 8,643
3,515 - 3,515
6,343 131 6,474
18,501 131 18,632
34. BHER

RZEZ=%f=A=+—0 BHERY
15,842,000/ 7T (ZF = —4F : 16,219,000/ 7T) &
RITUAEBREEAITAEL - EABEBHK
BFAREBRAEEEZEFIVNANETER
MIER - HASRERBREL TENHERNERTF
RESARENBY  ZBRPAEERRITHES
MBS N ERPRIRAAIE - REEERKIL
BERZSRITELHE - BOERBERAHTIE
% TIRIERRR: - BAERBRERITHERS -

EHNMREEARAR « ZR 2/ Z=FFK
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-

of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$9,311,000 (2022:
HK$8,833,000) each in respect of lease arrangements for

properties. JL) ©
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b) BMETBEEZAEEH
Lease
liabilities
HEas
HK$'000
FAET
At 1 April 2021 RZZE-—FHA—H 3,531
Changes from financing cash flows MERSNELH (6,083)
Interest paid classified as operating cash flows DEAKERESRENE TS (236)
New leases e 8,833
Interest expense B 236
Covid-19-related rent concessions from ke —%&HEARCovid- 1918 & &R
a lessor (11)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022
6,320
Changes from financing cash flows @Eéﬁimiﬁ (6,194)
Interest paid classified as operating cash flows DEAKERESRENE TS (167)
New leases s 9,311
Interest expense FBRY 167
Covid-19-related rent concessions from ke —%HEARCovid- 1918 & =R
a lessor (67)
Termination of a lease contract BIE—HmHEEA MRS (211)
At 31 March 2023 RZE-_=%=A=+—H 9,159
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HEZHESHRHARE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of FARSRERZAERSRHETENT ¢
cash flows is as follows:
2023 2022
—E-=F T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FAET
Within operating activities R & EBEERN 315 366
Within financing activities \ﬂﬁéaﬁlm 6,194 6,033
6,509 6,399
36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 36. WAREME

At 31 March 2023, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities (2022: Nil).
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Upon passing an ordinary resolution on 20 September 2017,
the Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) which will remain valid for a period of 10 years
commencing on 16 October 2017. The major terms of the Share

Option Scheme are set out below:

(i) The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognise
and acknowledge the contributions that the directors and
employees of the Group have made or may make to the

Group.

(i) The participants included any director or employee of the
Group which, in the opinion of the Company’s board of
directors, has contribution or potential contribution to the

development and growth of the Group.

(i)~ The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
might be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time. The number of shares issued and to be issued
in respect of which options granted and may be granted to
any individual in any 12-month period is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. Options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director in excess of
0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a value in
excess of HK$5 million must be approved in advance by the

Company’s shareholders.

(iv) In relation to each grantee of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme, the right of the grantee to exercise
the option shall be in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme and the period to be notified by the board
of directors of the Company to each grantee which shall not
exceed 10 years from the date upon which the options are

deemed to be granted and accepted.

v) The exercise price of an option will be determined by the
board of directors of the Company and will not be less than

the highest of:

o the closing price of the share on the date of grant;

. the average closing price of the share for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of

grant; and

o the nominal value of the share.

(v A consideration of HK$10 per grant is payable on

acceptance of the offer of grant of options.

37.

B
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37.

F=ZA=t—RLLFE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

9,800,000 options were granted to a director and employees of the
Group on 2 January 2020 for the provision of services to the Group.
The vesting period of the first tranche of share options was from
2 January 2020 to 30 June 2020 (“First Tranche”). The vesting
period of the second tranche of share options was from 2 January
2020 to 1 January 2021 (“Second Tranche”). The vesting period
of the third tranche of share options was from 2 January 2020 to
30 June 2021 (“Third Tranche”). The details of the First Tranche,
Second Tranche and Third Tranche are identical except for the
difference in vesting periods as mentioned above. The fair value
of the share options at the date of grant was calculated using the
Binomial Option Pricing Model. The fair value of the share options
granted on 2 January 2020 is HK$1,057,000.

The inputs into the valuations of the share options were as follows:

Share price at grant date

1T1EfE

Exercise price

Risk-free rate (note a)
Expected life (note b)

Expected dividend yield TEERR B X

Expected volatility (note ¢)
Notes:

(a) Risk-free rate is determined by reference to the prevailing rates on debt
securities as reference from Thomson Reuters.

b) Expected life is the exercise period of the share options.

() Expected volatility is estimated by calculating the historical daily share price
volatility of the stock price of the Company.
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) 37. BRETEGE
The following share options were outstanding under the Share RERN - BIREFTEITET 2 T3 BB ARE S RETT
Option Scheme during the year: &
2023 2022
—EB-=F —E-F
Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise price of options exercise price of options
T HITEE BREHE IETHTRE il 2¢El
HKS$ per share ’000 HK$ per share '000
BRET TR BRET T
At 1 April R A—H 0.259 6,000 0.259 7,300
Forfeited during the year A2k - - 0.259 (1,300)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 0.259 6,000 0.259 6,000
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options RS HRAR W ARTT i 2 A 2 1T B RiTEH
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: LI
Exercise prices
Number of HK$
options per share Exercise periods
T8
BRERE BRERT 1768
31 March 2023 1,300,000 0.259 1 July 2020 to 1 January 2025
—E-_=H5=A=+—H —E-EFtA-BE=E=-HF—HA—H
2,400,000 0.259 2 January 2021 to 1 January 2025
—E-—5—-HA-HEZZE-RF—H—H
2,300,000 0.259 1 July 2021 to 1 January 2025
—FftA—-BE=ZE=-HF—-HA—H
31 March 2022 1,300,000 0.259 1 July 2020 to 1 January 2025
T =F=A=+—H —ETFLA—HET-_hE—H—H
2,400,000 0.259 2 January 2021 to 1 January 2025
T -AZHEZZ-_RF—A—H
2,300,000 0.259 1 July 2021 to 1 January 2025

There were no share option expense (2022: HK$57,000) recognised
during the year ended 31 March 2023.

No share options were exercised or forfeited during the year ended
31 March 2023.

A number of 1,300,000 share options were forfeited during the year
ended 31 March 2022 due to the resignation of certain employees
of the Group. The share options were forfeited during the year
ended 31 March 2022, resulting in the transfer of the corresponding
share-based payment reserve of HK$143,000 to accumulated
profits.

T FtA—-HEZZT-AF—A—H

HE-_ZT-=-F=-A=1+—HIEFETEERER
RIS (ZE =% : 57,000/ T) °

RBE-Z-=F=A=+—HIFELHETENX
R UHBRAE

HRAREETREEFRR NEBE-_T-_—F=A
=+—HIEFE - 1,300,000 A REHIZ UL - FE
ECRCCF-A=+-HIEFERKBERE &
BURFER LARR (0 AR SR #5143,0008 T B =
FZEtaA -

EHNMREEARAR « ZR 2/ Z=FFK
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37.

38.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

At at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Company had 6,000,000 share
options outstanding under the Share Option Scheme. The exercise
in full of the outstanding share options would, under the present
capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of 6,000,000
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share
capital of HK$60,000 and share premium of HK$1,494,000 (before
issue expenses).

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 18 April 2023,
a total of 9,000,000 share options were granted to certain eligible
participants of the Company in respect of their services to the
Group in the forthcoming year. These share options will be vested
on 18 April 2024 and 15 October 2024, have an exercise price of
HK$0.171 per share and an exercise period ranging from 18 April
2024 to 17 April 2028. The price of the Company’s shares at the
date of grant was HK$0.166 per share.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 15,000,000 share options outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme, which represented approximately 3.7% of the
Company’s shares in issue as at that date; and the total number
of shares available for issue pursuant to the Share Option Scheme
was 12,000,000 shares, representing approximately 3.0% of the
Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 5 November 2018, the Company adopted a share award
scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) for the purpose of
recognising the contributions by certain eligible persons for the
growth and development of the Group and to provide them with
incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group.

Eligible persons of the Share Award Scheme include any employee
of the Group; any executive or non-executive director (including
any independent non-executive director) of the Company, any of
its subsidiaries, customers, suppliers, any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support,
shareholders of any member of the Group or any invested entities,
any person or entity which has contributed to the Group or its
business; and any other person selected by the board of directors,
and if applicable, including its executive committee at its sole
discretion, provided that the eligible persons for participation in the
Share Award Scheme (the “Selected Participants”) remain at all
times after the date of grant and on the relevant vesting date being
eligible person of the Group.
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38.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The maximum number of shares currently permitted to be granted
under the Share Award Scheme is limited to 10% of the total
number of issued shares as at the date on which the Share Award
Scheme is adopted by the board of directors. The maximum
number of shares which may be awarded to each eligible person
in the Share Award Scheme in any 12-month period is limited to
1% of the total number of shares in issue of the Company in any
12-month period from time to time.

Selected Participants are selected and the number of shares to
be awarded under the Share Award Scheme is determined by the
board of directors. The shares to be awarded under the Share
Award Scheme are purchased by a trustee (the “Trustee”) from the
open market out of cash contributed by the Group or by way of gift
and be held on trust for the Selected Participant until such shares
are vested with the Selected Participants in accordance with the
provisions of the Share Award Scheme.

The Trustee shall not exercise the voting rights in respect of any
shares held on trust for the Group or the Selected Participants.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company repurchased
185,000 (2022: 40,000) of its own shares through the Trustee
from open market. The total amount paid to acquire the shares
was HK$44,000 (2022: HK$9,000) and has been deducted from
equity. The aggregate amount paid to acquire the shares and the
fair value of the share contribution of HK$44,000 (2022: HK$9,000)
has been deducted from equity and the shares were classified as
treasury shares of the Company as they were not yet awarded to
any selected participants.

The movements in the Company’s shares held under the Share
Award Scheme during the year are as follows:

At 1 April 2021 =
Repurchases of shares RN
Vested during the year FANHE

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022

T-—FA—AH

38.

W-_E-_—_F=A=+—H

;T - —FMA—AH

Issuance of new shares under the general
mandate (note 26)

Repurchases of shares FE Bl R 7
Vested during the year FRER
At 31 March 2023 MR-ZB_=Ff=RA=+—H

R 43 28 b=t &1 (4)

RIBR A BB EEER LN KSROEE UANE
RN ZHAIE ADBHTROLEN10%
AR o BRI 218 A R AR A B 22 @b st &1 7]
BEITRETEAERATORSKRHEEARAF
TREEITRMDEEA1%RR -

BERZEEMBEEHET - MRERO B SIS
FTRONEMHEE BESTSHET - RIERD ZB)E
B TRHOBRO EHEZFEA ([ZFEAD AREE
REMNREN DT SBEASAREIA - WAE
RPAREESRERS  EERFRORERD
REE RGBT IRREE2RERILE

REANCUREESEE2 B EETRRFTHN
ERRDTTEIRERE -

REBEE-_T-_=ZFZA=1+—ALFE  KRFE
BETEABARMISER AR SR 185,0008% (=
T : 40,0000%) ° BLUEERR DT (N2 SE A
44,0008 7L (ZZ = =4 : 9,000/87T) © & BT
Nk - MRBRHIF2BEBRBMIIAZAA
{B44,000/8 7T (ZZ = =4 : 9,000/87T) * HREEK
B Efggsss  CAESTIBRAEZSRGE
DEARDNBNEFRD -

B EM BE TR 2 AR ARGRENZ S
o

Shares held under
the Share Award Scheme

RIE— AT (H=E20)

RIER 2 2R

SrElEE2RG
Number of Value of
ordinary shares shares
EEREE RHEE
HK$'000
FEBxT
3,460,000 825
40,000 9
(570,000) (125)
2,930,000 709
2,460,000 25
185,000 44
(1,275,000) (391)
4,300,000 387

SHENEEEARLAR « ZBEZ/Z=ZFFRH
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38.

39.

40.

41.

F=ZA=t—RLLFE

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, 2,410,000 (2022:
2,375,000) awarded shares were granted under the Share Award
Scheme with a fair value of HK$383,000 (2022: HK$926,000).
Equity-settled share award arrangement expense of HK$494,000
was recognised during the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022:
HK$592,000). The fair value of awarded shares granted is estimated
based on the share price of the Company on dates of grant of
HK$0.20 (2022: HK$0.39).

The fair value of share awards granted during the year was estimated
as at the date of grant by reference to the closing price per share as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange,
taking into account all non-vesting conditions associated with the
grants. The expected dividends during the vesting period were
taken into account in the measurement of fair value.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, 1,275,000 shares were
vested to eligible participants under the Share Award Scheme
(2022: 570,000).

A number of 215,000 (2022: 680,000) awarded shares were
forfeited during the year due to the resignation of certain employees
of the Group. The awarded shares were forfeited during the year,
resulting in the transfer of the corresponding share-based payment
reserve of HK$41,000 (2022: HK$96,000) to accumulated profits.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 18 April 2023, 9,000,000 share options were granted to certain
eligible participants of the Company, as further detailed in note 37
to the financial statements.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to
the current year’s presentation and disclosures.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE \
Investments in subsidiaries B AR RIEE
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Amount due from subsidiaries FEU P B A RIFIE
Prepayments SEANE O
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTTH R
CURRENT LIABILITIES =R
Accruals EsTER

Amount due to a subsidiary

Net current assets RENEEFE
Net assets EEFE
EQUITY =
Share capital [N
Reserves (note) et (H77E)
Total equity s
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38.

39.

40.

4.

JE A — T8 A R IR

R 43 22 By =t &1 (4)

REBE-_T-_=F=A=1+—HILFE ' RERKH
#2EhET 81 12,410,000 (= = =4 : 2,375,000)
AR SRR (0 /AMEJ%SSS 000 (ZT == :
926,000 7T) - REBE-_T-_=F=A=+—H1t
FECHER *‘E%::foﬁé%%bzzﬁtﬁﬁizm 0005
(= T:*i 592,000/ 7T) ° %Hﬂﬂﬁﬁ&bﬂxfﬁm
ARETIRBEREH B AR BM&(E0.20/8 7T (=
4 0.39%87T) mikhEt o

REREHE BB RGO AR EE 2RI
E’JtE#&F“Fﬁ%@lH&HﬁszﬁEATﬁﬁElﬁﬁﬁm Riz
AREREEMNAEIERB G - ARERET
KEBREBHANMGEETRE -

RAER (D 2R T2 - 1,275,000 H (==
& 570,000 ERBE-_T-_=F=H4
Tt RHILFERBTAERSEE

FR - ILK%l%ﬂ%éﬁ%?&ﬁﬁ/‘xuﬁzzw,oooﬁﬁ(:
T4 : 680,0000%) HEIAKD - BEEEER AR
D ERS 41,0008 (22 = —4F : 96,000/
L) EEE 2R -

MEHBEREEE

R2023F 4180 » ERARA A TEERSEE
$119,000,00017 B R - HE— *F*#I%%tmﬁ%ﬁi‘%
|ZHu$37 °

iR

BEThES
B

AR BAARRE

BOFENE  NWEAFEZ 27 ME

ﬂ{

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’00_0 HK$jO()_C)
FET FHT
107,569 107,569
25,819 27,763
439 736

328 377
26,586 28,876
291 159

10 10

301 169
26,285 28,707
133,854 136,276
4,050 4,025
129,804 132,251
133,854 136,276
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 4. ERATEFHEARREE (E)
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Note: iaE -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AR EJEEBERZIT -
Share-based
Share Other payment Accumulated
premium reserves reserve losses Total
R RER
RADBRE HipfRE e RitEE Ey
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHT FHET FHT
(notes 37, 38)
(K1:£37 - 38)
At 1 April 2021 » 40,507 107,549 920 (14,866) 134,110
Profit for the year FREF - - - 8,526 8,526
Equity-settled share option iR BB (75237)
arrangements (note 37) - - 57 - 57
Equity-settled share award e E R BB & BE
arrangements (note 38) (H1:#38) - - 592 - 592
Forfeiture of share options (note 37) TR UL BE AR (F15£37) - - (143) 143 =
Forfeiture of share awards (note 38) SRR 7 SEEh (A77738) - - (96) 96 =
Vesting of shares under share award A&7 22 @51 &I 53 B AL 1D
scheme (note 38) (K17#38) = = (125) = (125)
Dividend paid BRARE (10,909) - - - (10,909)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R-BE-_—_#=A=+—8K
—FMA—A 29,598 107,549 1,205 (6,101) 132,251
Profit for the year 1 - - - 5,461 5,461
Equity-settled share award o 4 AR (7 BB 2 B
arrangements (note 38) (Hi:£38) - - 494 - 494
Forfeiture of share awards (note 38) SR U AR AP B2 (47 2%38) - - (41) 41 -
Vesting of shares under share award {7 #2E)51 252 B A% 1D
scheme (note 38) (Hi:£38) - - (391) (391)
Dividend paid B AL, (8,011) = - (8,011)
At 31 March 2023 R-ZZE-_=F=A=+—H 21,587 107,549 1,267 (599) 129,804
42. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 42, HEFRESHHEBREK

STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and

authorised for issue by the board of directors on 19 June 2023.

HAMBRRAEEEN_S_=F AT NAH#

A AETES -

EHNMREEARAR « ZR 2/ Z=FFK
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Financial Summary

I E

RESULTS
Revenue

(Loss)/profit before tax
Income tax credit/(expense)

(Loss)/profit for the year and total
comprehensive (loss)/income for the
year attributable to owners of the
Company

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Total assets
Total liabilities

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HILEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EC=F - —EB-—F —ZT-TF —T-hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET FAT FHET FExT
& 153,409 162,559 224,839 224,228 210,596
BE AT (B18) &5 (32,399) 9,653 36,457 26,535 23,474
s RiiEe, (FX) 177 (1,768) (4,460) (4,923) (4,219)
NRRER AEh
FREE),wH R
FAZHE BB, IR
AR (32,222) 7,885 31,997 21,612 19,255
As at 31 March
R=A=+—8
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EC=H§ 2o 2o —F ZZZTHF —ZZ—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FExT FAT FAT FAExT
BERAE
REE 206,657 233,246 253,423 236,418 189,015
wmats (57,013) (43,819) 61,612) (70,232) (44,880)
RATHEE AEEER
149,644 189,427 191,811 166,186 144,135
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